

Loyola University Chicago

Dissertations

Theses and Dissertations

1992

Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy in Rabbits

Frances M. Powers Loyola University Chicago

Follow this and additional works at: https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss

Part of the Physiology Commons

Recommended Citation

Powers, Frances M., "Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy in Rabbits" (1992). *Dissertations*. 3107. https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_diss/3107

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses and Dissertations at Loyola eCommons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Loyola eCommons. For more information, please contact ecommons@luc.edu.



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-No Derivative Works 3.0 License. Copyright © 1992 Frances M. Powers

WEDNERL SENTER

NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY IN RABBITS

by

Frances M. Powers

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School

of Loyola University of Chicago in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

January

1992

Frances M. Powers

Loyola University of Chicago

NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY IN THE RABBIT

Prolonged exposure of the heart to excessive catecholamines induces a cardiac myopathy. Typical lesions include myofibrillar degeneration, leukocyte infiltration and focal necrosis. In addition, cardiac dysfunction has been observed after the administration of high concentrations of catecholamines. However, alterations in diastolic as well as systolic function have not been fully investigated.

In this dissertation it was hypothesized that cardiac function was impaired acutely after a 90 minute, high dose norepinephrine infusion with some functional recovery occurring by 48 hours. To further characterize functional alterations, myocardial systolic and diastolic function was assessed at three levels of norepinephrine-induced injury using the isolated, non-ejecting heart preparation. Diastolic and systolic function was impaired acutely after norepinephrine treatment. Systolic function improved within 48 hours except in hearts treated with the highest dose of norepinephrine. Diastolic function remained depressed. Additionally, myocardial responsiveness to α - and/or β -adrenergic receptor stimulation was not altered acutely or chronically after norepinephrine administration.

Current research indicates that multiple mechanisms are involved in the pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy. Toxic metabolites of catecholamine autoxidation, possibly acting as membrane oxidants, may have a role in catecholamine-induced injury. The myocardial anti-oxidant capacity was increased with the administration of α -tocopherol and selenium. This pretreatment however, did not protect the rabbit myocardium from norepinephrine-induced injury.

Alpha-receptor mediated coronary vasoconstriction with resultant ischemia has also been proposed as a mechanism of catecholamine injury. Coronary blood flow was measured before, during and after a 40 minute, high dose norepinephrine infusion (4 μ g/kg/min). At 40 minutes, ventricular blood flow was significantly elevated with little change in the rate-pressure product. Blood flow returned to control by one hour post infusion.

These results suggest that norepinephrine-induced injury is not produced by membrane oxidants or coronary vasoconstriction. The increase in myocardial blood flow coupled with a very small change in rate-pressure product also suggests that the norepinephrine infusion did not result in a hypoxic insult to the myocardium. Copyright by Frances M. Powers, 1992 All Rights Reserved.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the Faculty of the Physiology Department for providing a graduate program and environment which promotes academic excellence and encourages each student's professional growth as an independent researcher. I also wish to express my sincere thanks to Dr. John X. Thomas for his guidance, friendship and his ability to help me relax in a crisis.

Special thanks to my parents, Tom and Florence, for their prayers. Their unconditional love has been a source of support and encouragement throughout my life. Also, special thanks to Bel and Marian Needles and JoAnn Austgen for their encouragement, support and friendship.

VITA

The author, Frances M. Powers, received her Bachelor of Arts degree in Chemistry and Biology from Spring Arbor College, Spring Arbor, Michigan in 1980. In December of 1983, she received her Masters of Science degree in Exercise Physiology from George Williams College, Downers Grove, Illinois. In August of 1984, the author enrolled in the graduate school of Loyola University of Chicago in the Department of Physiology. Frances has completed her dissertation work under the direction of Dr.John X. Thomas, Jr. She will be continuing her research as a post-doctoral fellow with Dr. R. John Solaro, a Professor in the Department of Physiology and Biophysics, University of Illinois, College of Medicine at Chicago.

PUBLICATIONS

- 1. Lipsius, S. L. and F. M. POWERS. A role for the sarcoplasmic reticulum in overdrive suppression. <u>Circulation</u> 74:II421, 1986.
- 2. POWERS, F. M., P. A. Sobotka and J. X. Thomas, Jr. Effects of inosine pretreatment on the response of the isolated perfused rat heart to ischemia. FASEB J. 3:A689, 1989.
- 3. POWERS, F. M., P. A. Sobotka and J. X. Thomas, Jr. Effect of inosine in the normal and reperfused rat heart. J. Cardiovasc. Pharm. 15:862-867, 1990.
- 4. POWERS, F. M. and J. X. Thomas, Jr. Ventricular dysfunction in norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathy. Submitted: <u>Bas. Res. Cardiol.</u>

5. POWERS, F. M., P. Yung and J. X. Thomas, Jr. Adrenergic receptor mediated changes in ventricular function of cardiomyopathic hearts. Submitted: J. Cardiovasc. Pharm.

.

- 6. POWERS, F. M. and J. X. Thomas, Jr. Effects of α -tocopherol and selenium pretreatment on norepinephrine-induced cardiotoxicity. Submitted: <u>J. Pharm.</u> <u>Exp. Ther.</u>
- 7. POWERS, F. M. and J. X. Thomas, Jr. Myocardial blood flow during and after a high dose norepinephrine infusion. Submitted: <u>Am. J. Physiol.</u>

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
COPY	RIGHT		ii
ACKN	IOWLE	DGEMENTS	iii
VITA			. iv
LIST	OF TA	BLES	xi
LIST	OF ILL	USTRATIONS	xii
LIST	OF AB	BREVIATIONS	xiv
CHAP	TER		
I.	I. INTRODUCTION		
II. LITERATURE REVIEW		RATURE REVIEW	4
	А.	CATECHOLAMINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY	4
		 Gross Anatomical Changes	6 6
	B.	CARDIAC DYSFUNCTION IN CATECHOLAMINE CARDIOMYOPATHY	9
	C.	DISPOSITION OF CATECHOLAMINES	10
		 Enzyme Systems Metabolism Uptake Mechanisms Tissue and Species Specificity Conjugation Autoxidation 	10 11 13 13 16 17

	D.	ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR MECHANISMS	18
	E.	RECEPTOR DESENSITIZATION	20
		 Receptor Phosphorylation and Uncoupling Internalization Long Term Regulation Desensitization of Cardiac Adrenergic Receptors 	20 21 23 24
	F.	SUGGESTED MECHANISMS OF CATECHOLAMINE	26
			20
		 Calcium Overload Theory Relative Hypoxia Microcirculatory Changes Metabolites of Catacholominas 	26 29 30
		 Autoxidation	31 34 35
	G.	CELLULAR ANTIOXIDANTS	38
		 α-Tocopherol Glutathione Peroxidase 	38 43
	H.	NO-REFLOW PHENOMENON	45
	I.	REFERENCES	48
III.	GENE	ERAL METHODS	82
	Α.	NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY	82
	B.	ISOLATED, NON-EJECTING HEART PREPARATION	82
		 Langendorff Perfusion Apparatus Heart Isolation and Instrumentation 	82 86
	C.	MEASUREMENT OF DIASTOLIC FUNCTION	87

	D.	EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOLS FOR THE ISOLATED HEART PREPARATION	88
		 Ventricular Function and β-Adrenoceptor Mediated Inotropy α-Adrenoceptor Mediated Changes in Europe 	88
		3. α -Tocopherol and Selenium Administration	90
	E.	MYOCARDIAL BLOOD FLOW	91
		 Surgical Preparation	91 92
	F.	HISTOLOGY	93
	G.	DATA ANALYSIS	94
	H.	REFERENCES	96
IV.	VENT CARI A.	IRICULAR DYSFUNCTION IN NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCTION DIOMYOPATHY INTRODUCTION	CED 97 97
	B.	METHODS	98
		 Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy Isolated Heart Preparation Protocol Data Analysis 	98 98 99 100
	C.	RESULTS	100
	D.	DISCUSSION	109
	E.	REFERENCES	113
V.	ADRI FUNC	ENERGIC RECEPTOR MEDIATED CHANGES IN VENTRICU	LAR 116

•

	Α.	INTRODUCTION	116
	B.	METHODS	117
		 Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy Isolated Heart Preparation Tau Protocol Data Analysis 	117 118 119 119 120
	C.	RESULTS	120
	D.	DISCUSSION	131
	E.	REFERENCES	134
VI.	EFFE ON N	CT OF α -TOCOPHEROL AND SELENIUM PRETREATMENT OREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOTOXICITY	137
	Α.	INTRODUCTION	137
	B.	METHODS	138
		 Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy Protocol Histology Data Analysis 	138 140 140 140
	C.	RESULTS	141
		 Hearts Weights Left Ventricular Function Histology 	141 141 147
	D.	DISCUSSION	147
	E.	REFERENCES	152
VII.	MYO DOSE	CARDIAL BLOOD FLOW DURING AND AFTER A HIGH NOREPINEPHRINE INFUSION	159
	А.	INTRODUCTION	159

B.		METHODS 160	0
		1.Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy1602.Myocardial Blood Flow1603.Data Analysis160	0 1 2
	C.	RESULTS 16.	3
	D.	DISCUSSION 160	6
	E.	REFERENCES 168	8
VIII.S	SUMM	ARY 17	1
IX.	CON	CLUSIONS	2
	А.	REFERENCES 175	8

LIST OF TABLES

.

TABL	JE	Page
4-1.	Baseline Ventricular Function Immediately Following High Dose Norepinephrine Infusion	103
4-2.	Baseline Ventricular Function 48 Hours After Exposure to High Dose Norepinephrine	104
5-1.	Change in Left Ventricular Function With Dobutamine	125
5-2.	Change in Ventricular Function Due to α -Receptor Stimulation	130
7-1.	Regional Blood Flow Values (ml/min/100 g) and Coronary Vascular Resistance (mmHg*ml/min/100 g)	164
7-2.	Arterial Pressures, Heart Rates and Rate-Pressure Products During Saline or Norepinephrine Infusion and At Two Days Post Infusion	165

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page
2-1.	Metabolism of Norepinephrine	12
3-1.	Langendorff Perfusion Apparatus	84
4-1.	Change in Mean Arterial Pressure During Saline or Norepinephrine Infusion	102
4-2.	Pressure Function Curves for Normal and Cardiomyopathic Hearts	105
4-3.	Norepinephrine LV Pressure Dose-Response Curves	106
4-4.	Norepinephrine LV +dP/dt _{max} Dose-Response Curves	107
4-5.	Norepinephrine LV -dP/dt _{max} Dose-Response Curves	108
5-1.	Changes in Left Ventricular Pressure With Increasing Concentrations of Dobutamine	122
5-2.	Dobutamine LV +dP/dt Dose-Response Curves	123
5-3.	Dobutamine LV -dP/dt Dose-Response Curves	124
5-4.	Norepinephrine Induced Changes in Ventricular Pressure Before and After β -Adrenergic Receptor Blockade	127
5-5.	Changes in LV +dP/dt Induced by Norepinephrine Before and After β -Receptor Blockade	128
5-6.	Changes in LV -dP/dt Induced by Norepinephrine Before and After β -Receptor Blockade	129

FIGURE

6-1.	Left Ventricular Function Curves	142
6-2.	Baseline Left Ventricular +dP/dt _{max} as a Function of End-Diastolic Pressure	143
6-3.	Baseline LV +dP/dt _{max} as a Function of End-Diastolic Pressure	144
6-4.	Effects of Norepinephrine on Left Ventricular Systolic Function	145
6-5.	Changes in Diastolic Function in Response to Norepinephrine	146

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	Adenosine Triphosphate
COMT	Catechol O-methyl Transferase
EPI	Epinephrine
G Protein	Guanine Nucleotide Regulatory Protein
КНВ	Krebs-Henseleit Buffer
ISO	Isoproterenol
LV	Left Ventricle
LVP	Left Ventricular Pressure
LV dP/dt	First Derivative of Left Ventricular Pressure
ΜΑΟ	Monoamine Oxidase
NE	Norepinephrine

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Catecholamines released from sympathetic nerves or adrenal glands are important in the normal regulation of cardiac function. Norepinephrine and epinephrine increase heart rate, contractile force and myocardial metabolism. In pathological situations however, the heart may be exposed to excessive catecholamines which subsequently damage the myocardium. Histological examination of hearts damaged by catecholamines revealed numerous small areas of necrosis throughout the myocardium. This pathology is called catecholamine cardiomyopathy.

Early investigations indicate that cardiac systolic function is impaired fortyeight hours after the administration of high concentrations of norepinephrine. However alterations in cardiac diastolic as well as systolic function have not been fully investigated. In the first study of this dissertation cardiac diastolic and systolic function was evaluated at three levels of catecholamine-induced injury. Additionally, since myocardial function immediately following exposure to high dose catecholamines has not been reported, this study assessed ventricular function acutely after norepinephrine-induced injury and at 48 hours.

Exposure of the heart to catecholamines can reduce myocardial responsiveness

to β -adrenergic receptor agonists. In the second study, the ability of norepinephrine injured hearts to increase ventricular function with α - and β -adrenergic receptor stimulation was assessed. It was hypothesized that norepinephrine administration would desensitize the β -receptor, and β -receptor mediated increases in ventricular function would be depressed. In this case, the α -adrenergic system may be more important in increasing cardiac performance after catecholamine-induced injury.

Current research indicates that multiple mechanisms are involved in the pathogenesis of catecholamine-induced injury. Investigators have suggested that the autoxidation of catecholamines with the production of toxic metabolites is involved in the development of catecholamine cardiomyopathy. These metabolites, which include free radicals, may act as oxidizing agents and initiate peroxidation of the cellular membranes. In the third study, α -tocopherol and selenium were administered to rabbits over a two week period to increase the antioxidant capacity of the heart. Rabbits were then infused with high dose norepinephrine. It was hypothesized that this pretreatment would protect the myocardium from norepinephrine-induced injury.

Alpha-receptor mediated coronary vasoconstriction has also been proposed as a mechanism of catecholamine injury. Vasoconstriction of the coronary vasculature could cause ischemic injury to the myocardium and produce areas of necrosis. Following ischemic injury, myocardial blood flow may not return to normal levels and areas of the myocardium may not be perfused. The purpose of the last study was to determine if there were perfusion abnormalities associated with a forty minute infusion of high dose norepinephrine. It is hoped that the research presented in this dissertation will provide information regarding the ventricular dysfunction which occurs when a heart is injured by catecholamines and may aid in the treatment of patients with pheochromocytoma or patients who have suffered cerebral trauma. Identifying acute changes in ventricular function of hearts exposed to toxic levels of catecholamines may provide a rational for failure of transplanted hearts donated by trauma patients who had a massive release of catecholamines from the sympathetic nervous system. Additionally, it is hoped that this dissertation gives insight into the mechanisms of norepinephrine-induced injury.

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Under normal physiologic conditions, catecholamines are involved in the regulation of cardiac function. The administration of high dose catecholamines (256,284,334) or the excessive release of catecholamines from the sympathetic nervous system (76,166,185,269,281) is cardiotoxic and results in the development of catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy (269,274). Catecholamine cardiomyopathy is defined as an abnormal condition or disease of the heart induced by catecholamines. The research presented in this dissertation focuses on the cardiac dysfunction which occurs in catecholamine cardiomyopathy, specifically, norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathy and addresses two possible mechanisms of injury. In this chapter, background information on catecholamine cardiomyopathy, disposition of catecholamines, adrenergic receptor desensitization and proposed mechanisms of catecholamine-induced injury will be presented.

A. CATECHOLAMINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY

Experimentally, catecholamine cardiomyopathy can be induced *in vivo* or *in vitro* by a variety of catecholamines including epinephrine (EPI) (45,87,88,256),

4

norepinephrine (NE) (60,277,284,321,334),isoproterenol and (ISO) Myocardial lesions produced in catecholamine (60,171,178,269,277,334). cardiomyopathy are characteristic and similar in frogs (41), rats (64,88), rabbits (178,256,284), hamsters (127), cats (284), pigs (127), dogs (321,334), monkeys (224,228) and humans (269,304,345). Rabbits appear most susceptible to the development of cardiac lesions, while rats are more resistent (171,284). Characteristic cardiac lesions include: edema, contraction bands, myofibrillar degeneration, lipid droplets, hemorrhage, necrosis, leukocyte infiltration, and proliferation of fibrous tissue (88,127,263,264,284,321,335). The severity and extent of these lesions vary directly with the catecholamine, dose and rate of administration (45,127,274). Isoproterenol, particularly in high doses, is most cardiotoxic, able to induce massive infarct-like necrosis of the entire ventricular wall (276). Other catecholamines and low dose ISO generally produce focal or patchy areas of necrosis (15, 45).

In humans, trauma (42), subarachnoid hemorrhage (60,121,269), cerebral swelling, brain tumors (60), intracranial infections (269,291) and pheochromocytoma (5,49,182,345) elicit an excessive endogenous release of catecholamines. Upon postmortem examination, myocardial injury similar to that induced in experimental models of catecholamine cardiomyopathy can be identified (265,268). Myocardial damage has also been reported in patients after prolonged infusion of NE for the treatment of shock (127). Severe cardiac lesions induced by catecholamines may impair myocardial function and therefore contribute to organ failure and death.

1. Gross Anatomical Changes

Immediately after catecholamine infusion, gross examination of the heart may show dilation and/or hemorrhage (171,256,284). Cardiac dilation was moderate to extreme depending on the catecholamine and dosage (256,284) and usually was most pronounced in the right atrium and right ventricle (284). In the extreme, the heart lost its conical shape, the apex was rounded and atria were over-distended (256). NE induced necrosis in the canine heart was usually accompanied by hemorrhagic lesions in the subendocardium, papillary muscles, cardiac valves and coronary vessels (221,237,321). Diffuse and local subendocardial congestion and hemorrhage have been observed in rabbit hearts immediately after stopping a 5 hour infusion of 1.2 $\mu g/kg/min NE$ (284). Patchy and focal subepicardial and subendocardial hemorrhages were found in cats and dogs receiving 2 $\mu g/kg/min NE$ for 5 hours. Hemorrhages were diffuse and extensive in all animals receiving larger doses (284).

Myocardial edema has been reported following catecholamine injury (87,236,256). In the rat myocardium, capillary dilation and increased permeability were noted within 15 minutes of subcutaneous high dose ISO (236,276). At lower doses, capillary dilation was less frequent and was restricted to areas of injury. In these rats, edema was noted throughout the stroma and in areas of severe injury, the edema separated muscle fibers. Interstitial and intracellular edema of the myocardium has also been reported in other animal models following catecholamine administration (87,236,256).

2. Histological Alterations

Within minutes of exposure to high levels of catecholamines degenerative changes can be observed in myofilaments, mitochondria and the sarcoplasmic reticulum throughout the myocardium (16,63,224,275,335). Some myocardial cells contained thickened Z lines and contraction bands, areas where sarcomeres were hypercontracted (63,86,127,178,275,333,335). Electron microscopic examination revealed swelling of the sarcoplasmic reticulum, transverse tubules and mitochondria (63,87,88,127,311). Mitochondrial cristae were more closely packed and angulated, particularly in EPI-treated animals (41,87,88). Myocardial glycogen was rapidly depleted (41,87,88,351,366) and lipid droplets formed between myofibrils and in the perinuclear cytoplasm (86-88,127,221,284). Investigators have hypothesized that the accumulation of neutral lipids is due to an increased mobilization and uptake secondary to increased catecholamine stimulated lipase activity in adipose tissue (35,86,88,149).

Gradually, some myocardial cells began to recover from the acute insult while the areas of injury became localized to isolated or groups of myocytes. In damaged muscle cells, the number and extent of contraction bands increased (127). Later, characteristic striations and Z lines of cardiac muscle were obliterated (16,276,284). In some cells, myofilaments depolymerized and aggregated in bands of granular myofilament material (269,276,333,335). Between these aggregates, myofilaments torn away from the sarcolemma were occasionally observed (333). By 16 hours, mitochondrial cristae were destroyed and replaced with calcium phosphate deposits (127,224,269,311). The sarcoplasmic reticulum and transverse-tubules were severely swollen and disrupted (333). Following the appearance of myofilament degeneration, nuclei became irregular, increased their staining, then lost their staining capacity (269,276). By 72 hours, nuclei were not evident in some cells. Activity of lysosomal enzymes and the number of lysosomes in cardiac muscle cells was increased throughout the myocardium following catecholamine infusion (87,273). The increase in lysosome number was most prominent in cells adjoining necrotic areas where lysosomes may play a role in removing dead tissue. In non-necrotic fibers, lipid deposition declined after 24 hours and within 3 to 5 days viable myocardial tissue contained normal amounts of lipid (88,221).

Polymorphonuclear leukocytes are scarce immediately following catecholamine injury (269,284). Ferrans et al. (87) have shown the presence of various mononuclear cells including histiocytes, macrophages, lymphocytes, Anitschkow cells and occasionally polymorphonuclear leukocytes and mast cells, 6 to 10 hours after catecholamine injection in the rat. Muller (236) also reported moderate infiltration of leukocytes and histiocytes in areas of injury in rat hearts after 24 hours with more intense infiltration at 48 hours. Similar results have been reported by Bloom and Cancilla (16) and Rona et al. (276) at 24 and 48 hours post ISO and by Downing and Chen (76) 48 hours after NE infusion. By the third or fourth day, numerous histiocytes, macrophages and occasionally lymphocytes and plasma cells were present in the interstitium surrounding necrotic myofibers (16,284). Seven days after catecholamine administration the majority of necrotic cells had been removed by phagocytosis and only a few leukocytes remained (171,269,284). Proliferation of fibroblasts and increased interstitial fibrosis follows necrotic injury (321). In rats, fibroblast proliferation was noted 24 and 48 hours after ISO treatment (236,276) and a network of thin collagen fibers was formed within 48 hours (260). Thicker filaments became entwined in the network and by the eight day following catecholamine administration, a dense mesh of collagen fibers had formed to encircle muscle and fill intermuscular spaces. Myocardial fibrosis appeared to be stimulated by interstitial edema and disruption of fibrillar collagen. Three days after NE infusion, connective tissue deposition became apparent in dogs, cats and rabbits (284). Within two weeks of catecholamine treatment, fibrous scars were well developed and were the only evidence of earlier necrosis and inflammation (16,284).

B. CARDIAC DYSFUNCTION IN CATECHOLAMINE CARDIOMYOPATHY

Cardiac dysfunction may result from catecholamine-induced lesions. In a rabbit model of NE-induced cardiomyopathy, ventricular systolic function was depressed *in vivo* 48 hours after NE infusion (32,198,355). Downing and his co-investigators reported that contractility, as measured by LV function curves, was reduced (198,355). Additionally, the ability of cardiomyopathic hearts to change systolic function in response to afterload stress (355) or calcium infusion (98) was impaired. Positive inotropic and chronotropic responses were elicited in cardiomyopathic hearts (98,198), however, maximal LV stroke volume, LV +dP/dt and maximal heart rate were attenuated (32,79,98,198). In these *in vivo* studies, it

is unknown if the endocrine and/or nervous systems are modifying ventricular function. Hearts isolated from rats injected with 40 mg/kg ISO showed no change in contractile force at 3 hours. Depression in contractile function was noted at 9 and 24 hours (66). Recently, Chen and Downing (47) have reported that hearts isolated from rabbits at the completion of a NE infusion have a decreased ability to increase stroke work. Left ventricular diastolic function and acute alterations in other parameters of systolic function have not been evaluated.

In this dissertation it is hypothesized that cardiac function is depressed acutely after the administration of catecholamines and significant functional recovery occurs within 48 hours. To test this theory, left ventricular diastolic and systolic function will be evaluated immediately after a NE infusion and at 48 hours. The isolated perfused rabbit heart preparation will be used to measuring ventricular function so neural and humoral influences are eliminated.

C. DISPOSITION OF CATECHOLAMINES

1. Enzyme Systems

Catecholamines are metabolized by monoamine oxidase (MAO) and catechol O-methyltransferase (COMT) (7,113). MAO is a flavin-containing enzyme tightly bound to the outer mitochondrial membrane (339). This oxidase has been found in most body organs but it is virtually absent in skeletal muscle, blood plasma and erythrocytes (293,331). MAO maintains very low levels of free intracellular catecholamines by catalyzing the oxidative deamination of amines to aldehydes

(331,332). Two forms of MAO have been identified based on substrate and inhibitor specificity (61). MAO-A preferentially deaminates NE and serotonin and has been located in adrenergic nerve endings (347) and at extraneuronal sites. MAO-B, found only at extraneuronal sites (347), acts on a broader range of amines. The cytosolic enzyme COMT is widely distributed in all mammalian tissue (7,9). COMT catalyzes the transfer of a methyl group from S-adenosylmethionine to catechols in the presence magnesium (9). **Substrates** for COMT include EPI. NE. of and dihydroxyphenylalanine (DOPA) (9).

2. Pathways for Catecholamine Metabolism

After transport into the cytosol, the pathway for NE metabolism is dependent on enzyme availability. In tissue rich in MAO, NE is metabolized to 3,4dihydroxyphenolglycol aldehyde (DOPEG-ALD) (Figure 2-1). The aldehyde is rapidly metabolized by aldehyde oxidase to 3,4-dihydroxymandelic acid (DOMA) (292). COMT converts DOMA to vanilly lmandelic acid (VMA). In some tissues, the oxidative intermediate DOPEG-ALD is converted to 3,4-dihydroxyphenolglycol (DOPEG) then to 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MOPEG) by COMT. DOPEG is the main deaminated metabolite formed within sympathetic nerves (109). This metabolite can readily diffuse out of the neuron into the circulation or be converted to MOPEG at extraneuronal sites (8). NE transported into extraneuronal tissues with an abundance of COMT, can be converted to its O-methyl metabolite, (NMN) normetanephrine (7). NMN is deaminated to 3-methoxy-4hydroxyphenylglycol aldehyde (MOPEG-ALD) (7), then further metabolized to VMA.

FIGURE 2-1

METABOLISM OF NOREPINEPHRINE



Pathway for norepinephrine metabolism by monoamine oxidase (MAO) and catechol O-methyltransferase (COMT).

3. Uptake Mechanisms

In 1965, Iverson (157) identified two distinct mechanisms used for the translocation of catecholamines across a cell membrane, uptake₁ and uptake₂. These uptake mechanisms were saturable, temperature sensitive and obeyed Michaelis-Menten kinetics (118,158,159). Uptake₁ defined the neuronal membrane carrier system which transports catecholamines from the extracellular space into neuronal tissue (158).

Uptake₁ is inhibited by cocaine (118) and driven by sodium concentration gradient across the neuronal membrane (20,106). Once NE is transported into nerve terminals by uptake₁, it is stored in intracellular vesicles or rapidly degraded by MAO (110). Uptake₂, uniquely different from uptake₁, transports catecholamines across extraneuronal membranes. Uptake₂ is corticoid sensitive and depends on the potassium concentration gradient and/or resting membrane potential for its function (20). Originally uptake₂ was thought to operate only at very high extracellular concentrations of noradrenaline (157). However, Lightman and Iversen (210) and Fiebig and Trendelenburg (90) have clearly demonstrated that extraneuronal uptake₂ operated effectively at low concentrations of noradrenaline. Within extraneuronal tissues, catecholamines are metabolized or bound to intracellular proteins (106).

4. Tissue and Species Specificity of Inactivation Mechanisms

After an intravenous catecholamine injection, two phases of removal have been demonstrated (357). There is an initial fast phase of tissue uptake, metabolism and storage followed by a slow exponential removal. During the slow phase,

catecholamines which had been taken up by tissues and not metabolized are slowly released back into the circulation (118). The removal of circulating catecholamines involves numerous tissues (159,357). Skeletal muscle, vascular smooth muscle, erythrocytes and platelets efficiently remove and metabolize circulating catecholamines (106,124,206,250,252,293,347). Whitby et al. (357) demonstrated a predominant uptake and retention of H³-NE by the heart, spleen and adrenal gland in the cat after However, H³-normetanephrine in varying a 30 minute intravenous infusion. concentrations was found in all tissues analyzed including the kidneys, salivary glands Using an isolated preparation, investigators found the kidney and pancreas. metabolized catecholamines and filtered unmetabolized catechols in proportion to the glomerular filtration rate (143,300). The lung of the dog, cat and rat efficiently removed 30 to 40% of the NE passing through the pulmonary circulation (4,107). Significant amounts of NE were also removed by the intestines, spleen and kidneys in these animal models (4,107,196). A single pass through the liver almost completely removed (80%) circulating catechols (187). Similarly, the human lung and hepatomesentaric circulation have been shown to clear about 70% of total plasma NE (81). The relative importance of uptake₁ and uptake₂ for removing catechols varies with different tissues and depends on the density of sympathetic innervation and the availability of extraneuronal transport mechanism (109,111,159,176,187,210,313).

The major metabolic route for the inactivation of circulating amines appears to be O-methylation (7,33,143,144,188,195,300,332,357). Five minutes after adult male mice were injected with H³-NE, 45% had been metabolized to NMN (357). In

humans, urinary analysis after a 30 minute intravenous infusion of radioactive EPI showed 65% O-methylation of the catecholamine and 25% deamination with the major excretory products being VMA and metanephrine (195). Maas and Landis (217) have shown that metabolism of circulating NE by human subjects resulted in the urinary excretion of free NE, conjugated NE and normetanephrine. Similarly, Goodall and Rosen (114) have reported that normetanephrine is the initial metabolite excreted during an infusion of NE. Conjugated NE and free NE were also excreted in large amounts. After 30 minutes, the major metabolite was VMA.

The pattern of cardiac uptake and metabolism of plasma catecholamines is species specific. Kopin et al. (189) reported the predominant route of non-metabolic inactivation of NE in the isolated perfused rat heart was tissue binding or uptake while O-methylation was the primary metabolic pathway. In this model, neuronal and extraneuronal uptake and metabolism contributed equally to total steady state removal of NE (90). NE transported into sympathetic neurons was stored or metabolized. There was no extraneuronal accumulation of NE during perfusion with low concentrations since metabolism was very pronounced (91,210,338). With exposure to high NE concentrations, intracellular COMT became saturated so the unchanged amine accumulated within extraneuronal cells (194,210,338). Isolated feline, mouse and pigeon hearts formed significant amounts of DOPEG and NMN suggesting increased neuronal and extraneuronal uptake and metabolism in response to increasing concentrations of noradrenaline (117,165). High concentrations of exogenous NE increased the production of DOPEG and DOMA in guinea pig atria (313) and isolated

rabbit hearts (117,219). DOPEG, the major oxidized metabolite, was formed primarily within the nerve terminals (219,312,313). In guinea pig atria significant amounts of DOPEG were also formed in extraneuronal cells (313). DOMA was only produced intraneuronally (219,313) and amounted to 25-33% of the oxidized metabolites (313). Very little NMN was formed within the rabbit myocardium (117). Graefe, Bonisch and Keller have reported that the uptake₂ mechanism within the rabbit heart is poorly developed and suggested that neuronal uptake is the major mechanism for catechol removal in this preparation (118).

5. Conjugation

Although catecholamines are primarily inactivated by uptake and catabolic enzyme systems, inactivation by conjugation with sulfate and glucuronide may be physiologically important (7,191,292,353). Kuchel and Buu (191) have suggested that the clearance of free NE unaccounted for by neuronal storage, *O*-methylation or oxidation may be due to conjugation. Phenolsulfotransferase, an enzyme which transfers a sulfate group from 3'-phosphoadenosine-5'-phosphosulfate to a phenolic substrate, sulfoconjugates the 3-*O*- or 4-*O*-hydroxyl group of NE, NMN, MOPEG, and VMA (2). This cytoplasmic transferase has been found in the liver, adrenals, and small intestine. Yet, the presence of NE sulfate within these tissues and the release of this conjugate have not been demonstrated (191). Significant conjugation of catecholamines has been shown to occur in platelets (2,138,293) and the kidney (143,270). Catecholamine conjugates appear to be biologically inactive and protected from metabolism by MAO and COMT (271) but they are not inert (229). Merits has reported the urinary excretion of catecholamine metabolites after dopamine sulfate was administered to dogs, rats and guinea pigs (229). It may be that sulfoconjugation is a reversible process allowing catecholamine sulfates to be hydrolysed to free catecholamines. Clinical data suggests that sulfoconjugating systems buffer biologically active catecholamines within the circulation (192,193). In some pheochromocytoma patients, baseline conjugated catecholamine levels are very high (192). During periods of excessive catecholamine release or a hypertensive crises conjugated NE and EPI levels increase (192). It appears that the excess circulating catecholamines were buffered by enhanced sulfoconjugation. In NE-induced cardiomyopathy, high levels of circulating catecholamines may also be buffered by sulfoconjugation.

6. Autoxidation

Saturation of transport and enzyme systems by high levels of circulating catecholamines, allow more catechols to undergo spontaneous (21,119,302) or enzymatic (227,308,342) autoxidation. Ceruloplasmin normally catalyzes the cyclization of a small portion of circulating catecholamines to adrenochrome (293). During prolonged infusion of high dose NE, ceruloplasmin interacts with more NE and may produce abnormally high levels of adrenochrome. Ferritin (Fe⁺²), an iron storage protein, accelerates the non-enzymatic oxidation of catecholamines (120,133,231,359). Catecholamine autoxidation produces physiologically active metabolites such as adrenochrome, hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂)and free radicals (21,156,262). If produced in large quantities, these metabolites can impair normal

cell function and contribute to the formation of myocardial lesions.

D. ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR MECHANISMS

Adrenergic receptors do not directly influence effector enzyme systems or ion channels but require coupling proteins, specifically, guanine nucleotide regulatory (G) proteins (202,297). G proteins consist of three subunits, α , β and γ (83,245). The β - and γ -subunits appear to be structurally similar in all G proteins while the α subunit shows heterogeneity. The α -subunits binds guanine nucleotides, contains guanosine triphosphatase (GTPase) activity and interacts with effector systems when guanosine triphosphate (GTP) is bound (83,245).

Agonist-receptor binding promotes the interaction of the occupied receptor with a G protein. The agonist, receptor and G protein complex triggers a conformational change in the α -subunit that facilitates the exchange of GTP for guanosine 5'diphosphate (GDP) bound to the G protein (136,139). The activated α -GTP subunit dissociates from the G protein (83,244) and interacts with effector systems (11,244). With GTP hydrolysis, the α -subunit is inactivated and separates from the effector enzyme or ion channel (11,136). The inactive α -GDP subunit reassociates with β and γ -subunits to restore the G protein.

In the adenylate cyclase system, β -adrenergic receptors are coupled to G proteins which stimulate adenylate cyclase, G_s (82). The resultant increase in intracellular 3'-5'cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) initiates a cascade reaction and activates specific cytosolic enzymes including protein kinase A. Protein kinase

A phosphorylates the calcium channel in cardiac muscle and increases the slow inward calcium current (29). The activated α -subunit of G_s also directly modulates this calcium channel (29). The greater influx of calcium through the calcium channel results in an increased rate and force of contraction of cardiac muscle. β -Adrenergic agonists also augment the pacemaker current increasing the frequency of contraction (139). Phosphorylation of phospholamban increases the rate of calcium uptake and sequestration into the sarcoplasmic reticulum and increases the rate of relaxation (139). The inotropic and chronotropic effects of β -receptor stimulation have been studied in humans (30, 167, 208), many other animals models including rabbits (27, 79), guinea pig (30), rats (306, 307) and dogs (213).

Another G protein couples the α_1 -receptor to phospholipase C and regulates hydrolysis of phosphoinositol lipids (297). Agonist occupancy of the α_1 -receptor results in the hydrolysis of phosphatidyl inositol-4,5-bisphosphate to inositol triphosphate and diacylglycerol (14,83). Inositol triphosphate mobilizes calcium from intracellular stores while diacylglycerol in the presence of calcium activates protein kinase C (11,14,139,242). Stimulation of the α_1 -adrenoceptor increases the slow inward calcium current (83). In 1967, Govier identified α -receptors on the guinea-pig atria and demonstrated that stimulation produced a positive inotropic effect (116). Since then, positive inotropic responses to α_1 -adrenoceptor stimulation have been demonstrated in atria, papillary muscles and ventricles of various mammalian species including rats (6,19,77,79,239,295), mice (115), guinea pigs (116,197,233,350), rabbits (1,10,28,151,255,287,288,349,350), lambs (199), cats (34,266,348) and dogs
(78).

E. RECEPTOR DESENSITIZATION

Within minutes of exposure to an agonist, cells adapt by decreasing receptor responsiveness. This agonist-induced process is called desensitization or tachyphylaxis. In the adrenergic receptor system, desensitization results in reduced stimulation of adenylate cyclase by β -adrenergic agonists (136,294,299,352) or decreased turnover of inositol phospholipids with α_1 -adrenergic receptor stimulation (200). Two major patterns of desensitization of adrenergic receptor-coupled second messenger systems have been distinguished (136,316). Homologous desensitization is characterized by a diminished responsiveness to the desensitizing hormone. If exposure to an agonist attenuates the responsiveness of hormones utilizing other receptors or non-hormonal activators, the desensitization is heterologous (136). The mechanisms of desensitization include receptor phosphorylation, internalization or sequestration, and downregulation of membrane receptors (200,202,214).

1. Receptor Phosphorylation and Uncoupling

Phosphorylation of cytosolic serine and/or threonine residues on $\alpha_{1.}$ and β adrenergic receptors (24,200,202,214,297) decreases the coupling of the receptors to G proteins thereby diminishing the activation of effector enzyme systems (13,23,297). Exposure of smooth muscle cells to NE rapidly attenuated the agonist stimulated hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol phosphates via the α_{1} -receptor and decreased receptor affinity (200). These functional alterations were closely correlated with a

two-fold increase in the phosphate content of the protein receptor. Further investigation indicated that protein kinase C, activated after α_1 -receptor stimulation, phosphorylated the receptor (24,201). Leeb-Lundberg et al. (24,200) suggested that α -receptor phosphorylation was responsible for the desensitization and functional β -Adrenergic desensitization studies have demonstrated selective uncoupling. activation of protein kinase A at low concentrations of β -adrenergic agonists which was followed by phosphorylation of β -receptors (214,297). Resultant phosphorylation of the β -receptors correlated with a decreased sensitivity of the adenylyl cyclase response to agonist stimulation (141). At high agonist concentrations, both protein kinase A and β -adrenergic receptor kinase were activated. These kinases phosphorylated the β -receptor (11,203,214,299) and effectively decreased the maximal responsiveness of adenylate cyclase to an agonist (141). Furthermore, β -adrenergic receptor kinase, probably working in concert with an "arrestin-like protein" (11), inhibited up to 80% of receptor stimulated enzyme activity (12). Benovic et al. (12)hypothesized that β -receptor phosphorylation impaired receptor coupling to G_s.

2. Internalization

Chuang and Costa provided the first direct evidence that adrenergic receptors are sequestered into an intracellular compartment devoid of adenylyl cyclase and G proteins (51,52). These investigators observed a decrease in plasma membrane β receptors number which paralleled an increase in cytosolic receptors after exposure of erythrocytes to ISO (51,52). Harden et al. (137) later demonstrated that the receptors were sequestered into light vesicles. These results have been confirmed by several laboratories (51,52,145,200,310). Quantitative studies (230,234,294,310,317) have reported that 50-95% of plasma membrane β -receptors were internalized with exposure to catecholamines. The mechanism of sequestration remains to be elucidated but may involve the endocytosis of receptors (52,112,145,257). Phosphorylation appears to promote the internalization of β -receptors (52,297) but does not appear to be essential (48,214,317). In contrast, Leeb-Lundberg et al. (200) reported that internalization of the α_1 -adrenoceptor required both receptor phosphorylation and agonist occupancy.

Within the light vesicles, receptors are dephosphorylated (13,299) and retain their structural and functional integrity (54,318). Upon removal of the agonist, sequestered receptors are recycled back to the plasma membrane where they can interact with G proteins and activate their second messenger system (299,318). Mukherjee et al. (235) have demonstrated the complete recovery of plasma membrane β -adrenergic receptors in frog erythrocytes after the agonist was removed. Similarly, Doss et al. (75) have also shown that a 95% loss in plasma membrane receptor number of preconfluent cultures of astrocytoma cells was completely reversible within 48-72 hours after removal of the agonist. In both studies (75,235), receptors were recovered even when protein synthesis was blocked.

The contribution of receptor internalization in the desensitization process is still being investigated. Some investigators have proposed that receptor phosphorylation is the mechanism of desensitization (23,25,200,298,299,319,352) while receptor internalization is a secondary process (25,200,310,319). Waldo et al. (352) have

shown that agonist induced uncoupling of human astrocytoma β -receptors from adenvlate cyclase preceded internalization. When sequestration was inhibited, uncoupling still occurred (352). Similar results were reported by Homburger et al. (152) in cultured glioma cells and by Bobik et al. (18) in chick embryo cardiac cells. In contrast, it has been reported that internalization is not dependent on receptor phosphorylation and contributes significantly to cellular desensitization (51,214,317). The sequestration response to ISO is not altered when phosphorylation sites on the carboxyl terminus of hamster β -adrenergic receptors are removed (317). Lohse et al. (214) have reported that sequestration resulted in a 20-30% decrease in the β_2 receptor-stimulated adenylyl cyclase activity in human epidermoid carcinoma A431 cells exposed to high agonist concentrations while kinase activities were inhibited. The apparently conflicting results may indicate that receptor sequestration as a mechanism of desensitization is species and/or cell line specific. Alternately, it may be that sequestration normally removes phosphorylated receptors from the cell surface for dephosphorylation and recycling but at high agonist concentrations becomes a mechanism of desensitization.

3. Long Term Regulation

Longer term desensitization may involve additional mechanisms. Hausdorff et al. (141) suggested that modification of G proteins or adenylyl cyclase may occur with prolonged exposure to an agonist. Katada et al. (175) reported that the dissociated α -subunit of purified G_i protein is a substrate for protein kinase C and its phosphorylation altered the function of the α -subunit. Phosphorylation of the purified catalytic unit of adenylyl cyclase by protein kinase A and C has also been reported (11). However, in vivo studies are needed to elucidate the physiologic significance of G protein or cyclase modification. Down-regulation of receptors, ie, the loss of total receptor binding sites from a cell, has been demonstrated in some models of desensitization (136,152,319). The total number of β -adrenergic receptors was reduced 45.4% in glioma cells after a 3 hour incubation with ISO (152). Confluent cultures of astrocytoma cells recovered only 60 to 70% of the β -receptors following the removal of ISO (75). Su et al. (319) also reported β -receptor loss in 1321N1 astrocytoma cells, S49 lymphoma cells and HC-1 hepatoma cells with long term incubation with ISO. In these cell lines, complete recovery of the plasma membrane receptors required protein synthesis (11,75). The data suggests that chronic exposure to an agonist results in receptor degradation and loss from the cellular pool.

4. Desensitization of Cardiac Adrenergic Receptors

Cardiac desensitization of adrenergic receptors has been demonstrated in a number of experimental models (94,177,222,223,337,340). Kirkendol and Woodbury (180) demonstrated a tolerance in dogs within 15 minutes of a 60 minute intravenous infusion of NE (2.5 μ g/kg/min). A failure of NE to maintain the increased blood pressure and contractile force was noted. With further investigation it was concluded that the heart was the primary site of tachyphylaxis (180). Kaumann and Birnbaumer (177) have reported decreased inotropic and chronotropic responsiveness of kitten atria to isoprenaline after 3 hour exposure to the agonist. Chick ventricular tissue preincubated with ISO for 30 minutes also showed diminished the inotropic response

to the agonist while the responsiveness to extracellular calcium was not altered (222). β -Adrenergic receptor number and affinity was not changed but the ability of ISO to stimulate adenylate cyclase was reduced by 29%. Further investigation showed no abnormality in the cyclase (222). Cultured chick embryo ventricular cells exhibited a similar concentration and time dependent β -receptor desensitization with a 30 minute exposure to ISO (223).

Chang et al. have reported a selective desensitization of rat cardiac β -receptors following prolonged in vivo infusion of 400 μ g/kg/hr ISO or 200 μ g/kg/hr NE (44). Decreased inotropic and chronotropic responsiveness of the right and left atria to ISO was apparent by 2 hours of catecholamine infusion. β -Receptor density was not significantly decreased until seven days of catecholamine infusion. In this model, the cardiac α_1 -receptor was not desensitized by the mixed α/β agonist NE. In contrast Corder et al. (62) demonstrated a reduction in β -receptors at 9 hours post ISO injection (40 mg/kg) and a reduction in α -receptors by 24 hours. The disparity of these studies may be related to the specific catecholamine administered or the dosage.

Isoproterenol in doses high enough to produce necrosis did not change basal activity of adenylate cyclase in the rat myocardium but depressed adenylate cyclase response to ISO stimulation in the necrotic left ventricular tissue (286). Schulze et al. suggested the damage in the necrotic regions destroyed the coupling of the receptor, G protein and the enzyme (286). However, additional research suggested that the G protein may be altered by high dose catecholamines. Tse et al. (340) reported a decreased ventricular basal and NaF-stimulated adenylate cyclase activity

after chronic ISO treatment. Corder et al. (62) showed a decreased EPI-, NaF- and Gpp(NH)p-stimulated adenylate cyclase activity within 3 hours of a high dose ISO injection while basal activity was not altered. The attenuated responses to Gpp(NH)p and NaF-stimulation indicated a defect in the G protein. Adenylate cyclase response to forskolin, a direct stimulator of the enzyme, needs to be measured to rule out changes in the enzyme itself (62).

If high levels of circulating catecholamines uncouple the β -receptor from its G protein or alter the function of G_s, β -receptor mediated increases in ventricular function should be depressed acutely with NE-induced injury. Chang et al. (44) found that the rat cardiac α -adrenergic receptor was not desensitized by a prolonged infusion of high dose NE. In this case, the α -adrenergic system may be more important in increasing cardiac performance in norepinephrine cardiomyopathy. To test this hypothesis, the functional responsiveness of the left ventricle to α - and β -adrenoceptor stimulation will be assessed immediately after a 90 minute NE infusion and at 48 hours post-infusion.

F. SUGGESTED MECHANISMS OF CATECHOLAMINE-INDUCED INJURY

Experimental research indicates that multiple mechanisms are involved in the pathogenesis of catecholamine-induced cardiac injury.

1. Calcium Overload Theory

In 1971, Fleckenstein demonstrated an increase in calcium influx into ISOtreated hearts and suggested that calcium overload was a mechanism of catecholamine-

induced injury (93). It was hypothesized that excessive calcium influx into myocardial cells by β -adrenergic receptor stimulation induced calcium dependent ATPases and increased the utilization of high energy phosphates stores. High intracellular calcium impaired mitochondria function and decreased oxidative phosphorylation and ATP production. The subsequent deficiency in high energy phosphates resulted in the development of myocardial lesions. Further investigation did not totally support this hypothesis. Opie et al. (153,249) found epinephrine induced the release of myocardial lactate dehydrogenase without a significant change in tissue ATP. Simply, myocardial damage occurred without a deficiency in ATP. Other investigators (204) reported a decrease in high energy phosphates 2 hours post ISO injection. At 2 hours, significant cellular injury had already occurred. These studies indicate that ATP deficiency is not a primary mechanism of catecholamine injury. It was still apparent however, that increased intracellular calcium was intricately involved in the etiology of catecholamine injury (17,249) since calcium overload of myocardial cells had been demonstrated repeatedly with the administration of high dose catecholamines (17,68,178,249) and calcium channel blockade reduced the deleterious effects of catecholamines on the heart (53,178,314).

During normal cell functioning, calcium is extruded from the cell by the sarcolemmal sodium-calcium exchange and calcium pump or removed by uptake into the sarcoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria (68,140). In catecholamine cardiomyopathy, removal of calcium from the cytosol is impaired. Makino et al. (220) showed a depression in the activity of the sarcolemmal sodium-calcium exchange

in rat hearts 3, 9 and 24 hours after ISO treatment. Calcium pump activity was reduced at 24 hours (67) but sodium-potassium ATPase activity was not affected (220). With these experimental results, Makino et al. (67,220) suggested that the reduced ability to remove calcium through the sarcolemmal sodium-calcium exchange and calcium pump contributed to the intracellular calcium overload seen in catecholamine-induced injury. Calcium uptake by the sarcoplasmic reticulum was also altered. Microsomal uptake of calcium was elevated 3 hours after ISO injection in rats but depressed at 24 hours (253). Calcium pump activity of rabbit microsomes was also decreased with ISO treatment (346). This decrease in sarcoplasmic calcium uptake appears to be associated with the loss of the calcium ATPase transport protein from the sarcoplasmic reticulum membrane (253). These studies indicate that impaired removal of calcium from the cytosol by sarcolemmal and sarcoplasmic reticulum mechanisms coupled with increased influx of calcium may contribute to the intracellular calcium overload seen after the administration of high dose catecholamines.

Elevated intracellular calcium activates hydrolytic enzymes which may contribute to membrane defects seen in catecholamine injury (68). Calcium overload can activate intracellular proteases and release lysosomal enzymes (68,248). Phospholipases which release free fatty acids from the membrane and stimulate the generation of toxic intermediates of arachidonic acid metabolism are also activated (26,186,282). Arachidonic acid intermediates initiate lipid peroxidation of intracellular and sarcolemmal membranes which can further increase intracellular calcium (282). Several investigators have also shown that the rate of lipoperoxidation was enhanced in the presence of calcium (161,168,170).

Uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation has been observed in mitochondria from rats treated with EPI, NE or ISO (309). The decrease in ATP formation was not a direct effect of these amines since catecholamines applied to normal mitochondria in vitro did not affect oxidative phosphorylation. At 9 and 24 hours post ISO treatment, a time when myocardial injury has already been identified, mitochondrial uptake of calcium increased (253). Elevated mitochondrial calcium was associated with depressed respiratory activity and decreased ATP production (65,68). Accumulation of long chain fatty acids within the cell and products of catecholamine autoxidation also uncouple oxidative phosphorylation and reduce ATP production (149). The subsequent depletion of high energy phosphates may then contribute to cellular necrosis.

2. Relative Hypoxia

Rona et al. (276) proposed that relative hypoxia, due to imbalance between oxygen supply, and demand caused ISO-induced myocardial necrosis. In most tissue oxygen supply can be augmented by increasing oxygen extraction from arterial blood and/or increasing blood flow. In the heart, extraction is near maximal at rest so increased oxygen supply must come through an augmented blood flow. Rona and his co-investigators observed an increase in systolic pressure then a decrease toward control during sustained catecholamine infusion while coronary vascular resistance changed very little. Since coronary flow was dependent on systolic pressure, it was concluded that the oxygen delivery was not adequate resulting in hypoxia and myocardial necrosis. Subsequent research did not support this hypothesis since catecholamine injury occurred where oxygen supply and/or coronary flow was adequate (153,178).

3. Microcirculatory Changes

In the early 1960's, Handforth (135) observed a reduction in flow to the inner areas of the hamster left ventricular wall after ISO, even prior to the development of edema or necrosis. He suggested that impaired perfusion was due to local vasoconstriction or shunting of blood to bypass the endocardium. Later, Collins and Billings (56) reported that ISO reduced perfusion of subendocardium in rat left ventricle. Similar changes in flow have been reported in rabbits and dogs in response to NE (301,354). Simons and Downing (301) demonstrated augmented coronary blood flow after 3 minutes of NE infusion in the rabbit and a return to control at 10 minutes. After 40 minutes of NE infusion, coronary vascular resistance was increased and myocardial blood flow sharply declined. α -Adrenergic receptor blockade prevented the decrease in blood flow and increase in vascular resistance and minimized histological damage. These studies suggest that coronary vasoconstriction during catecholamine infusion may decrease endocardial blood flow and contribute to catecholamine-induced injury.

Haft et al. (129) reported that aspirin and dipyridamole, inhibitors of platelet aggregation, protected the canine myocardium from EPI-induced necrosis. Thrombocytopenia or inhibition of platelet aggregation strongly reduced the number and area of cardiac necrosis induced by ISO in the rat (173). Electron micrograph analysis revealed platelet aggregates within small vessels of the myocardium immediately following a prolonged NE infusion in the dog (130) or ISO injection in the rat (128). These investigators suggested that intravascular platelet aggregation had a role in the etiology of catecholamine-induced cardiac necrosis. In contrast, other investigators have not observed platelet aggregates in the myocardium after catecholamine administration. Moschos et al. (232) did not find ⁵¹Cr-prelabelled platelets in the canine heart after a systemic infusion of toxic levels of EPI. Similarly, platelet thrombi were not found in rabbit hearts after high dose NE infusion (76).

4. Metabolites of Catecholamine Autoxidation

It has been proposed that products of catecholamines oxidation are responsible, in part, for catecholamine cardiotoxicity. Yates and Dhalla have shown decreased cardiac function and ultrastructural damage in isolated rat hearts perfused 40-50 minutes with spontaneously oxidized ISO (69,362). Similar concentrations of fresh ISO increased left ventricular function and produced no structural damage. Perfusion of rat hearts with purified adrenochrome induced ultrastructural changes and contractile failure (363). Mitochondrial and sarcotubular swelling, intracellular edema, hypercontraction of myofibrils and partial separation of intercalated discs became apparent within 5-10 minutes after the administration of intravenous adrenochrome (4-32 mg/kg) to rats (303). These ultrastructural lesions in hearts subjected to oxidized ISO or adrenochrome were qualitatively identical to those seen after the administration of high dose catecholamines in vivo (334). Further investigation indicated that oxidation products of catecholamines, in addition to adrenochrome, damage the myocardium and may be involved in the genesis of catecholamine cardiotoxicity (162,305).

Decreased calcium uptake activity has been reported for microsomal membranes from hearts damaged by oxidized ISO while microsomal ATPase activity was not modified (69). Changes in membrane integrity, indicated by sarcoplasmic reticular swelling, may have uncoupled calcium transport from ATP hydrolysis (69,146). Mitochondrial calcium transport and ATPase activity were not effected by oxidized ISO but oxidative phosphorylation was depressed (69). Exposure to adrenochrome alters membrane ATPases and calcium transport of the sarcolemma, sarcoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria. Takeo et al. (322) reported a reduction in sarcolemmal sodium-potassium ATPase activity after hearts were perfused with Additionally, calcium uptake by microsomal and mitochondrial adrenochrome. membranes was depressed (323,324). Calcium ATPase activity was not affected by low dose adrenochrome. At higher concentrations, this ATPase activity was inhibited in microsomes, the sarcolemma and mitochondria (322-324). Adrenochrome also has been shown to be a potent inhibitor of oxidative phosphorylation (69,254).

In contrast, administration of adrenochrome (10 mg/kg) had no effect on the myocardium of embryonic chicks while oxidized isoprenaline caused severe damage (162). Wheatley et al. (356) have reported that rat hearts perfused with 10^{-6} to 10^{-4} M adrenochrome for 45 minutes had no myocyte damage. However, perfusion with 10^{-4} M adrenochrome for 120 minutes induced myocardial damage and contractile

failure. These investigators proposed that 10^4 M adrenochrome was not a physiologic concentration and therefore irrelevant to the pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy (356). However, concentrations of oxidized metabolites within the myocardium have not been reported. The disparity of results may be due to the difference in composition of the oxidized agent. Chromatographic analysis revealed a significant differences in the composition of spontaneously oxidized isoprenaline, purified adrenochrome and commercially obtained adrenochrome (162).

Catecholamine autoxidation also creates superoxide anion radicals (O_2^{-1}) (21,92,119,142,227,262,302,308,342) hydrogen peroxide (119,231). Superoxide anion, as well as subsequently formed free radicals, are highly reactive molecules containing a single unpaired electron in its outer shell (74,218). These radicals cause tissue damage by reacting with polyunsaturated lipids within membranes (40,267), nucleotides in DNA, or sulfhydryl bonds in proteins (218). Superoxide anion and hydrogen peroxide directly damage cells but the primary mechanism of toxicity appears to be the generation of more reactive species (43,133,163). In reactions secondary to superoxide generation, singlet oxygen, a spin altered form of oxygen (92), is produced (58,179,238). Singlet oxygen reacts very rapidly with unsaturated fatty acids within membranes to yield lipid peroxides (55,58,179). Lipid peroxides within biological membranes can change membrane fluidity, permeability and function. Alternately, superoxide may dismutate to hydrogen peroxide (100) and generate hydroxyl radicals via Fenton chemistry (57,132). The highly reactive hydroxyl radical usually initiates a radical chain reaction. If produced in the

immediate vicinity of phospholipid membranes, hydroxyl radicals initiate peroxidation by abstracting hydrogen atoms from unsaturated bonds of membrane lipids (43,95,133,174,261,267,302,330). Normally, free radicals are scavenged or instantly trapped by antioxidants (74). Accumulation of free radicals is dependant on the capacity of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant systems within the tissue (285). In conditions where the antioxidant capacity is overwhelmed, free radical production may result in lipid peroxidation and subsequent alterations in membrane structure, enzyme inactivation, and decreased energy production.

5. Changes in Membrane Permeability

Rona et al. (275) reported an increased sarcolemmal permeability 90 minutes post ISO injection in rats. Horseradish peroxidase reaction products were deposited on myofilaments of damaged cells and cells which appeared ultrastructurally intact. Later peroxidase reaction products were identified within mitochondria. Subsequently, Boutet et al. (22) demonstrated horseradish peroxidase within rat cardiac myocytes as early as 10 minutes after NE infusion and at 60 and 90 minutes post ISO. Increased membrane permeability was also noted in isolated rabbit hearts after a 60 minute perfusion with ISO (336). More recently, Yunge et al. (365) reported horseradish peroxidase within cardiac myocytes and irregular tears in sarcolemmal membranes of some myocytes 10 and 60 minutes after subcutaneous ISO. Similar results were obtained in isolated rat hearts perfused with ISO or oxidized ISO (365) indicating a role for oxidized metabolites in ISO-induced injury. In agreement with these histological studies, Schenk et al. (283) demonstrated a progressive dose related increase of the cardiac isoenzyme of lactate dehydrogenase the plasma of dogs within 15 minutes of a NE infusion. The presence of the heart isoenzyme in plasma indicated damage to the cardiac sarcolemma with subsequent release of this intracellular enzyme. These studies suggest that alterations in cardiac sarcolemmal permeability is an early event in catecholamine-induced injury.

The increased membrane permeability seen with high dose catecholamines may change electrolyte distribution in the myocardium. Lehr et al. (205) and Nirdlinger and Bramante (241) found significant alterations in electrolyte content and distribution in rat hearts after catecholamine injection. Magnesium and inorganic phosphate were depleted, sodium and calcium content increased. Intracellular calcium was sequestered by mitochondria at the expense of energy production (68). Other investigators found ISO treatment increased cardiac sodium, water and chloride but decreased potassium (311). In fact, catecholamines stimulated a rapid outward movement of intracellular potassium and a high potassium diet afforded some protection to ISO-induced injury (171). These electrolyte shifts were correlated with swelling and disintegration of mitochondria and enlargement of the sarcotubular system in cardiac myocytes.

6. Lipid Peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation is initiated by the abstraction of a hydrogen ion from an unsaturated lipid and the formation of a lipid free radical, L (Reaction [1]) (38,174). With the rich supply of oxygen within membranes, the lipid radical is quickly oxidized to a peroxyl radical (LOO) (Reaction [2]). This peroxyl radical can attack another

unsaturated lipid producing a hydroperoxide (LOOH) and a new lipid free radical (Reaction [3]), thus establishing a chain reaction. Hydroperoxides can later decompose to peroxy and alcoxy (LO) radicals (Reaction [4]) which initiate other chain reactions (Reactions [3] and [5]). Without an antioxidant within the membrane, lipid peroxidation is propagated until two lipid radicals react together to form nonreactive molecular products (125). By a chain reaction, many unsaturated lipids can be oxidized for each lipid radical formed (38,226,360).

- $[1] LH \to L^{-}$
- $[2] L + O_2 \rightarrow LOO$
- $[3] \qquad LOO + LH \rightarrow LOOH + L$
- [4] $LOOH \rightarrow LOO^{\circ} \text{ or } LO^{\circ}$
- $[5] \qquad LO' + LH \rightarrow LOH + L'$

Lipid peroxidation changes membrane characteristics. Membrane permeability is increased. Rat brain synaptosomes rapidly accumulated calcium after peroxidation was stimulated (26). Increased calcium uptake was highly correlated with the formation of products of peroxidation. Deferoxamine, a lipid peroxidation inhibitor, blocked the formation of products of lipoperoxidation and uptake of calcium into synaptosomes after exposure to peroxidizing agents. Calcium channel blockers did not affect calcium uptake by synaptosomes with peroxidation. Using oleic and linoleic acid ufasomes, Hicks and Gebicki (147) demonstrated a significant increase in glucose leakage after peroxidation of approximately 4-5% of membrane lipids. Lipid peroxidation in cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum vesicles induce the complete release of calcium (209). Calcium leakage was mediated by the formation of lipid hydroperoxide channels (360) in the lipid phase of the sarcoplasmic membranes and in the lipoprotein complex of calcium ATPase (169). Calcium leakage from the sarcoplasmic vesicles is blocked by α -tocopherol (209). By disturbing the normal bilayer arrangement of membrane lipids, lipid peroxidation changed membrane permeability.

Decreased membrane fluidity (99) and increased rigidity of phospholipid bilayers (72) have been reported after lipid peroxidation. Rice-Evans and Hochstein (272) demonstrated an increase in lipid microviscosity with peroxidation of membrane lipids and suggested lipid-lipid interaction and lipid packing density increase while lipid-protein interactions decrease (296). These modifications of membranes structure have been correlated with alteration in membrane bound enzyme function (72). In isolated mitochondria, oxidative phosphorylation was uncoupled with lipoperoxidation (155,326). The degree of peroxidation which changed membrane fluidity was similar to that which alters mitochondrial function (72). Lipid peroxidation also damaged membrane proteins (326) and inactivates enzymes (43,172,330). Hydrogen ion abstraction by lipid peroxy radicals altered protein structure (326). Damaged proteins are able to cross-link with other proteins or phospholipids to form polymers (160,272). Malondialdehyde, a degradation product of peroxidized lipids (226,261), may facilitate amino group cross-linking within the membrane (108,160,174,272,326). Levin et al. reported cytochrome P450 breakdown during lipid peroxidation (207).

Random damage to cytochromes $a + a_3$, b, and $c + c_1$ has also been reported (326). Slight accumulation of lipoperoxidation products in cardiac microsomes uncoupled ATP hydrolysis from calcium transport and completely inhibited calcium transporting ability (170). The antioxidant α -tocopherol prevented accumulation of peroxidation products and protected microsomal membrane calcium transport. Inactivation of mitochondrial and microsomal enzymes (261,326,358) and membrane ATPases (272) also closely parallel lipid peroxidation. Alterations in enzyme function may be due to protein damage and subsequent polymerization or due to changes in the phospholipid microenvironment (123).

G. CELLULAR ANTIOXIDANTS

The human body has multiple lines of defense against oxidizing agents and free radicals encompassing enzymes systems and small molecular weight molecules with antioxidant capabilities. These antioxidant defense mechanisms include α -tocopherol and glutathione peroxidase.

1. α -Tocopherol

Alpha-tocopherol, the principle antioxidant constituent of vitamin E, is found in plasma and intracellular membranes of throughout the body including cardiac myocytes (122,163,218,226,247). The basic structure consists of a hydroxylated ring system and an isoprenoid side chain (240). The aromatic ring or chromanol group of α -tocopherol is oriented toward the membrane surface and a hydrophobic phytyl side chain is buried within the hydrocarbon region (38). This structure allows α - tocopherol to be an effective scavenger of lipid free radicals (37,39,70), superoxide anion radicals (O_2^{-1}) (100,102), hydroxyl radicals (HO) (100,101,225), and singlet oxygen ($^{1}O_{2}$) (55,84,96,97,315) as well as a stabilizer of biological membranes (80,215).

The presence of fat-soluble antioxidants which inhibit or terminate free radical reactions of unsaturated lipids is essential to membrane integrity (154,226). Alphatocopherol, a principle defense against lipoperoxidation (102,329), is an effective chain-breaking antioxidant (38,327). It does not prevent the initiation of lipid peroxidation (148,360) but traps the propagating lipid radicals thereby terminating the autoxidizing chain reactions (Reaction [6]) (37,39,102,150,327,329). The resulting phenoxy radical of α -tocopherol (α T-O⁻) is resonance stable and does not continue the chain reaction (38). The α -tocopherol radical can be destroyed by reaction with a second peroxyl radical (Reaction [7]) (38) or be reduced by ascorbic acid (38,102,225,251). Fukuzawa et al. (99) reported that one molecule of α -tocopherol prevented peroxidation of approximately 100 polyunsaturated fatty acid molecules.

[6] $LOO + \alpha T-OH \rightarrow LOOH + \alpha T-O$

[7] $LOO + T-O \rightarrow unreactive products$

The antioxidant capability of α -tocopherol has been demonstrated in vitro and in vivo (89,102,164,181). Lipid oxidation in egg yolk phosphatidylcholine liposomes was inhibited after a critical concentration of α -tocopherol was present (102). As α tocopherol concentration increased above this critical level, peroxidation decreased then stopped entirely although the tocopherol was still being oxidized. At this point α -tocopherol competed successfully with oxygen for lipid radicals. The efficacy of α -tocopherol is dependent on the membrane concentration (360).

Having membranes rich in polyunsaturated lipids and numerous catalysts of lipid peroxidation, mitochondria are highly susceptible to oxidation damage (326). α -Tocopherol, normally present on the inner mitochondrial membrane (226), has been associated with enzymatically active lipoprotein complexes of the electron transport system (85,247,289). Mitochondria from α -tocopherol deficient rabbit hearts had depressed function, increased lipoperoxidation and enhanced production of superoxide anion by electron transport enzyme systems (123). The increased formation of superoxide anion was beyond the neutralizing capacity of the superoxide dismutase (227) and resulted in loss of polyunsaturated lipids from mitochondrial membranes (226). Further lipid peroxidation resulted in the swelling, lysis and disintegration of membranes from isolated mitochondria (326). The presence of α -tocopherol in membranes of the cardiac mitochondria protected them from oxidative damage and membrane deterioration (123,326). Reduced cytochrome levels in liver mitochondria and decreased oxidative ability of the mitochondria have been reported in vitamin E deficient rats (289). With vitamin supplementation cytochrome levels and oxidative ability of the mitochondria were restored. Vitamin E may protect the membrane bound proteins from damage maintaining normal enzyme concentration within the membrane.

Increased susceptibility to lipid peroxidation is associated with α -tocopherol

deficiency (240,320). Janero and Burghardt (164) have shown phospholipid damage characterized by acute onset and rapid progression in cardiac membranes from rats with a 3-fold lower α -tocopherol content compared to control rat hearts. This relative α -tocopherol deficiency increased the susceptibility of the myocardial lipids to peroxidative injury and reduced the efficacy of other antioxidant interventions. Similar results have been reported for the mouse myocardium (280). Rats fed diets with large amounts of unsaturated fats had increased malonaldehyde in bone marrow, heart and spleen compared to rats fed normal diets (330). Peroxidation was proportional to polyunsaturated fatty acids content and inversely related to α -tocopherol (134,330).

Experiments of Lucy and Diplock (71,215,216) indicated that α -tocopherol modulated the structure and permeability of the phospholipid bilayer of biomembranes. Studies using monolayers of phospholipids and α -tocopherol demonstrated a molecular interaction between α -tocopherol and unsaturated phospholipids but gave no evidence of tocopherol interacting with saturated lipids (216). Ultraviolet absorption spectra and flourometric assays also suggested that α -tocopherol forms complexes with free fatty acids in membrane systems (80). Using molecular modeling, Lucy and Diplock (215) proposed a dynamic interaction between α -tocopherol and phospholipids containing arachidonyl residues or similar fatty acyl chains. Specifically, methyl groups of the phytyl side-chain of α -tocopherol move into pockets created by *cis* double bonds of fatty acyl chains. Remaining methylene groups in the backbone of the phytyl and fatty acyl chains interact through Van der Waals forces, stabilize the membrane and preserve the integrity of cell membranes (80,215). Additionally, Urano and Matsuo (341) reported that the chromanol moiety of α -tocopherol also interacts with the double bonds of unsaturated lipids. This interaction between α tocopherol and unsaturated phospholipids may render the lipids less susceptible to radical-induced injury (71,101,218,327).

In α -tocopherol deficient animals, sarcolemmal membranes were abnormally permeable (215,240). The addition of α -tocopherol to liposomes decreased permeability to glucose and chromate ion (216). Philipson and Ward (259) reported enhanced permeability of cardiac sarcolemmal vesicles to calcium as the content of unsaturated fatty acids within the vesicles increased. Tocopherol-lipid interactions reduced the permeability of biological membranes containing relatively high levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids (70,71). To assess the interaction of α -tocopherol, lipids and proteins within biological membranes, glucose transport was measured as α tocopherol was added to the culture media of mouse fibroblasts (105). In this tissue culture system, the addition of α -tocopherol increased fibroblast glucose uptake. Since the transport of glucose into cells is a carrier-mediated process, Giasuddin and Diplock (105) suggested that the integrity and maximal function of the plasma membrane was dependent on a structural interaction of α -tocopherol and other membrane components.

Some authors suggest a metabolic role for vitamin E. Fedelesova et al. (85) reported decreased high energy phosphate stores in hearts from vitamin E deficient rats. Lactate dehydrogenase and malate dehydrogenase activities were decreased while sarcolemmal sodium-potassium ATPase and sarcoplasmic reticular calcium ATPase activities increased. The increased sarcoplasmic reticular ATPase may be a compensatory mechanism for an increased intracellular calcium which has been reported with vitamin E deficiency. The ten week vitamin E deficient diet used by Fedelesova (85) depressed myocardial contractility even though there was no evidence of ultrastructural damage. These results may indicate that in the early stages of vitamin E deficiency myocardial energy production and utilization are altered.

2. Glutathione Peroxidase

Selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase is another major defense against oxidizing agents and lipid peroxidation (150,212,328). It is found in plasma, the cytosol and the mitochondrial matrix (58). The enzyme is a tetramer with four identical subunits each containing one selenium atom (150,246,330). Selenium or more specifically a selenocystine moiety has been identified as the catalytic site for glutathione peroxidase (278,279,326).

Glutathione peroxidase protects cellular and subcellular membranes from peroxidative damage. Using glutathione as a hydrogen donor (50), glutathione peroxidase catalyzes the reduction of hydrogen peroxide to water (212) thereby preventing the initiation of peroxidation (278,330). This enzyme also detoxifies membranes of fatty acid hydroperoxides preventing these peroxides from altering membrane structure and function (126). Working with phospholipase A_2 , glutathione peroxidase reduces polyunsaturated lipid hydroperoxides to hydroxy acids in the hydrophilic region of a membrane (212,279,290,327,330). Phospholipase A_2 hydrolyses peroxidized fatty acids of membrane phospholipids (343). After release from the phospholipid, peroxidized fatty acids are available for reduction by glutathione peroxidase (36,58,325,330). It is estimated that 50 to 250 fatty acid hydroperoxides may be destroyed by one selenocystine moiety (360). In addition to destroying peroxides, glutathione peroxidase reduces secondary lipid peroxidation occurring with the breakdown of lipid hydroperoxides (360).

Glutathione peroxidase activity increases with lipid peroxidation (330). If present in sufficient quantities glutathione peroxidase removes lipid peroxides as they are formed, before the peroxides alter membrane structure. Selenium deficiency results in reduced glutathione peroxidase activity (3,364), an inability to metabolize hydroperoxides through glutathione-dependent pathways (361), and decreased protection against free radicals (361,364). Cardiac muscle appears to be very sensitive to selenium depletion (46,150). Upon exposure to low dose oxygen radicals, decrease in function of isolated selenium-deficient rat hearts was significantly more pronounced than control hearts (364).

Free radicals generated by catecholamine autoxidation may be involved in the development of catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy (131,243,258,304). Singal et al. (304) have shown that vitamin E pretreatment prevented the deleterious effects of high dose ISO. These investigators (302) have also demonstrated increased lipoperoxidation in rat myocardium with ISO that was prevented by α -tocopherol pretreatment. Plasma from rats injected with 5 mg/kg EPI was cytotoxic to isolated cardiac myocytes after intracellular glutathione levels decreased (243). Since

ultrastructural changes did not occur until glutathione levels decreased, Noronha-Dutra et al. (243) proposed that free radicals were the cytotoxic agent which initiated lipid peroxidation. The administration of selenium and vitamin E to pigs also afforded some protection to high dose ISO (344). The administration of selenium has also been shown to increase glutathione peroxidase activity and afford protection against lipid peroxidation (3,46,73,126).

This research indicates that adequate amounts of selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase and α -tocopherol are essential for normal membrane physiology particularly if tissues are exposed to substances which directly or indirectly promote lipid peroxidation (59,150). Therefore, in the third study of this dissertation, α -tocopherol and selenium will be administered over a two week period to increase the antioxidant capacity of the heart and determine if this pretreatment protected the rabbit myocardium from NE-induced injury.

H. NO-REFLOW PHENOMENON

No-reflow phenomenon is the failure to achieve uniform reperfusion following temporary ischemia (183) and has been described in various organs of a number of experimental animals. In 1966, Krug et al. (190) reported that significant portions of the endocardium could not be reperfused after temporary occlusions of 60-120 minutes in the cat. But it was not until 1974 that Kloner et al. (184) provided the first direct evidence that the no-reflow phenomenon occurred in the heart. The pathological mechanism causing the no-reflow phenomenon has not been elucidated however

several mechanisms including endothelial and myocyte swelling, ischemic contracture and rigor mortis, have been suggested (103).

Brown and Egginton (31) demonstrated a loss of alkaline phosphatase staining in regions of ischemic injury in the heart. The loss of alkaline phosphatase, an enzyme normally present in capillary endothelium, indicated endothelial damage. Electron microscopic examination revealed no loss of capillaries 48 hours after NE infusion in the rabbit but capillary morphology was disrupted and endothelial cells were edematous. In areas of no-reflow present in the canine myocardium after 90 minutes of ischemia, Kloner demonstrated endothelial bleb formation, endothelial gaps, red blood cell aggregates and occasional thrombi within capillaries (184). Subsequently it was proposed that endothelial injury had prevented homogeneous reperfusion of the ischemic myocardium (183,184). However, the demonstration that colloidal thorium dioxide could pass through vessels with severely swollen endothelium showed vascular injury itself could not account for the no-reflow phenomenon.

Compressive stress on the coronary microcirculation during ischemic contracture may contribute to the development of no-reflow (211). Ischemic contracture in isolated rat hearts has been associated with reduced flow in the subendocardium (104,211). Gavin et al. (104) showed that rat hearts subjected to 60 minute global ischemia had no morphological evidence of endothelial swelling or constriction of any particular population of vessels and hypothesized that the endocardium of the left ventricle lost its ability to be reperfused because of extravascular compression. Ischemic contracture closed subendocardial vessels and focal rigor mortis prevented vessels from opening with reperfusion (103). Vascular obstruction was not the essential cause of no-reflow.

During prolonged catecholamine infusion, α -receptor mediated coronary vasoconstriction decreases and redistributes myocardial blood flow (135,301). Currently it is unknown if normal blood flow is reestablished to the ischemic areas after catecholamine infusion is terminated. In this dissertation, coronary blood flow was measured in rabbits after 40 minutes of NE infusion and at one hour post infusion to determine if the no-reflow phenomenon occurs with catecholamine-induced injury.

I. REFERENCES

- 1. AASS, H., T. SKOMEDAL, and J.B. OSNES. Demonstration of an alpha adrenoceptor-mediated inotropic effect of norepinephrine in rabbit papillary muscle. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 226:572-578, 1983.
- 2. ABENHAIM, L., Y. ROMAIN, and O. KUCHEL. Platelet phenolsulfotransferase and catecholamines: physiological and pathological variations in humans. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 59:300-306, 1980.
- 3. ADKINS, R.S., and R.C. EWAN. Effect of selenium on performance, serum selenium concentration and glutathione peroxidase activity in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 58:346-350, 1984.
- 4. ALABASTER, V.A., and Y.S. BAKHLE. The removal of noradrenaline in the pulmonary circulation of rat isolated lungs. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 47:325-331, 1973.
- 5. ALPERT, L.I., S.H. PAI, F.G. ZAK, and S. WERTHAMER. Cardiomyopathy associated with a pheochromocytoma. *Arch. Path.* 93:544-548, 1972.
- 6. ASK, J.A., and G. STENE-LARSEN. Functional α 1-adrenoceptors in the rat heart during β -receptor blockade. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 120:7-13, 1984.
- 7. AXELROD, J. Metabolism of epinephrine and other sympathomimetic amines. *Physiol. Rev.* 39:751-776, 1959.
- AXELROD, J. Catechol-O-methyltransferase and other O-methyltransferases. In: Handbook of Physiology Section 7: Endocrinology Vol. VI, edited by GREEP, R.O., and E.B. ASTWOOD. Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society, 1975, p. 669-676.
- 9. AXELROD, J., and R. TOMCHICK. Enzymatic O-methylation of epinephrine and other catechols. J. Biol. Chem. 233:702-705, 1958.
- 10. BENFEY, B.G. Characterization of alpha-receptors in the myocardium. Br. J. Pharmacol. 48:132-138, 1973.
- 11. BENOVIC, J.L., M. BOUVIER, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Regulation of adenylyl cyclase-coupled β -adrenergic receptors. *Ann. Rev. Cell Biol.* 4:405-428, 1988.

- 12. BENOVIC, J.L., H. KUHN, I. WEYAND, J. CODINA, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Functional desensitization of the isolated β -adrenergic receptor by the β -adrenergic receptor kinase: Potential role of an analog of the retinal protein arrestin (48-kDa protein). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84:8879-8882, 1987.
- 13. BENOVIC, J.L., L.J. PIKE, R.A. CERIONE, C. STANISZEWSKI, T. YOSHIMASA, J. CODINA, M.C. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Phosphorylation of the mammalian β -adrenergic receptor by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 260:7094-7101, 1985.
- 14. BERRIDGE, M.J., and R.F. IRVINE. Inositol triphosphate, a novel second messenger in cellular signal transduction. *Nature* 312:315-321, 1984.
- 15. BEZNAK, M. Hemodynamics during the acute phase of myocardial damage caused by isoproterenol. *Can. J. Biochem. Physiol.* 40:25-30, 1962.
- BLOOM, S., and P.A. CANCILLA. Myocytolysis and mitochondrial calcification in rat myocardium after low doses of isoproterenol. Am. J. Pathol. 54:373-391, 1969.
- 17. BLOOM, S., and D.L. DAVIS. Calcium as mediator of isoproterenol-induced myocardial necrosis. Am. J. Pathol. 69:459-470, 1972.
- 18. BOBIK, A., J.H. CAMPBELL, V. CARSON, and G.R. CAMPBELL. Mechanism of isoprenaline-induced refractoriness of the β -adrenoceptor adenylate cyclase system in chick embryo cardiac cells. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 3:541-553, 1981.
- 19. BOHM, M., W. SCHMITZ, and H. SCHOLZ. Evidence against a role of a pertussis toxin-sensitive guanine nucleotide-binding protein in the α 1-adrenoceptor-mediated positive inotropic effect on the heart. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. 335:476-479, 1987.
- BONISCH, H., L.J. BRYAN, M. HENSELING, S.R. O'DONNELL, P. STOCKMANN, and U. TRENDELENBURG. The effect of various ions on uptake₂ of catecholamines. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 328:407-416, 1985.
- 21. BORS, W., C. MICHEL, M. SARAN, and E. LENGFELDER. The involvement of oxygen radicals during the autoxidation of adrenaline. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 540:162-172, 1978.

- 22. BOUTET, M., I. HUTTNER, and G. RONA. Permeability alterations of sarcolemmal membrane in catecholamine-induced cardiac muscle cell injury. *Lab. Invest.* 34:482-488, 1976.
- 23. BOUVIER, M., W.P. HAUSDORFF, A. DEBLASI, B.F. O'DOWD, B.K. KOBILKA, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Removal of phosphorylation sites from the B2-adrenergic receptor delays onset of agonist-promoted desensitization. *Nature* 333:370-373, 1988.
- 24. BOUVIER, M., L.M.F. LEEB-LUNDBERG, J.L. BENOVIC, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Regulation of adrenergic receptor function by phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 262:3106-3113, 1987.
- 25. BOX, R-.J., and M. STAEHELIN. Bromoacetylalprenololmenthane binding to B-receptors modulates the rate of hormone-induced internalization but not desensitization in S49 cells. *FEBS Letters* 214:323-326, 1987.
- 26. BRAUGHLER, J.M. Calcium and lipid peroxidation. In: Oxygen Radicals and Tissue Injury, edited by HALLIWELL, B. Bethesda:FASEB, 1988, p. 99-104.
- 27. BRISTOW, M., and R.D. GREEN. A quantitative study of beta-adrenergic receptors in rabbit atria. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 12:120-123, 1970.
- 28. BRODDE, O.E., S. MOTOMURA, M. ENDOH, and H.J. SCHUMANN. Lack of correlation between the positive inotropic effect evoked by alpha-adrenoceptor stimulation and the levels of cyclic AMP and/or cyclic GMP in the isolated ventricular strip of the rabbit. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 10:207-219, 1978.
- 29. BROWN, A.M., and L. BIRNBAUMER. Direct G protein gating of ion channels. Am. J. Physiol. 254:H401-H410, 1988.
- 30. BROWN, L., M. NABAUER, and E. ERDMANN. Dobutamine: positive inotropy by nonselective adrenoceptor agonism in isolated guinea pig and human myocardium. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 335:385-390, 1987.
- 31. BROWN, M.D., and S. EGGINTON. Capillary density and fine structure in rabbit papillary muscles after high dose of norepinephrine. *Microvasc. Res.* 36:1-12, 1988.
- 32. BROWN, M.D., and O. HUDLICKA. Protective effects of long-term bradycardial pacing against catecholamine-induced myocardial damage in rabbit hearts. *Circ. Res.* 62:965-974, 1988.

- 33. BROWN, M.J., D.S. DAVIES, and C.T. DOLLERY. Quantitative analysis of noradrenaline clearance. Br. J. Pharmacol. 67:452P-453P, 1967.
- 34. BRUCKNER, R., I. HACKBARTH, T. MEINERTZ, B. SCHMELZLE, and H. SCHOLZ. The positive inotropic effect of phenylephrine in the presence of propranolol. Increase in time to peak force and in relaxation time without increase in c-AMP. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 303:205-211, 1978.
- 35. BRUNEVAL, P., L. YUNGE, and I. HUTTNER. Isoproterenol induced fatty change in rat myocardium: freeze fracture study of the sarcolemma at sites of lipid droplet-membrane appositions. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. 17:355-343, 1985.
- 36. BURK, R.F., K. NISHIKI, R.A. LAWRENCE, and B. CHANCE. Peroxide removal by selenium-dependent and selenium-independent glutathione peroxidase in hemoglobin-free perfused rat liver. J. Biol. Chem. 253:43-46, 1978.
- 37. BURTON, G.W., and K.U. INGOLD. Autoxidation of biological molecules. 1. The antioxidant activity of vitamin E and related chain-breaking phenolic antioxidants in vitro. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103:6472-6477, 1981.
- 38. BURTON, G.W., and K.U. INGOLD. Vitamin E: Application of the principles of physical organic chemistry to the exploration of its structure and function. Acc. Chem. Res. 19:194-201, 1986.
- 39. BURTON, G.W., A. JOYCE, and K.U. INGOLD. Is vitamin E the only lipid-soluble, chain-breaking antioxidant in human blood plasma and erythrocyte membranes?. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 221:281-290, 1983.
- CALDARERA, C.M., P. DAVALLI, and C. GUARNIERI. Effect of α-tocopherol and sodium selenite on post-anoxic re-oxygenated rat hearts. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 10 (S):16, 1978.
- 41. CARLSTEN, A., O. POUPA, and R. VOLKMANN. Cardiac lesions in poikilotherms by catecholamines. *Comp. Biochem. Physiol.* 76A:567-581, 1983.
- 42. CEBELIN, M.S., and C.S. HIRSCH. Human stress cardiomyopathy: Myocardial lesions in victims of homicidal assaults without internal injury. *Hum. Path.* 11:123-132, 1980.
- 43. CHANCE, B., H. SIES, and A. BOVERIS. Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiol. Rev.* 59:527-605, 1979.

- 44. CHANG, H.Y., R.M. KLEIN, and G. KUNOS. Selective desensitization of cardiac beta adrenoceptors by prolonged in vivo infusion of catecholamines in rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 221:784-789, 1982.
- 45. CHAPPEL, C.I., G. RONA, T. BALAZS, and R. GAUDRY. Comparison of cardiotoxic actions of certain sympathomimetic amines. *Canad. J. Biochem. Physiol.* 37:35-42, 1959.
- 46. CHAVEZ, E.R. Effect of dietary selenium on glutathione peroxidase activity in piglets. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 59:67-75, 1979.
- 47. CHEN, V., and S.E. DOWNING. Preservation of cardiac metabolic capacity after acute catecholamine injury. Am. J. Physiol. 258:H101-H106, 1990.
- 48. CHEUNG, A.H., I.S. SIGAL, R.A.F. DIXON, and C.D. STRADER. Agonist-promoted sequestration of the β -adrenergic receptor requires regions involved in functional coupling with G_s. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 34:132-138, 1988.
- 49. CHO, T., A. TANIMURA, and Y. SAITO. Catecholamine-induced cardiopathy accompanied with pheochromocytoma. *Acta Pathol. Jpn.* 37:123-132, 1987.
- 50. CHRISTOPHERSEN, B.O. The inhibitory effect of reduced glutathione on the lipid peroxidation of the microsomal fraction and mitochondria. *Biochem. J.* 106:515-522, 1968.
- 51. CHUANG, D., and E. COSTA. Evidence for internalization of the recognition site of β -adrenergic receptors during receptor subsensitivity induced by (-)isoproterenol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:3024-3028, 1979.
- 52. CHUANG, D.-M., W.J. KINNIER, L. FARBER, and E. COSTA. A biochemical study of receptor internalization during β -adrenergic receptor desensitization in frog erythrocytes. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 18:348-355, 1980.
- 53. CIPLEA, A.G., R. KRETZSCHMAR, W. HEIMANN, M. KIRCHENGAST, and A. SAFER. Positive effect of new calcium antagonist anipamil against isoprenaline-induced cardionecrosis in rats. *Arzneim. -Forsch. Drug Res.* 38:215-221, 1988.
- 54. CLARK, R.B. Desensitization of hormonal stimuli coupled to regulation of cyclic AMP levels. Adv. Cyc. Nucl. Prot. Phos. Res. 20:151-209, 1986.
- CLOUGH, R.L., B.G. YEE, and C.S. FOOTE. Chemistry of Singlet Oxygen.
 30. The Unstable Primary Product of Tocopherol Photooxidation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101:683-686, 1979.

- 56. COLLINS, P., and C.G. BILLINGS. Isoprenaline-induced changes in regional myocardial perfusion in the pathogenesis of myocardial necrosis. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 57:637-644, 1976.
- 57. COMBS, G.F., and S.B. COMBS. Chemical aspects of selenium. In: *The Role of Selenium in Nutrition*, New York:Academic Press, Inc., 1986, p. 1-14.
- 58. COMBS, G.F., and S.B. COMBS. Biochemical functions of selenium. In: The Role of Selenium in Nutrition, New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1986, p. 205-263.
- 59. COMBS, JR, G.F., T. NOGUCHI, and M.L. SCOTT. Mechanisms of action of selenium and vitamin E in protection of biological membranes. *Fed. Proc.* 34:2090-2095, 1975.
- 60. CONNOR, R.C.R. Focal myocytolysis and fuchsinophilic degeneration of the myocardium of patients dying with various brain lesions. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 156:261-270, 1969.
- 61. COQUIL, J.F., C. GORIDIS, G. MACK, and N.H. NEFF. Monoamine oxidase in rat arteries: evidence for different forms and selective localization. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 48:590-599, 1973.
- 62. CORDER, D.W., C.E. HEYLIGER, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Defect in the adrenergic receptor-adenylate cyclase system during development of catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart J.* 107:537-542, 1984.
- 63. CSAPO, Z., J. DUSEK, and G. RONA. Early alterations of the cardiac muscle cells in isoproterenol-induced necrosis. *Arch. Path.* 93:356-365, 1972.
- 64. CSAPO, Z., J. DUSEK, and G. RONA. Peculiar myofilament changes near the intercalated disc in isoproterenol-induced cardiac muscle cell injury. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 6:79-83, 1974.
- 65. DHALLA, N.S. Involvement of membrane systems in heart failure due to intracellular calcium overload and deficiency. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 8:661-667, 1976.
- 66. DHALLA, N.S., A. DZURBA, G.N. PIERCE, M.G. TREGASKIS, and R.E. BEAMISH. Membrane changes in myocardium during catecholamine-induced pathological hypertrophy. In: *Perspectives in Cardiovacular Research, Volume 7. Myocardial Hypertrophy and Failure*, edited by ALPERT, N.R. New York:Raven Press, 1982, p. 527-534.

- 67. DHALLA, N.S., V. PANAGIA, N. MAKINO, and R.E. BEAMISH. Sarcolemmal Na-Ca exchange and Ca-pump activities in cardiomyopathies due to intracellular Ca-overload. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 82:75-79, 1988.
- 68. DHALLA, N.S., G.N. PIERCE, V. PANAGIA, P.K. SINGAL, and R.E. BEAMISH. Calcium movements in relation to heart function. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 77:117-139, 1982.
- 69. DHALLA, N.S., J.C. YATES, S.L. LEE, and A. SINGH. Functional and subcellular changes in the isolated rat heart perfused with oxidized isoproterenol. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 10:31-41, 1978.
- 70. DIPLOCK, A.T. The role of vitamin E in biological membranes. In: *Biology of Vitamin E*, London:Pitman Books (Ciba Foundation symposium 101), 1983, p. 45-55.
- 71. DIPLOCK, A.T., and J.A. LUCY. The biochemical modes of action of vitamin E and selenium: a hypothesis. *FEBS Letters* 29:205-210, 1973.
- 72. DOBRETSOV, G.E., T.A. BORSCHEVSKAYA, V.A. PETROV, and Y.A. VLADIMIROV. The increase of phospholipid bilayer rigidity after lipid peroxidation. *FEBS Letters* 84:125-128, 1977.
- 73. DONI, M.G., A. FALANGA, F. DELAINI, E. VICENZI, M. TOMASIAK, and M.B. DONATI. The effect of vitamin E or selenium on the oxidant-antioxidant balance in rats. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 65:75-80, 1984.
- 74. DORMANDY, T.L. Free-radical oxidation and antioxidants. *The Lancet* 647-650, 1978.
- 75. DOSS, R.C., J.P. PERKINS, and T.K. HARDEN. Recovery of B-adrenergic receptors following long term exposure of astrocytoma cells to catecholamines. J. Biol. Chem. 256:12281-12286, 1981.
- 76. DOWNING, S.E., and V. CHEN. Myocardial injury following endogenous catecholamine release in rabbits. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 17:377-387, 1985.
- 77. EDWARDS, S.J., S. RATTIGAN, E.Q. COLQUHOUN, E.A. WOODCOCK, and M.G. CLARK. Characterization of alpha1-adrenergic receptors in perfused rat heart. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 20:1025-1034, 1988.
- 78. ENDOH, M., T. SHIMIZU, and T. YANAGISAWA. Characterization of adrenoceptors mediating positive inotropic responses in the ventricular myocardium of the dog. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 64:53-61, 1978.

- 79. ENDOH, M., J. WAGNER, and H.J. SCHUMANN. Influence of temperature on the positive inotropic effects mediated by alpha- and beta-adrenoceptors in the isolated rabbit papillary muscle. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 287:61-72, 1975.
- ERIN, A.N., M.M. SPIRIN, L.V. TABIDZE, and V.E. KAGAN. Formation of α-tocopherol complexes with fatty acids. A hypothetical mechanism of stabilization of biomembranes by vitamin E. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 774:96-102, 1984.
- 81. ESLER, M., G. JENNINGS, P. KORNER, P. BLOMBERY, N. SACHARIAS, and P. LEONARD. Measurement of total and organ specific norepinephrine kinetics in humans. *Am. J. Physiol.* 247:E21-E28, 1984.
- 82. EXTON, J.H. Molecular mechanisms involved in α -adrenergic responses. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 23:233-264, 1981.
- EXTON, J.H. Mechanisms involved in α-adrenergic phenomena. Am. J. Physiol. 248:E633-E647, 1985.
- 84. FAHRENHOLTZ, S.R., F.H. DOLEIDEN, A.M. TROZZOLO, and A.A. LAMOLA. On the quenching of singlet oxygen by α -tocopherol. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 20:505-509, 1974.
- FEDELESOVA, M., P.V. SULAKHE, J.C. YATES, and N.S. DHALLA. Biochemical basis of heart function. IV. Energy metabolism and calcium transport in hearts of vitamin E deficient rats. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 49:909-918, 1971.
- FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, W.C. BLACK, and D.G. WEILBAECHER. Isoproterenol-induced myocardial necrosis. A histochemical and electron microscopic study. Am. J. Pathol. 68:71-96, 1964.
- 87. FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, J.J. WALSH, and G.E. BURCH. Histochemical and electron microscopical studies on the cardiac necroses produced by sympathomimetic agents. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 156:309-332, 1969.
- 88. FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, H.S. WEILY, D.G. WEILBAECHER, J.J. WALSH, and G.E. BURCH. A histochemical and electron microscopic study of epinephrine-induced myocardial necrosis. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 1:11-22, 1970.
- 89. FERRARI, R., S. CURELLO, G.M. BOFFA, E. CONDORELLI, E. PASINI, G. GUARNIERI, and A. ALBERTINI. Oxygen free radical-mediated heart injury in animal models and during bypass surgery in humans. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 570:237-253, 1989.
- 90. FIEBIG, E.R., and U. TRENDELENBURG. The neuronal and extraneuronal uptake and metabolism of H(-)noradrenaline in the perfused rat heart. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 303:21-35, 1978.
- 91. FIEBIG, E.R., and U. TRENDELENBURG. The kinetic constants for the extraneuronal uptake and metabolism of 3H-(-)-noradrenaline in the perfused rat heart. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 303:37-45, 1978.
- 92. FISHER, A.B. Intracellular production of oxygen-derived free radicals. In: Oxygen Radicals and Tissue Injury, edited by HALLIWELL, B. Bethesda:FASEB, 1988, p. 34-39.
- 93. FLECKENSTEIN, A., J. JANKE, H.J. DORING, and O. PACHINGER. Calcium overload as the determinant factor in the production of catecholamine-induced myocardial lesions. In: *Recent Advances in Studies on Cardiac Structure and Metabolism, Volume 2. Cardiomyopathies*, edited by BAJASZ, E., and G. RONA. Baltimore:University Park Press, 1971, p. 455-466.
- 94. FLEISCH, J.H., and E. TITUS. The prevention of isoproterenol desensitization and isoproterenol reversal. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 181:425-433, 1972.
- 95. FONG, K., P.B. MCCAY, and J.L. POYER. Evidence that peroxidation of lysosomal membranes is initiated by hydroxyl free radicals produced during flavin enzyme activity. J. Biol. Chem. 248:7792-7797, 1973.
- 96. FOOTE, C.S., T. CHING, and G.G. GELLER. Chemistry of singlet oxygen XVIII. Rates of reaction and quenching of α -tocopherol and singlet oxygen. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 20:511-513, 1974.
- 97. FRAGATA, M., and F. BELLEMARE. Model of singlet oxygen scavenging by α -tocopherol in biomembranes. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* 27:93-99, 1980.
- 98. FRIPP, R.R., J.C. LEE, and S.E. DOWNING. Inotropic responsiveness of the heart in catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart J.* 101:17-21, 1981.
- 99. FUKUZAWA, K., H. CHIDA, A. TOKUMURA, and H. TSUKATANI. Antioxidative effect of α -tocopherol incorporation into lecithin liposomes on ascorbic acid-Fe2+-induced lipid peroxidation. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 206:173-180, 1981.

- 100. FUKUZAWA, K., and J.M. GEBICKI. Oxidation of tocopherol in micelles and liposomes by hydroxyl, perhydroxyl, and superoxide free radicals. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 226:242-251, 1983.
- 101. FUKUZAWA, K., K. KISHIKAWA, T. TADOKORO, A. TOKUMURA, H. TSUKATANI, and J.M. GEBICKI. The effects of α -tocopherol on site-specific lipid peroxidation induced by iron in charged micelles. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 260:153-160, 1988.
- 102. FUKUZAWA, K., S. TAKASE, and H. TSUKATANI. The effect of concentration on the antioxidant effectiveness of a-tocopherol in lipid peroxidation induced by superoxide free radicals. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 240:117-120, 1985.
- 103. GAVIN, J.B., S.M. HUMPHREY, and P.B. HERDSON. The no-reflow phenomenon in ischemic myocardium. *Int. Rev. Exp. Pathol.* 25:361-383, 1983.
- 104. GAVIN, J.B., R.W. THOMSON, S.M. HUMPHREY, and P.B. HERDSON. Changes in vascular morphology associated with the no-reflow phenomenon in ischemic myocardium. *Virchows Arch. Path. Anat. Histol.* 399:325-332, 1983.
- 105. GIASUDDIN, A.S.M., and A.T. DIPLOCK. The influence of vitamin E and selenium on the growth and plasma membrane permeability of mouse fibroblasts in culture. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 196:270-280, 1979.
- 106. GILLESPIE, J.S. Uptake of noradrenaline by smooth muscle. Br. Med. Bull. 29:136-141, 1973.
- 107. GINN, R., and J.R. VANE. Disappearance of catecholamines from the circulation. *Nature* 219:740-742, 1968.
- 108. GOLDSTEIN, B.D., M.G. ROZEN, and M.A. AMORUSO. Relation of fluorescence in lipid-containing red cell membrane extracts to in vivo peroxidation. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 93:687-694, 1979.
- 109. GOLDSTEIN, D.S., and G. EISENHOFER. Plasma catechols What do they mean?. NIPS 3:138-144, 1988.
- 110. GOLDSTEIN, D.S., G. EISENHOFER, R. STULL, C.J. FOLIO, H.R. KEISER, and I.J. KOPIN. Plasma dihydroxyphenylglycol and the intraneuronal disposition of norepinephrine in humans. J. Clin. Invest. 81:213-220, 1988.
- 111. GOLDSTEIN, D.S., R. ZIMLICHMAN, R. STULL, J. FOLIO, P.D. LEVISON, H.R. KEISER, and I.J. KOPIN. Measurement of regional neuronal removal of norepinephrine in man. J. Clin. Invest. 76:15-21, 1985.

- 112. GOLDSTEIN, J.L., R.G.W. ANDERSON, and M.S. BROWN. Coated pits, coated vesicles, and receptor-mediated endocytosis. *Nature* 279:679-685, 1979.
- 113. GOODALL, McC. Metabolic products of adrenaline and noradrenaline in human urine. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 11:416-425, 1959.
- 114. GOODALL, McC., and L. ROSEN. Urinary excretion of noradrenaline and its metabolites at ten-minute intervals after intravenous injection of dl-noradrenalin-2-C. J. Clin. Invest. 42:1578-1588, 1963.
- 115. GORELIK, G., E. BORDA, M. WALD, and L. STERIN-BORDA. Dual effects of α -adrenoceptor agonist on contractility of mice isolated atria. *Methods Find. Exp. Clin. Pharmacol.* 10:301-309, 1988.
- 116. GOVIER, W.C. A positive inotropic effect of phenylephrine mediated through alpha adrenergic receptors. *Life Sci.* 6:1361-1365, 1967.
- 117. GRAEFE, K.-H. The disposition of H(-)noradrenaline in the perfused cat and rabbit heart. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 318:71-82, 1981.
- 118. GRAEFE, K.H., H. BONISCH, and B. KELLER. Saturation kinetics of the adrenergic neurone uptake system in the perfused rabbit heart. A new method for determination of initial rates of amine uptake. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 302:263-273, 1978.
- 119. GRAHAM, D.G., S.M. TIFFNAY, JR., W.R. BELL, and W.F. GUTKNECHT. Autoxidation versus covalent binding of quinones as the mechanism of toxicity of dopamine, 6-hydroxydopamine, and related compounds toward C1300 neuroblastoma cells in vitro. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 14:644-653, 1978.
- 120. GREEN, S., A. MAZUR, and E. SHORR. Mechanism of the catalytic oxidation of adrenaline by ferritin. J. Biol. Chem. 220:237-255, 1956.
- 121. GREENHOOT, J.H., and D.D. REICHENBACH. Cardiac injury and subarachnoid hemorrhage. J. Neurosurg. 30:521-531, 1969.
- 122. GUARNIERI, C., F. FLAMIGNI, and C. ROSSONI CALDARERA. Subcellular localization of α -tocopherol and its effect on RNA synthesis in perfused rabbit heart. *Ital. J. Biochem.* 29:176-184, 1980.
- 123. GUARNIERI, C., F. FLAMIGNI, C. ROSSONI-CALDARERA, and R. FERRARI. Myocardial mitochondrial functions in α -tocopherol-deficient and -refed rabbits. *Adv. Myocardiol.* 3:621-627, 1982.

- 124. GUIMARAES, S., and M.Q. PAIVA. Kinetics of the extraneuronal O-methylating system of the dog saphenous vein. In: *Neuronal and Extraneuronal Events in Autonomic Pharmacology*, edited by FLEMING, W.W., S.Z. LANGER, K.H. GRAEFE, and N. WEINER. New York:Raven Press, 1984, p. 131-138.
- 125. GUTTERIDGE, J.M.C. Lipid peroxidation: Some problems and concepts. In: Oxygen Radicals and Tissue Injury. Proceedings of an Upjohn Symposium, edited by HALLIWELL, B. Bethesda:FASEB, 1988, p. 9-19.
- 126. HAFEMAN, D.G., R.A. SUNDE, and W.G. HOEKSTRA. Effect of dietary selenium on erythrocyte and liver glutathione peroxidase in the rat. J. Nutr. 104:580-587, 1974.
- 127. HAFT, J.I. Cardiovascular injury induced by sympathetic catecholamines. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 17:73-86, 1974.
- 128. HAFT, J.I., K. FANI, and C. ACORTA. Effect of propranolol on stress-induced intravascular platelet aggregation in the heart. *Circulation* 48(SIV):57, 1973.
- 129. HAFT, J.I., K. GERSHENGORN, and P.D. KRANZ. Protection against epinephrine-induced myocardial necrosis by drugs that inhibit platelet aggregation. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 30:838-843, 1972.
- 130. HAFT, J.I., P.D. KRANZ, and F.J. ALBERT. Intravascular platelet aggregation in the heart induced by norepinephrine. *Circulation* 46:698-708, 1961.
- HAGGENDAL, J., L. JONSSON, G. JOHANSSON, S. BJURSTROM, J. CARLSTEN, and K. THOREN TOLLING. Catecholamine-induced free radicals in myocardial cell necrosis on experimental stress in pigs. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 131:447-452, 1987.
- 132. HALLIWELL, B., and J.M.C. GUTTERIDGE. The importance of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human diseases. *Molec. Aspects Med.* 8:89-193, 1985.
- 133. HALLIWELL, B., and J.M.C. GUTTERIDGE. Iron and free radical reactions: Two aspects of antioxidant protection. *TIBS* 11:372-375, 1986.
- 134. HAMELIN, S.S.J., and A.C. CHAN. Modulation of platelet thromboxane and malonaldehyde by dietary vitamin E and linoleate. *Lipids* 18:267-269, 1983.
- 135. HANDFORTH, C.P. Isoproterenol-induced myocardial infarction in animals. Arch. Pathol. 73:161-165, 1962.

- 136. HARDEN, T.K. Agonist-induced desensitization of the β -adrenergic receptor-linked adenylate cyclase. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 35:5-32, 1983.
- 137. HARDEN, T.K., C.U. COTTON, G.L. WALDO, J.K. LUTTON, and J.P. PERKINS. Catecholamine-induced alterations in sedimentation behavior of membrane bound β -adrenergic receptors. *Science* 210:441-443, 1980.
- 138. HART, R.F., K.J. RENSKERS, E.B. NELSON, and J.A. ROTH. Localization and characterization of phenol sulfotransferase in human platelets. *Life Sci.* 24:125-130, 1979.
- 139. HARTZELL, H.C. Regulation of cardiac ion channels by catecholamines, acetylcholine and second messenger systems. *Prog. Biophys. Molec. Biol.* 52:165-247, 1988.
- 140. HASSELBACH, W. The sarcoplasmic calcium pump. A model of energy transduction in biological membranes. In: *Topics in Current Chemistry Vol.* 78, edited by BOSCHKE, F.L. New York:Springer-Verlag, 1979, p. 3-56.
- 141. HAUSDORFF, W.P., M. BOUVIER, B.F. O'DOWD, G.P. IRONS, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Phosphorylation sites on two domains of the β -adrenergic receptor are involved in distinct pathways of receptor desensitization. J. Biol. Chem. 264:12657-12665, 1989.
- 142. HEIKKILA, R.E., and G. COHEN. 6-Hydroxydopamine: Evidence for superoxide radical as an oxidative intermediate. *Science* 181:456-457, 1973.
- 143. HEMPEL, K., W. CARLE, and A. HEIDLAND. Effect of COMT-inhibition on the renal excretion of adrenaline in dogs. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 283:107-114, 1974.
- 144. HEMPEL, K., H.W. LANGE, E.F. KAYSER, L. ROGER, H. HENNEMANN, and A. HEIDLAND. Role of O-methylation in the renal excretion of catecholamines in dogs. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 277:373-386, 1973.
- 145. HERTEL, C., S.J. COULTER, and J.P. PERKINS. A comparison of catecholamine-induced internalization of β -adrenergic receptors and receptor-mediated endocytosis of epidermal growth factor in human astrocytoma cells. J. Biol. Chem. 260:12547-12553, 1985.
- 146. HESS, M.L., E. OKABE, and H.A. KONTOS. Proton and free oxygen radical interaction with the calcium transport system of cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 13:767-772, 1981.

- 147. HICKS, M., and J.M. GEBICKI. A quantitative relationship between permeability and the degree of peroxidation in ufasome membranes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 80:704-708, 1978.
- 148. HICKS, M., and J.M. GEBICKI. Inhibition of peroxidation in linoleic acid membranes by nitroxide radicals, butylated hydroxytoluene, and α -tocopherol. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 210, No.1:56-63, 1981.
- 149. HOAK, J.C., E.D. WARNER, and W.E. CONNOR. New concept of levarterenol-induced acute myocardial necrosis. *Arch. Path.* 87:332-338, 1969.
- 150. HOEKSTRA, W.G. Biochemical function of selenium and its relation to vitamin E. Fed. Proc. 34:2083-2089, 1975.
- 151. HOLL, J.E. Selective additive effect of phenylephrine to the inotropic action of isoproterenol on rabbit left atria. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 318:336-339, 1982.
- 152. HOMBURGER, V., M. LUCAS, B. CANTAU, J. BARABE, J. PENIT, and J. BOCKAERT. Further evidence that desensitization of β -adrenergic-sensitive adenylate cyclase proceeds in two steps. J. Biol. Chem. 255:10436-10444, 1980.
- 153. HORAK, A.R., and L.H. OPIE. Energy metabolism of the heart in catecholamine-induced myocardial injury. Concentration-dependent effects of epinephrine on enzyme release, mechanical function, and "oxygen wastage". Adv. Myocardiol. 4:23-43, 1983.
- 154. HOVE, E.L. Anti-vitamin E stress factors as related to lipid peroxides. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 3:328-336, 1955.
- 155. HUNTER, F.E., A. SCOTT, P.E. HOFFSTEN, F. GUERRA, J. WEINSTEN, A. SCHNEIDER, B. SCHUTZ, J. FINK, L. FORD, and E. SMITH. Studies on the mechanism of ascorbate-induced swelling and lysis of isolated liver mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 239:604-613, 1964.
- 156. IISALO, E., and A. PEKKARINEN. Enzyme action on adrenaline and noradrenaline. Studies on heart muscle in vitro. *Acta Pharmacol. et Toxicol.* 15:157-174, 1958.
- 157. IVERSON, L.L. The uptake of catechol amines at high perfusion concentrations in the rat isolated heart: A novel catechol amine uptake process. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 25:18-33, 1965.

- 158. IVERSON, L.L. Catecholamine uptake processes. Br. Med. Bull. 29:130-135, 1973.
- 159. IVERSON, L.L. Uptake of circulating catecholamines into tissues. In: Handbook of Physiology Section 7: Endocrinology Vol. VI, edited by GREEP, R.O., and E.B.ASTWOOD. Washington, D.C.:American Physiological Society, 1975, p. 713-72.
- 160. JAIN, S.K., and P. HOCHSTEIN. Polymerization of membrane components in aging red blood cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 92:247-254, 1980.
- 161. JAIN, S.K., and S.B. SHOHET. Calcium potentiates the peroxidation of erythrocyte membrane lipids. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 642:46-54, 1981.
- 162. JANATOVA, T., V. PELOUCH, and B. OSTADAL. The effect of oxidized isoprenaline on the chick embryonic heart. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 64:897-903, 1986.
- 163. JANERO, D.R., and B. BURGHARDT. Analysis of cardiac membrane phospholipid peroxidation kinetics as malondialdehyde: Nonspecificity of thiobarbituric acid-reactivity. *Lipids* 23:452-458, 1988.
- 164. JANERO, D.R., and B. BURGHARDT. Oxidative injury to myocardial membranes: direct modulation by endogenous α -tocopherol. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 21:1111-1124, 1989.
- 165. JARROTT, B. Uptake and metabolism of catecholamines in perfused hearts of different species. Br. J. Pharmacol. 38:810-821, 1970.
- 166. JOHANSSON, G., L. JONSSON, N. LANNEK, L. BLOMGREN, P. LINDBERG, and O. POUPA. Severe stress-cardiopathy in pigs. Am. Heart J. 87:451-457, 1974.
- 167. JONES, C.R., P. MOLENAAR, and R.J. SUMMERS. New views of human cardiac β -adrenoceptors. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 21:519-535, 1989.
- 168. JULICHER, R.H.M., L. STERRENBERG, J.M. KOOMEN, A. BAST, and J. NOORDHOEK. Evidence for lipid peroxidation during the calcium paradox in vitamin E-deficient rat heart. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. 326:87-89, 1984.

- 169. KAGAN, B.E., Y.V. ARCHIPENKO, V.B. RITOV, and J.P. KOZLOV. Modification of enzyme system of Ca transport in sarcoplasmic reticulum under lipid peroxidation. Molecular mechanism of Ca leakage. *Biokhimia (Moscow)* 48:320-330, 1983.
- 170. KAGAN, V.E., V.M. SAVOV, V.V. DIDENKO, Y.V. ARKHIPENKO, and F.Z. MEERSON. Calcium and lipid peroxidation in mitochondrial and microsomal membranes of the heart. *Biochem. Biophys.* 95:458-461, 1983.
- 171. KAHN, D.S., G. RONA, and C.I. CHAPPEL. Cardiac pathology induced by isoproterenol and related amines. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 156:285-293, 1969.
- 172. KAMATAKI, T., and H. KITAGAWA. Species differences in lipid peroxidation and their effect on ethyl-morphine N-demethylase activity in liver microsomes. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 23:1915-1918, 1974.
- 173. KAMMERMEIER, H., and M. OBER. Essential contribution of thrombocytes to the occurrence of catecholamine-induced cardiac necroses. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:371-376, 1985.
- 174. KAPPUS, H., and H. SIES. Toxic drug effects associated with oxygen metabolism: Redox cycling and lipid peroxidation. *Experientia* 37:1233-1241, 1981.
- 175. KATADA, T., A.G. GILMAN, Y. WATANABE, S. BAUER, and K.H. JAKOBS. Protein kinase C phosphorylates the inhibitory guanine-nucleotide-binding regulatory component and apparently suppresses its function in hormonal inhibition of adenylate cyclase. Eur. J. Biochem. 151:431-437, 1985.
- 176. KAUMANN, A.J. Potentiation of the Effects of Isoprenaline and Noradrenaline by Hydrocortisone in Cat Heart Muscle. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol* 273:134-153, 1972.
- 177. KAUMANN, A.J., and L. BIRNBAUMER. Desensitization of kitten atria to chronotropic, inotropic and adenylyl cyclase stimulating effects of (-)isoprenaline. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 293:199-202, 1976.
- 178. KIM, H.-D., and B.-J. RAH. Effects of diltiazem on isoproterenol- or Ca-induced ventricular myocardial cell injuries in isolated perfused rabbit heart: an electron microscopic study. *Anat. Rec.* 222:260-271, 1988.

- 179. KING, M.M., E.K. LAI, and P.B. MCCAY. Singlet oxygen production associated with enzyme-catalyzed lipid peroxidation in liver microsomes. J. Biol. Chem. 250:6496-6502, 1975.
- 180. KIRKENDOL, P.L., and R.A. WOODBURY. Hemodynamic effects of infused norepinephrine in dogs on cardiopulmonary bypass. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 181:369-376, 1972.
- 181. KLEIJNEN, J., P. KNIPSCHILD, and G. TER RIET. Vitamin E and Cardiovascular Disease. Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol. 37:541-544, 1989.
- 182. KLINE, I.K. Myocardial alterations associated with pheochromocytomas. Am. J. Pathol. 38:539-551, 1961.
- 183. KLONER, R.A., C.E. GANOTE, and R.B. JENNINGS. The no-reflow phenomenon after temporary coronary occlusion in the dog. J. Clin. Invest. 54:1496-1508, 1974.
- 184. KLONER, R.A., C.E. GANOTE, R.B. JENNINGS, and K.A. REIMER. Demonstration of the no-reflow phenomenon in the dog heart after temporary ischemia. *Rec. Adv. Stud. Card. Struct. Metab.* 100:463-474, 1975.
- 185. KLOUDA, M.A., and G. BRYNJOLFSSON. Cardiotoxic effects of electrical stimulation of the stellate ganglia. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 156:271-280, 1969.
- 186. KONDO, T., Y. OGAWA, S. SUGIYAMA, T. ITO, T. SATAKE, and T. OZAWA. Mechanism of isoproterenol induced myocardial damage. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 21:248-254, 1987.
- 187. KOPIN, I.J. Storage and metabolism of catecholamines: the role of monoamine oxidase. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 16:179-191, 1964.
- 188. KOPIN, I.J., J. AXELROD, and E. GORDON. The metabolic fate of H³-epinephrine and C¹⁴-metanephrine in the rat. J. Biol. Chem. 236:2109-2113, 1961.
- 189. KOPIN, I.J., G. HERTTING, and E.K. GORDON. Fate of norepinephrine-H³ in the isolated perfused rat heart. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 138:34-40, 1961.
- 190. KRUG, A., W.M. DE ROCHEMONT, and G. KORB. Blood supply of the myocardium after temporary coronary occlusion. *Circ. Res.* 19:57-62, 1966.

- 191. KUCHEL, O., and N.T. BUU. Conjugation of norepinephrine and other catecholamines. In: Frontiers of Clinical Neuroscience Vol.2 Norepinephrine, edited by ZIEGLER, M.G., and C.R. LAKE. Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins, 1984, p. 250-270.
- 192. KUCHEL, O., N.T. BUU, P. HAMET, P. LAROCHELLE, and J. GENEST. Conjugation of catecholamines, a variable to be accounted for in human hypertension. *Prog. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 17:66-74, 1980.
- 193. KUCHEL, O., N.T. BUU, P. HAMET, W. NOWACZYNSKI, and J. GENEST. Free and conjugated dopamine in pheochromocytoma, primary aldosteronism and essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 1:267-273, 1979.
- 194. KURAHASHI, K., T. MAGARIBUCHI, K. SONO, and M. FUJIWARA. Extraneuronal O-methylating system of isoprenaline in the perfused rat heart: mathematical consideration on time course. In: *Neuronal and Extraneuronal Events in Automatic Pharmacology*, edited by FLEMING, W.W., S.Z. LANGER, K.H. GRAEFE, and N. WEINER. New York:Raven Press, 1984, p. 121-129.
- 195. LABROSSE, E., J. AXELROD, I.J. KOPIN, and S.S. KETY. Metabolism of 7-H-epinephrine-d-bitartrate in normal young men. J. Clin. Invest. 40:253-260, 1961.
- 196. LANDSBERG, L. Extraneuronal uptake and metabolism of [3H]l-norepinephrine by the rat duodenal mucosa. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 25:729-731, 1976.
- 197. LEDDA, F., P. MARCHETTI, and A. MUGELLI. Studies on the positive inotropic effect of phenylephrine: a comparison with isoprenaline. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 54:83-90, 1975.
- 198. LEE, J.C., and S.E. DOWNING. Ventricular function in norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathic rabbits. Am. J. Physiol. 242:H191-H196, 1982.
- 199. LEE, J.C., R.R. FRIPP, and S.E. DOWNING. Myocardial responses to alpha-adrenoceptor stimulation with methoxamine hydrochloride in lambs. Am. J. Physiol. 242:H405-H410, 1982.
- 200. LEEB-LUNDBERG, L.M.F., S. COTECCHIA, A. DEBLASI, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Regulation of adrenergic function by phosphorylation. I. Agonist promoted desensitization and phosphorylation of α -adrenergic receptors coupled to inositol phospholipid metabolism in DDT MF-2 smooth muscle cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262:3098-3105, 1987.

- 201. LEEB-LUNDBERG, L.M.F., S. COTECCHIA, J.W. LOMASNEY, J.F. DEBERNARDIS, R.J. LEFKOWITZ, and M.G. CARON. Phorbol esters promote α_1 -adrenergic receptor phosphorylation and receptor uncoupling from inositol phospholipid metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 82:5651-5655, 1985.
- 202. LEFKOWITZ, R.J., and M.G. CARON. Adrenergic receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 263:4993-4996, 1988.
- 203. LEFKOWITZ, R.J., W.P. HAUSDORFF, and M.G. CARON. Role of phosphorylation in desensitization of the β -adrenoceptor. *TIPS* 11:190-194, 1990.
- 204. LEHR, D. Studies on the cardiotoxicity of alpha- and beta-adrenergic amines. In: Cardiac Toxicology Vol 2, edited by BALAZS, T. Boca Raton:CRC Press, 1981, p. 75-112.
- 205. LEHR, D., M. KRUKOWSKI, and R. COLON. Correlation of myocardial and renal necrosis with tissue electrolyte changes. J. Am. Med. Asso. 197:145-152, 1966.
- 206. LEVIN, J.A., and S.E. WILSON. The effect of monoamine oxidase and catechol O-methyltransferase inhibitors on the accumulation and metabolism of [1-3H] norepinephrine by the adventitia and media of rabbit aorta. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 203:598-609, 1977.
- LEVIN, W., A.Y.H. LU, M. JACOBSON, R. KUNTZMAN, J.L. POYER, and P.B. MCCAY. Lipid peroxidation and the degradation of cytochrome P-450 heme. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 158:842-852, 1973.
- 208. LEVINE, M.A.H., and F.H.H. LEENEN. Role of β_1 -receptors and vagal tone in cardiac inotropic and chronotropic responses to a β_2 -agonist in humans. *Circ. Res.* 79:107-115, 1989.
- LEVITSKY, D.O., A.V. LEBEDEV, V.A. LOGINOV, L.I. NIKOLAEVA, and V.N. SMIRNOV. Effect of compounds inducing Ca transport on model and biological membranes and on cardiac muscle. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 15 (S1):265-271, 1983.
- 210. LIGHTMAN, S.L., and L.L. IVERSEN. The role of uptake₂ in the extraneuronal metabolism of catecholamines in the isolated rat heart. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 37:638-649, 1969.

- 211. LIPASTI, J.A., T.J. NEVALAINEN, and K.A. ALANEN. The relationship between ischemic contracture and no-reflow phenomenon in isolated rat heart. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 77:404-410, 1982.
- 212. LITTLE, C., and P.J. O'BRIEN. An intracellular GSH-peroxidase with a lipid peroxide substrate. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 31:145-150, 1968.
- 213. LITTLE, W.C., JR., A. RASSI, and G.L. FREEMAN. Comparison of effects of dobutamine and ouabain on left ventricular contraction and relaxation in closed-chest dogs. J. Clin. Invest. 80:613-620, 1987.
- 214. LOHSE, M.J., J.L. BENOVIC, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Multiple pathways of rapid β -adrenergic receptor desensitization. J. Biol. Chem. 265:3202-3209, 1990.
- 215. LUCY, J.A. Functional and structural aspects of biological membranes: a suggested structural role for vitamin E in the control of membrane permeability and stability. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 203:4-11, 1972.
- LUCY, J.A. Structural interactions between vitamin E and polyunsaturated phospholipids. In: *Tocopherol, Oxygen and Biomembranes*, edited by DE DUVE, C., and O. HAYAISHI. Amsterdam:Elsevier/North-Holland Biomedical Press, 1978, p. 109-120.
- 217. MAAS, J.W., and D.H. LANDIS. The metabolism of circulating norepinephrine by human subjects. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 177:600-612, 1971.
- 218. MACHLIN, L.J., and A. BENDICH. Free radical tissue damage: protective role of antioxidant nutrients. *FASEB. J.* 1:441-445, 1987.
- 219. MAJEWSKI, H., L. HEDLER, A. STEPPELER, and K. STARKE. Metabolism of endogenous and exogenous noradrenaline in the rabbit perfused heart. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 319:125-129, 1982.
- 220. MAKINO, N., R. DHRUVARAJAN, V. ELIMBAN, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Alterations of sarcolemmal Na-Ca exchange in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 1:225-232, 1985.
- 221. MALING, H.M., and B. HIGHMAN. Exaggerated ventricular arrhythmias and myocardial fatty changes after large doses of norepinephrine and epinephrine in unanesthetized dogs. *Am. J. Physiol.* 194:590-586, 1958.

- 222. MARSH, J.D., W.H. BARRY, E.J. NEER, R.W. ALEXANDER, and T.W. SMITH. Desensitization of chick embryo ventricle to the physiological and biochemical effects of isoproterenol. *Circ. Res.* 47:493-501, 1980.
- 223. MARSH, J.D., W.H. BARRY, and T.W. SMITH. Desensitization to the inotropic effect of isoproterenol in cultured ventricular cells. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 223:60-67, 1982.
- 224. MARUFFO, C.A. Fine Structural study of myocardial changes induced by isoproterenol in rhesus monkeys. Am. J. Pathol. 50:27-37, 1967.
- 225. McCAY, P.B. Vitamin E: Interactions with free radicals and ascorbate. Ann. Rev. Nutr. 5:323-340, 1985.
- 226. McCAY, P.B., and M.M. KING. Vitamin E: Its role as a biological free radical scavenger and its relationship to the microsomal mixed-function oxidase system. In: Vitamin E, A Comprehensive Treatise, edited by MACHLIN, L.J. New York:Marcel Dekker, Inc., 1977, p. 289-317.
- 227. McCORD, J.M., and I. FRIDOVICH. Superoxide dismutase. An enzymatic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J. Biol. Chem. 244:6049-6055, 1969.
- 228. MELVILLE, K.I., H.L. GARVEY, H.E. SHISTER, and J. KNAACK. Central nervous system stimulation and cardiac ischemic changes in monkeys. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 156:241-259, 1969.
- 229. MERITS, I. Formation or metabolism of [¹⁴C] dopamine 3-O-sulfate in dog, rat and guinea pig. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 25:829-833, 1976.
- 230. MICKEY, J., R. TATE, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Subsensitivity of adenylate cyclase and decreased β -adrenergic receptor binding after chronic exposure to (-)-isoproterenol in vitro. J. Bio. Chem. 250:5727-5729, 1975.
- 231. MISRA, H.P., and I. FRIDOVICH. The role of superoxide anion in the autoxidation of epinephrine and a simple assay for superoxide dismutase. J. Biol. Chem. 247:3170-3175, 1972.
- 232. MOSCHOS, C., B. HAIDER, Y. KHAN, M.M. LYONS, and T.J. REGAN. Relation of platelets to catecholamine-induced myocardial injury. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 12:243-246, 1978.
- 233. MUGELLI, A., F. LEDDA, and L. MANTELLI. Frequency dependence of the α -adrenoceptor-mediated positive inotropic effect in guinea pig heart. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 36:215-220, 1976.

- 234. MUKHERJEE, C., M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Catecholamine-induced subsensitivity of adenylate cyclase associated with loss of β-adrenergic receptor binding sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 72:1945-1949, 1975.
- 235. MUKHERJEE, C., M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Regulation of adenylate cyclase coupled β -adrenergic receptors by β -adrenergic catecholamines. *Endocrinology* 99:347-357, 1976.
- 236. MULLER, E. Histochemical studies on the experimental heart infarction in the rat. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 254:439-447, 1966.
- 237. NAHAS.G.G., J.G. BRUNSON, W.M. KING, and H.M. CAVERT. Functional and morphologic changes in heart lung preparations following administration of adrenal hormones. *Am. J. Pathol.* 34:717-729, 1958.
- 238. NAKANO, M., T. NOGUCHI, K. SUGIOKA, H. FUKUYAMA, M. SATO, Y. SHIMIZU, Y. TSUJI, and H. INABA. Spectroscopic evidence for the generation of singlet oxygen in the reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate-dependent microsomal lipid peroxidation system. J. Biol. Chem. 250:2404-2406, 1974.
- 239. NAKASHIMA, M., H. TSURU, and T. SHIGEI. Stimulant action of methoxamine in the isolated atria of normal and 6-propyl-2-thiouracil. Jap. J. Pharmacol. 23:307-312, 1973.
- 240. NELSON, J.S., and V.W. FISCHER. Vitamin E. In: Vitamins in Medicine, Volume 1,(4th ed.), edited by BARKER, B.M., and D.A. BENDER. London:William Heinemann Medical Books LTD, 1980, p. 147-171.
- 241. NIRDLINGER, E.L., and P.O. BRAMANTE. Subcellular myocardial ionic shifts and mitochondrial alterations in the course of isoproterenol-induced cardiopathy of the rat. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 6:49-60, 1974.
- 242. NISHIZUKA, Y. The role of protein kinase C in cell surface signal transduction and tumor promotion. *Nature* 308:396-698, 1984.
- 243. NORONHA, A.A., E.M. STEEN-DUTRA, and N. WOOLF. Epinephrine-induced cytotoxicity of rat plasma. *Lab. Invest.* 59:817-823, 1988.
- 244. NORTHRUP, J.K., M.D. SMIGEL, P.C. STERNWEIS, and A.G. GILMAN. The subunits of the stimulatory regulatory component of adenylate cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 258:11369-11376, 1983.

- 245. NORTHRUP, J.K., P.C. STERNWEIS, and A.G. GILMAN. The subunit of the stimulatory regulatory component of adenylate cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 258:11361-11368, 1983.
- 246. OH, S., H.E. GANTHER, and W.G. HOEKSTRA. Selenium as a component of glutathione peroxidase isolated from ovine erythrocytes. *Biochemistry* 13:1825-1829, 1974.
- 247. OLIVEIRA, M.M., W.B. WEGLICKI, A. NASON, and P.P. NAIR. Distribution of α -tocopherol in beef heart mitochondria. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* 180:98-113, 1969.
- 248. OPIE, L.H. Proposed role of calcium in reperfusion injury. Int. J. Cardiol. 23:159-164, 1989.
- 249. OPIE, L.H., B. WALPOTH, and R. BARSACCHI. Calcium and catecholamines: Relevance to cardiomyopathies and significance in therapeutic strategies. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17(S2):21-34, 1985.
- 250. OSSWALD, W., and M.M. CARAMONA. Role of MAO A and of MAO B in the metabolism of noradrenaline. In: *Neuronal and Extraneuronal Events in Autonomic Pharmacology*, edited by FLEMING, W.W., S.Z. LANGER, K.H. GRAEFE, and N. WEINER. New York:Raven Press, 1984, p. 23-36.
- 251. PACKER, J.E., T.F. SLATER, and R.L. WILLSON. Direct observation of a free radical interaction between vitamin E and vitamin C. *Nature* 278:737-738, 1979.
- 252. PAIVA, M.Q., and S. GUIMARAES. A comparative study of the uptake and metabolism of noradrenaline and adrenaline by the isolated saphenous vein of the dog. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 303:221-228, 1978.
- 253. PANAGIA, V., G.N. PIERCE, K.S. DHALLA, P.K. GANGULY, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Adaptive changes in subcellular calcium transport during catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:411-420, 1985.
- 254. PARK, J.H., B.P. MERIWETHER, C.R. PARK, S.H. MUDD, and F. LIPMANN. Glutathione and ethylenediaminetetraacetate antagonism of uncoupling of oxidative phosphorylation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 22:403-404, 1956.
- 255. PARR, J.J., and P.R. URQUILLA. Analysis of the adrenergic receptors of pacemaker and myocardial cells. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 17:1-7, 1972.

- 256. PEARCE, R.M. Experimental myocarditis: a study of the histological changes following intravenous injections of adrenalin. J. Exp. Med. 8:400-409, 1906.
- 257. PEARSE, B.M., and M.S. BRETSCHER. Membrane recycling by coated vesicles. Ann. Rev. Biochem. 50:85-101, 1981.
- 258. PERSOON-ROTHERT, M., E.J.M. VAN DER VALK-KOKSHOORN, J.M. EGAS-KENNIPHAAS, I. MAUVE, and A. VAN DER LAARSE. Isoproterenol-induced cytotoxicity in neonatal rat heart cell cultures is mediated by free radical formation. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 21:1285-1291, 1989.
- 259. PHILIPSON, K.D., and R. WARD. Effects of fatty acids on Na-Ca exchange and Ca permeability of cardiac sarcolemmal vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. 260:9666-9671, 1985.
- 260. PICK, R., J.E. JALIL, J.S. JANICKI, and K.T. WEBER. The fibrillar nature and structure of isoproterenol-induced myocardial fibrosis in the rat. *Am. J. Pathol.* 134:365-371, 1989.
- 261. PLAA, G.L., and H. WITSCHI. Chemicals, drugs, and lipid peroxidation. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 16:125-141, 1976.
- 262. POWIS, G. Hepatic microsomal metabolism of epinephrine and adrenochrome by superoxide-dependent and -independent pathways. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 28:83-89, 1979.
- 263. RAAB, W. The pathogenic significance of adrenaline and related substances in the heart muscle. *Exp. Med. Surg.* 1:188-2250, 1943.
- 264. RAAB, W. Key position of catecholamines in functional and degenerative cardiovascular pathology. Am. J. Cardiol. 5:571-627, 1960.
- 265. RAAB, W., E. STARK, W.H. MACMILLAN, and W.R. GIGEE. Sympathogenic origin and antiadrenergic prevention of stress-induced myocardial lesions. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 8:203-211, 1961.
- 266. RABINOWITZ, B., L. CHUCK, M. KLIGERMAN, and W.W. PARMLEY. Positive inotropic effects of methoxamine: evidence for α -adrenergic receptors in ventricular myocardium. *Am. J. Physiol.* 229:582-585, 1975.
- 267. RALEIGH, J.A., W. KREMERS, and B. GABOURY. Dose-rate and oxygen effects in models of lipid membranes: linoleic acid. *Int. J. Radiat. Biol.* 31:203-213, 1977.

- 268. REICHENBACH, D., and E.P. BENDITT. Myofibrillar degeneration: A common form of cardiac muscle injury. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 156:164-176, 1969.
- 269. REICHENBACH, D.D., and E.P. BENDITT. Catecholamines and cardiomyopathy: The pathogenesis and potential importance of myofibrillar degeneration. *Hum. Pathol.* 1:125-150, 1970.
- 270. RENNICK, B., and A. QUEBBEMANN. Site of excretion of catechol and catecholamines: Renal metabolism of catechol. *Am. J. Physiol.* 213:1307-1312, 1970.
- 271. RENSKERS, K.J., K.D. FEOR, and J.A. ROTH. Sulfation of dopamine and other biogenic amines by human brain phenol sulfotransferase. J. Neurochem. 34:1362-1368, 1980.
- 272. RICE-EVANS, C., and P. HOCHSTEIN. Alterations in erythrocyte membrane fluidity by phenylhydrazine-induced peroxidation of lipids. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 100:1537-1542, 1981.
- 273. ROMAN, S., M.J.B. KUTRYK, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Lysosomal changes during the development of catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. In: *Pathogenesis of stress-induced heart disease*, edited by BEAMISH, R.E., V. PANAGIA, and N.S. DHALLA. Boston:Martinus Nijhoff Publishing, 1984, p. 270-280.
- 274. RONA, G. Catecholamine cardiotoxicity. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:291-306, 1985.
- 275. RONA, G., M. BOUTET, I. HUTTNER, and H. PETERS. Pathogenesis of isoproterenol-induced myocardial alterations: functional and morphological correlates. In: *Myocardial metabolism*, edited by DHALLA, N.S. Baltimore:University Park Press, 1972, p. 507-525.
- 276. RONA, G., C.I. CHAPPEL, T. BALAZS, and R. GAUDRY. An infarct-like myocardial lesion and other toxic manifestations produced by isoproterenol in the rat. *Arch. Pathol.* 67:443-455, 1959.
- 277. ROSENBLUM, I., A. WOHL, and A.A. STEIN. Studies in cardiac necrosis I. Production of cardiac lesions with sympathomimetic amines. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 7:1-8, 1965.
- 278. ROTRUCK, J.T., W.G. HOEKSTRA, A.L. POPE, H. GANTHER, A. SWANSON, and D. HAFEMAN. Relationship of selenium to GSH peroxidase. *Fed. Proc.* 31:691Abs, 1972.

- 279. ROTRUCK, J.T., A.L. POPE, H.E. GANTHER, A.B. SWANSON, D.G. HAFEMAN, and W.G. HOEKSTRA. Selenium: Biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase. *Science* 179:588-590, 1973.
- 280. SALMINEN, A., H. KAINULAINEN, A.U. ARSTILA, and V. VIHKO. Vitamin E deficiency and the susceptibility to lipid peroxidation of mouse cardiac and skeletal muscles. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 122:565-570, 1984.
- 281. SAMUELS, M.A. Neurogenic heart disease: a unifying hypothesis. Am. J. Cardiol. 60:15J-19J, 1987.
- 282. SAXON, M.E. Stabilizing effect of antioxidants and inhibitors of prostaglandin synthesis on after-contractions in Ca²⁺-overloaded myocardium. *Basic Res. Cardiol.* 80:345-352, 1985.
- 283. SCHENK, E.A., R. GALBREATH, and A.J. MOSS. Cardiovascular effects of sustained norepinephrine infusions. III. Lactate dehydrogenase isoenzyme release. *Circ. Res.* 18:616-619, 1966.
- 284. SCHENK, E.A., and A.J. MOSS. Cardiovascular effects of sustained norepinephrine infusion. II. Morphology. Circ. Res. 18:605-615, 1966.
- 285. SCHIMKE, I., E. SCHIMKE, B. PAPIES, and V. MORITZ. Importance of the antioxidative potential for free radical induced heart damage. *Biomed. Biochim.* Acta 46:S576-S579, 1987.
- 286. SCHULZE, W., B. OSTADAL, and V. PELOUCH. Adenylate cyclase activity and localization in necrotic and non-necrotic areas of rat myocardium after injection of high doses of isoproterenol. *Biomed. Biochim. Acta* 43:67-75, 1984.
- 287. SCHUMANN, H-.J., and M. ENDOH. α -Adrenoceptors in the ventricular myocardium: Clonidine, naphazoline and methoxamine as partial α -agonists exerting a competitive dualism in action to phenylephrine. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 36:413-421, 1976.
- 288. SCHUMANN, H.J., M. ENDOH, and J. WAGNER. Positive inotropic effects of phenylephrine in the isolated rabbit papillary muscle mediated both by alphaand beta-adrenoceptors. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 284:133-148, 1974.
- 289. SCHWARZ, K. The cellular mechanisms of vitamin E action: Direct and indirect effects of α -tocopherol on mitochondrial respiration. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 203:45-52, 1972.

- 290. SCOTT, M.L., T. NOGUCHI, and G.F., JR. COMBS. New evidence concerning mechanisms of action of vitamin E and selenium. *Vitam. Horm.* 32:429-444, 1974.
- 291. SHANLIN, R.J., M.J. SOLE, M. RAHIMIFAR, C.H. TATOR, and S.M. FACTOR. Increased intracranial pressure elicits hypertension, increased sympathetic activity, electrocardiographic abnormalities and myocardial damage in rats. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 12:727-736, 1988.
- 292. SHARMAN, D.F. The catabolism of catecholamines. Recent studies. Br. Med. Bull. 29:110-115, 1973.
- 293. SHARMAN, D.F. The metabolism of circulating catecholamines. In: Handbook of Physiology Section 7: Endocrinology Vol. VI, edited by GREEP, R.O., and E.B. ASTWOOD. Washington, D.C.:American Physiological Society, 1975, p. 699-712.
- 294. SHEAR, M., P.A. INSEL, K.L. MELMON, and P. COFFINO. Agonist-specific refractoriness induced by isoproterenol. Studies with mutant cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 251:7572-7576, 1976.
- 295. SHIBATA, S., D.G. SERIGUCHI, S. IWADARE, Y. ISHIDA, and T. SHIBATA. The regional and species differences on the activation of myocardial alpha-adrenoceptors by phenylephrine and methoxamine. *Gen. Pharmacol.* 14:173-180, 1980.
- 296. SHINITZKY, M., and Y. BARENHOLZ. Fluidity parameters of lipid regions determined by fluorescence polarization. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 515:367-394, 1978.
- 297. SIBLEY, D.R., J.L. BENOVIC, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Regulation of transmembrane signaling by receptor phosphorylation. *Cell* 48:913-922, 1987.
- 298. SIBLEY, D.R., J.R. PETERS, P. NAMBI, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Desensitization of turkey erythrocyte adenylate cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 259:9742-9749, 1984.
- 299. SIBLEY, D.R., R.H. STRASSER, J.L. BENOVIC, K. DANIEL, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of the β -adrenergic receptor regulates its functional coupling to adenylate cyclase and subcellular distribution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:9408-9412, 1986.

- 300. SILVA, P., L. LANDSBERG, and A. BESARAB. Excretion and metabolism of catecholamines by the isolated perfused rat kidney. J. Clin. Invest. 64:850-857, 1979.
- 301. SIMONS, M., and S.E. DOWNING. Coronary vasoconstriction and catecholamine cardiomyopathy. Am. Heart J. 109:297-304, 1985.
- 302. SINGAL, P.K., R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Potential oxidative pathways of catecholamines in the formation of lipid peroxides and genesis of heart disease. In: *Myocardial Injury Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, 161st ed.), edited by SPITZER, J.J. :, 1991, p. 391-401.
- 303. SINGAL, P.K., K.S. DHILLON, R.E. BEAMISH, N. KAPER, and N.S. DHALLA. Myocardial cell damage and cardiovascular changes due to i.v. infusion of adrenochrome in rats. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 63:167-176, 1982.
- 304. SINGAL, P.K., N. KAPUR, K.S. DHILLON, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Role of free radicals in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 60:1390-1397, 1982.
- 305. SINGAL, P.K., J.C. YATES, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Influence of reducing agents on adrenochrome-induced changes in the heart. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 105:664-669, 1981.
- 306. SKOMEDAL, T., and J.B. OSNES. Qualitative differences between the inotropic responses in rat papillary muscles to α -adrenoceptor and β -adrenoceptor stimulation by both noradrenaline and adrenaline. Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol. 52:57-67, 1983.
- 307. SKOMEDAL, T., J.B. OSNES, and I. OYE. Differences between α -adrenergic and β -adrenergic inotropic effects in rat heart papillary muscles. *Acta Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 50:1-12, 1982.
- 308. SLATER, E.C. The measurement of the cytochrome oxidase activity of enzyme preparations. *Biochem. J.* 44:305-318, 1949.
- 309. SOBEL, B., E. JEQUIER, A. SJOERDSMA, and W. LOVENBERG. Effect of catecholamines and adrenergic blocking agents on oxidative phosphorylation in rat heart mitochondria. *Circ. Res.* XIX:1050-1061, 1966.
- 310. STADEL, J.M., B. STRULOVICI, P. NAMBI, T.N. LAVIN, M.M. BRIGGS, M.C. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Desensitization of the β -adrenergic receptor of frog erythrocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 258:3032-3038, 1983.

- 311. STANTON, H.C., and A. SCHWARTZ. Effects of a hydrazine monoamine oxidase inhibitor (phenelzine) on isoproterenol-induced myocardiopathies in the rat. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 157:649-658, 1967.
- 312. STARKE, K., L. HEDLER, and H. MAJEWSKI. Formation of deaminated catechols from noradrenaline in guinea pig atria and rabbit hearts. In: *Neuronal and Extraneuronal Events in Autonomic Pharmacology*, edited by FLEMING, W.W., S.Z. LANGER, K.H. GRAEFE, and N. WEINER. New York:Raven Press, 1984, p. 13-21.
- 313. STARKE, K., L. HEDLER, and A. STEPPELER. Metabolism of endogenous and exogenous noradrenaline in guinea-pig atria. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 317:193-198, 1981.
- 314. STEEN, E., N. WOOLF, T. POWELL, and P.M. ROWLES. The effect of a calcium antagonist (D600) on isoprenaline-induced myocardial necrosis in the rat. Br. J. Exp. Pathol. 60:335-339, 1979.
- 315. STEVENS, B., R.D. SMALL, and S.R. PEREZ. The photoperoxidation of unsaturated organic molecules XIII O_2 quenching by α -tocopherol. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 20:515-517, 1974.
- STILES, G.L., M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. β-Adrenergic receptors: Biochemical mechanisms of physiological regulation. *Physiol. Rev.* 64:661-743, 1984.
- 317. STRADER, C.D., I.S. SIGAL, A.D. BLAKE, A.H. CHEUNG, R.B. REGISTER, E. RANDS, B.A. ZEMCIK, M.R. CANDELORE, and R.A.F. DIXON. The carboxyl terminus of the hamster β -adrenergic receptor expressed in mouse L cells is not required to receptor sequestration. *Cell* 49:855-863, 1987.
- 318. STRULOVICI, B., J.M. STADEL, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Functional integrity of desensitized β-adrenergic receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 258:6410-6414, 1983.
- 319. SU, Y.-S., T.K. HARDEN, and J.P. PERKINS. Catecholamine-specific desensitization of adenylate cyclase: Evidence for a multiple step process. J. Biol. Chem. 255:7410-7419, 1980.
- 320. SYLVEN, C., and J. GLAVIND. Peroxide formation, vitamin E and myocardial damage in the rat. Int. J. Vit. Nutr. Res. 47:9-16, 1977.
- 321. SZAKACS, J.E., and B. MEHLMAN. Pathologic changes induced by 1-norepinephrine. Am. J. Cardiol. 10:619-627, 1960.

- 322. TAKEO, S., L. FLIEGEL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Effects of adrenochrome on rat heart sarcolemmal ATPase activities. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 29:559-564, 1980.
- 323. TAKEO, S., G.M.L. TAAM, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Effects of adrenochrome on calcium accumulating and adenosine triphosphatase activities of the rat heart microsomes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 214:688-693, 1980.
- 324. TAKEO, S., G.M.L. TAAM, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Effect of adrenochrome on calcium accumulation by heart mitochondria. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 30:157-163, 1981.
- 325. TAN, K.H., D.J. MEYER, J. BELIN, and B. KETTERER. Inhibition of microsomal lipid peroxidation by glutathione and glutathione transferases B and AA. Role of endogenous phospholipase A₂. *Biochem. J.* 220:243-252, 1984.
- 326. TAPPEL, A.L. Free-radical lipid peroxidation damage and its inhibition by vitamin E and selenium. Fed. Proc. 24:73-78, 1965.
- 327. TAPPEL, A.L. Vitamin E and free radical peroxidation of lipids. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 203:12-28, 1972.
- 328. TAPPEL, A.L. Measurement of and Protection from In Vivo Lipid Peroxidation. In: *Biochemical and Clinical Aspects of Oxygen*, edited by CAUGHEY, W.F.R. New York: American Press, Inc., 1979, p. 679-698.
- 329. TAPPEL, A.L. Measurement of and protection from in vivo lipid peroxidation. In: *Free Radicals in Biology, Vol.IV*, edited by PRYOR, W.A. New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1980, p. 1-47.
- 330. TAPPEL, A.L. Vitamin E and selenium protection from in vivo lipid peroxidation. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 18-31, 1980.
- 331. TIPTON, K.F. Biochemical aspects of monoamine oxidase. Br. Med. Bull. 29:116-119, 1973.
- 332. TIPTON, K.F. Monoamine oxidase. In: Handbook of Physiology Section 7: Endocrinology Vol. VI, edited by GREEP, R.O., and E.B. ASTWOOD. Washington, D.C.: American Physiological Society, 1975, p. 677-697.
- 333. TODD, G.L. Morphological correlates of catecholamine-induced heart cell damage. In: *Pathogenesis of stress-induced heart disease*, edited by BEAMISH, R.E., V. PANAGIA, and N.S. DHALLA. Boston:Martinus Nijhoff Publishing, 1984, p. 237-250.

- 334. TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. I. Morphology, quantification and regional distribution of acute contraction band lesions. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 17:317-338, 1985.
- 335. TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. II. Temporal development of isoproterenol-induced contraction band lesions correlated with ECG, hemodynamic and biochemical changes. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:647-656, 1985.
- 336. TODD, G.L., G.E. CULLAN, and G.M. CULLAN. Isoproterenol-induced myocardial necrosis and membrane permeability alterations in the isolated perfused rabbit heart. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 33:43-54, 1980.
- 337. TOHMEH, J.F., and P.E. CRYER. Biphasic adrenergic modulation of β -adrenergic receptors in man. Agonist-induced early increment and late decrement in B-adrenergic receptor number. J. Clin. Invest. 65:836-840, 1980.
- 338. TRENDELENBURG, U. A kinetic analysis of the extraneuronal uptake and metabolism of catecholamines. *Rev. Physiol. Biochem. Pharmacol.* 87:33-115, 1980.
- 339. TRENDELENBURG, U. Metabolizing Systems. In: Neuronal and Extraneuronal Events in Autonomic Pharmacology, edited by FLEMING, W.W., S.Z. LANGER, K.H. GRAEFE, and N. WEINER. New York:Raven Press, 1984, p. 93-109.
- 340. TSE, J., J.R. POWELL, C.A. BASTE, R.E. PRIEST, and J.F. KUO. Isoproterenol-induced cardiac hypertrophy: Modifications in characteristics of β -adrenergic receptor, adenylate cyclase, and ventricular contraction. *Endocrinology* 105:246-255, 1979.
- 341. URANO, S., and M. MATSUO. Membrane stabilization of vitamin E. In: Clinical and Nutritional Aspects of Vitamin E, edited by HAYAISHI, O., and M. MINO. New York:Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., 1987, p. 281-284.
- 342. VALERINO, D.M., and J.J. MCCORMACK. Xanthine oxidase-mediated oxidation of epinephrine. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 20:47-55, 1971.
- 343. VAN KUIJK, FR.J.G.M., A. SEVANIAN, G.J. HANDELMAN, and E.A. DRATZ. A new role for phospholipase A₂: Protection of membranes from lipid peroxidation damage. *TIBS* 12:31-34, 1987.

- 344. VAN VLEET, J.F., A.H. REBAR, and V.J. FERRANS. Acute cobalt and isoproterenol cardiotoxicity in swine: Protection by selenium-vitamin E supplementation and potentiation by stress-susceptible phenotype. Am. J. Vet. Res. 38:991-1002, 1977.
- 345. VAN VLIET, P.D., H.B. BURCHELL, and J.L. TITUS. Focal myocarditis associated with pheochromocytoma. N. Engl. J. Med. 274:1102-1108, 1966.
- 346. VARLEY, K.G., and N.S. DHALLA. Excitation contraction coupling in heart. XII. Subcellular calcium transport in isoproterenol-induced myocardial necrosis. *Exp. Mol. Pathol.* 19:94-105, 1973.
- 347. VERBEUREN, T.J., and P.M. VANHOUTTE. Deamination of released ³H-noradrenaline in the canine saphenous vein. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 318:148-157, 1982.
- 348. WAGNER, J., and O.E. BRODDE. On the presence and distribution of α -adrenoceptors in the heart of various mammalian species. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 302:239-254, 1978.
- 349. WAGNER, J., M. ENDOH, and D. REINHARDT. Stimulation by phenylephrine of adrenergic α and β -receptors in the isolated perfused rabbit heart. Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol. 282:307-310, 1974.
- 350. WAGNER, J., and D. REINHARDT. Characterization of the adrenoceptors mediating the positive ino- and chronotropic effect of phenylephrine on isolated atria from guinea pigs and rabbits by means of adrenolytic drugs. *Naunyn-Schmiedebergs Arch. Pharmacol.* 282:295-306, 1974.
- 351. WAHI, P.L., R.N. CHAKRAVARTI, I.S. ANAND, M. KUMAR, M. KHULLAR, and S.K. BHATTACHARYA. Noradrenaline induced myocardiopathy in normal and hypercholesterolemic rhesus monkeys. In: *Pathogenesis of stress-induced heart disease*, edited by BEAMISH, R.E., V. PANAGIA, and N.S. DHALLA. Boston:Martinus Nijhoff Publishing, 1984, p. 261-269.
- 352. WALDO, G.L., J.K. NORTHRUP, J.P. PERKINS, and T.K. HARDEN. Characterization of an altered membrane form of the B-adrenergic receptor produced during agonist-induced desensitization. J. Biol. Chem. 258:13900-13908, 1983.
- 353. WANG, P.-C., N.T. BUU, O. KUCHEL, and J. GENEST. Conjugation patterns of endogenous plasma catecholamines in human and rat. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 101:141-151, 1983.

- 354. WARLTIER, D.C., H.F. HARDMAN, A.R. LADDU, P. SOMANI, and G.J. GROSS. Myocardial distribution of coronary blood flow in the isolated supported heart preparation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 9:634-639, 1975.
- 355. WERNER, J.C., J.C. LEE, and S.E. DOWNING. Preservation of left ventricular function by insulin in experimental catecholamine cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Physiol. 238:H257-H262, 1980.
- 356. WHEATLEY, A.M., F.T. THANDROYEN, and L.H. OPIE. Catecholamine-induced myocardial cell damage: catecholamines or adrenochrome. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:349-359, 1985.
- 357. WHITBY, L.G., J. AXELROD, and H. WEIL-MALHERBE. The fate of H³-norepinephrine in animals. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 132:193-201, 1961.
- 358. WILLS, E.D. Lipid peroxide formation in microsomes. *Biochem. J.* 113:333-341, 1969.
- 359. WINER, B.J. Statistical Principles in Experimental Design. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company, 1971,
- 360. WITTING, L.A. Biological availability of tocopherol and other antioxidants at the cellular level. *Fed. Proc.* 24:912-916, 1965.
- 361. XIA, Y., K.E. HILL, and R.F. BURK. Effect of selenium deficiency on hydroperoxide-induced glutathione release from the isolated perfused rat heart. J. Nutr. 115:733-742, 1985.
- 362. YATES, J.C., and N.S. DHALLA. Induction of necrosis and failure in the isolated perfused rat heart with oxidized isoproterenol. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 7:807-816, 1975.
- 363. YATES, J.C., G.M. TAAM, P.K. SINGAL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Protection against adrenochrome-induced myocardial damage by various pharmacological interventions. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 61:242-255, 1980.
- 364. YTREHUS, K., J. RINGSTAD, R. MYKLEBUST, G. NORHEIM, and O.D. MJOS. The selenium deficient rat heart with special reference to tolerance against enzymatically generated oxygen radicals. *Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest.* 48:289-295, 1988.

- 365. YUNGE, L., P. BRUNEVAL, M.S. COKAY, B. BERRY, H. PETERS, R. POULSEN, and I. HUTTNER. Perturbation of the sarcolemmal membrane in isoproterenol-induced myocardial injury of the rat. *Am. J. Pathol.* 134:171-185, 1989.
- 366. ZBINDEN, G., and R.A. MOE. Pharmacological studies on heart muscle lesions induced by isoproterenol. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 156:294-308, 1969.

CHAPTER III

GENERAL METHODS

A. NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY

Male, New Zealand white rabbits weighing approximately 2 kg were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg IV). 0.9% sterile saline or norepinephrine bitartrate (NE; 2, 4, or 6 μ g/kg/min) in 0.9% sterile saline was infused as a constant rate of 0.238 ml/min (Harvard Apparatus infusion/withdrawal pump, model 906) for 90 minutes via a 25-gauge needle inserted into the marginal ear vein. In rabbits used for acute experiments, the femoral artery was cannulated for monitoring arterial pressure. A standard Lead II ECG was recorded. Hearts were removed at the end of the infusion period for functional studies or 1 hour post-infusion for blood flow measurements. Rabbits used in chronic experiments did not have the femoral artery cannulated and were allowed to recover from the anesthetic.

B. ISOLATED, NON-EJECTING HEART PREPARATION

1. Langendorff Perfusion Apparatus

82

A non-recirculating Langendorff apparatus with dual reservoirs and constant flow system was used in all isolated heart preparations (Figure 3-1). Hearts were perfused with Krebs-Henseleit buffer (KHB; 118 mM NaCl, 4.8 mM KCl, 2.5 mM CaCl₂, 1.2 mM MgSO₄, 24 mM NaHCO₃, and 1.2 mM KH₂PO₄) modified with the addition of 11 mM glucose, gassed with 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂ (pH=7.40 \pm .03). Solutions were filtered through a $47\mu m$ inline filter and warmed by Graham condensers and constant temperature circulator (Model 1267-00; Cole-Parmer Instrument Co.) to maintain intraventricular temperature at 37 ± 0.5 °C. A series of valves following the condensers permitted rapid switching between reservoirs. A Masterflex peristaltic pump (Cole-Parmer Instrument Co.) regulated coronary flow at 10 ml/min/g heart, wet weight (7). Although oxygen uptake was not measured, functional data indicated that this flow rate adequately perfused the isolated rabbit heart. Hearts increased ventricular function in response to increasing concentrations of NE and showed no signs of failure. Increasing coronary flow to 15 ml/min/g did not change perfusion pressure or ventricular function. However when flow was 15 ml/min/g significant edema was apparent within 60 minutes. A sideport positioned after the pump permitted the addition of adrenergic agonists to the perfusate. Perfusion pressure was measured by a Gould Statham pressure transducer located near the aortic cannula and was recorded continuously on a Gould 2400S chart recorder. A bubble trap was positioned before a stainless steel aortic cannula.

FIGURE 3-1

LANGENDORFF PERFUSION APPARATUS



Schematic diagram of the non-recirculating, constant flow Langendorff perfusion apparatus used in ventricular function studies.

The pulmonary artery was cannulated with a 10 cm length of plastic tubing. A thermistor probe (Model 43 TA; Yellow Springs Instrument Co., Inc.) was fed through this cannula, inserted into the right ventricular cavity and secured in place. Intraventricular temperature was monitored continuously.

A balloon tipped cannula was used to measure relative left ventricular pressure (LVP). The compliant, fluid-filled (50% saline/50% ethanol; v:v) latex balloon was inserted into the left ventricle and connected to a Gould Statham pressure transducer via a 9 cm PE-190 cannula. A Hamilton syringe mounted next to the pressure transducer and connected via a three way valve to the balloon cannula permitted serial inflation of the intraventricular balloon and measurable changes in preload. The frequency response characteristics were calculated from the transient oscillations occurring after a step change in pressure (5). The balloon tipped cannula had a natural frequency of 301 + 22.5 Hz and a damping coefficient of 0.49 + .02. Although slightly underdamped, this system had a constant output/input amplitude ratio for frequencies up to 20% of the natural frequency (3). With hearts paced at 220 beats/minute, the fundamental frequency of pressure generation was 3.7 Hz. Since the essential physiologic information was contained within frequencies up to 37 Hz (12.3% of the natural frequency), this system was adequate to measure ventricular pressure and LV dP/dt. The transducer, cannula and balloon were checked daily for leaks and air bubbles. The balloon was stored in a small vial of 50% saline/ 50% ethanol (v:v) and thoroughly rinsed with KHB before use. Left ventricular dP/dt was derived from the LVP signal using a Gould Differentiator Amplifier (Model 13-461571). LVP and LV dP/dt were continuously recorded on a Gould 2400S chart recorder.

KHB, KHB plus 10⁻⁶ M phentolamine (Regitine HCl, Ciba) or KHB plus 10⁻⁶ M timolol (Timolol maleate; Merck) was stored in a reservoir of the Langendorff setup. Three-way valves below the Graham condensers allowed rapid switching between these perfusates. Norepinephrine, methoxamine, dobutamine and isoproterenol were infused via the sideport. Infusion rate was 2 ml/min. The amount of drug infused per minute was adjusted so the final concentration reaching the heart was that concentration stated in the methods. The bubble trap, containing approximately 10 ml solution, allowed for adequate mixing of the drug with the perfusate.

2. Heart Isolation and Instrumentation

After sodium pentobarbital anesthesia (30 mg/kg), 500 IU/kg sodium heparin was administered via the marginal ear vein. The abdomen was opened and the diaphragm cut off the rib cage. The thoracic cavity was opened with two axial incisions, from the diaphragm to the first or second rib. The anterior thoracic wall was lifted over the rabbit's head. The heart was excised quickly and placed in cold heparinized KHB. This procedure required 20 to 30 seconds from initial incision to immersion of the heart in cold KHB. All extraneous fat and connective tissue were removed from the aorta. The heart was weighed on a Mettler PL200 balance. Each heart was removed from the cold KHB, placed on a tared weighing boat, weighed and quickly returned to the KHB. The weight of KHB remaining in the boat was subtracted from the heart weight.

The aorta was cannulated and immediately perfused with warmed KHB. The left atrium was opened and a balloon tipped cannula was inserted into the left ventricle through the mitral orifice and secured. Care was taken so the balloon cannula was not forced against the ventricular wall or through the ventricular septum. The fluid within the balloon contained a drop of Evans Blue so bulging of the balloon into the left atria upon inflation was identified easily and balloon position corrected before beginning an experimental protocol. Balloon volume was adjusted to left ventricular end-diastolic pressure (LVEDP) of 5 mmHg. To prevent KHB accumulation within the left ventricular chamber a small cannula was inserted through the apical wall. A bipolar electrode attached to the right atrial appendage was used to pace hearts at 220 beats/min.

After instrumentation, hearts were perfused for an additional 20 minutes before experiments were begun. During this time contractions become regular and intraventricular pressure fluctuations reach steady state. Only hearts meeting the following criteria were used in this study: 1) baseline peak systolic pressure greater than 80 mmHg (EDP = 5 mmHg) in hearts from rabbits infused with saline and \geq 65 mmHg in hearts from rabbits treated with NE; 2) stable coronary perfusion pressure; and 3) heart following pace of 220 beats/minute.

C. MEASUREMENT OF DIASTOLIC FUNCTION

Two parameters of diastolic function, LV -dP/dt_{max} and tau, were evaluated in cardiac function experiments. Tau, the time constant for isovolumic relaxation, was measured from the LVP trace after the experiment. Isovolumic relaxation is delimited by the closure of the aortic valve and opening of the mitral valve. Negative LV dP/dt_{max} has been reported to be the best indicator of aortic value closure (1). Therefore, tau has been defined as the time required for LV cavity pressure at -dP/dt to be reduced by a factor of 1/e (6). Normally LV -dP/dt_{max} occurs before peak systolic pressure has decreased by 40.0% (1,4,8). Using the balloon tipped cannula system in the isolated heart, LV -dP/dt_{max} did not occur until peak systolic pressure decreased by 63%. This point, being extremely low on the LVP trace, did not accurately represent the beginning of isovolumic relaxation. In these experiments a constant of 75% peak systolic pressure was designated as the beginning of isovolumic relaxation. Accordingly, tau was defined as the time required for ventricular pressure at 75% peak systolic pressure to be reduced by 1/e. Tau was measured at 5 mmHg LVEDP.

D. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOLS FOR ISOLATED HEART PREPARATION

1. Ventricular Function and β -Adrenoceptor Mediated Inotropy

These studies were designed to assess acute and chronic alterations in LV function with NE-induced injury. In acute studies, LV performance was assessed immediately after saline or NE infusion. Chronic experiments were performed 48

hours after the infusion. To eliminate neural and hormonal influences, the isolated perfused heart preparation was used in all functional studies.

With hearts paced at 220 beats/minute, baseline LV function was measured as LVEDP was increased from 0 to 25 mmHg (5 mmHg steps). Steady state LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded at each EDP. Hearts were perfused with incremental, cumulative concentrations of NE, 10^{10} to 10^{-7} M. At each concentration, LVEDP was increased from 0 to 25 mmHg and steady state LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded. At the termination of each inflation series, the intraventricular balloon was deflated and LVEDP readjusted to 5 mmHg. Hearts were perfused with KHB until ventricular function returned to baseline.

 β -Adrenoceptor mediated inotropy was assessed in the presence of α adrenergic blockade (10⁻⁶ M phentolamine). α -Receptor blockade was tested with 10⁻⁷ M methoxamine then baseline ventricular function measurements were recorded. Hearts were perfused with increasing concentrations of dobutamine (10⁻⁹ - 10⁻⁶ M), a selective β_1 -agonist. LVEDP was varied from 0 to 25 mmHg at baseline and each dobutamine concentration. Steady state developed LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded.

2. α -Adrenoceptor Mediated Changes in Ventricular Function

The inotropic response to α -adrenergic stimulation was measured in the isolated heart immediately after NE (4 μ g/kg/min) infusion and 48 hours post saline or NE infusion. Isolated heart was paced at 220 beats/minute and LVEDP was maintained at 5 mmHg. Baseline ventricular function was recorded then each heart

was perfused with cumulative, decreasing concentrations of NE ($10^{-6} - 10^{-7}$ M). The heart was washed for 20 minutes with KHB and LV function returned to baseline values. Timolol (10^{-6} M), a nonselective β -adrenergic antagonist, was added to the perfusate. After ten minutes, β -receptor blockade was tested with 10^{-7} M isoproterenol. Hearts were re-exposed to the incremental decreasing concentrations of NE ($10^{-6} - 10^{-7}$ M). LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded at baseline, in the presence of timolol and after two minutes at each NE concentration. Changes in LV function attributed to NE stimulation of α -adrenergic receptor were determined.

3. α -Tocopherol and Selenium Administration

Thirteen male, New Zealand white rabbits (2.2 kg) were treated subcutaneously with α -tocopherol (25.0 mg; BO-SE, Schering Co., U.S.A.) and selenium (0.5 mg) every other day for two weeks. Twenty-four hours after the last treatment rabbits were anesthetized with intravenous sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg). Saline (n=6) or 4 μ g/kg/min NE (n=7) was infused for 90 minutes via the marginal ear vein. Infusion rate was constant at 0.238 ml/min. Ventricular function was studied two days post infusion using the isolated heart preparation.

Baseline LV function was measured as LVEDP was increased from 0 to 25 mmHg in 5 mmHg steps. Hearts were perfused with incremental, cumulative concentrations of NE ($10^{-9} - 10^{-6}$ M). At each concentration of NE, LVEDP was increased from 0 to 25 mmHg and steady state developed LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded. LVEDP was readjusted to 5 mmHg following each serial increase in EDP.

E. MYOCARDIAL BLOOD FLOW

This study was designed to determine if rabbit heart exhibited the no-reflow phenomena after a 40 minute NE infusion. Blood flow measurements were made at 0 and 40 minutes of the NE (4 μ g/kg/min) or saline infusion and at one hour post-infusion. In another group of rabbits myocardial blood flow was measured 48 hours after NE infusion.

1. Surgical Preparation

Male, New Zealand white rabbits were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg IV). The trachea was cannulated with a glass Y-tube connected to a Harvard Apparatus respirator (Model 661). Each rabbit was ventilated with room air at an end-expiratory pressure of 1 cm of water. Lead II ECG was measured with needle electrodes. Body temperature was monitored and maintained at $38 + 1^{\circ}C$ with a heat exchanger and heating pad. The femoral arteries were cannulated with polyethylene catheters (PE-90). The right arterial cannula was connected to a Gould Statham pressure transducer for measurement of arterial blood pressure. The left arterial cannula was connected to a Harvard Apparatus infusion/withdrawal pump (Model 906) for the withdrawal of blood samples during microsphere injection. In acute experiments, a femoral vein was cannulated for the infusion of saline or NE. After a left thoracotomy, the left atrial appendage was cannulated with a short piece of PE-160 tubing. This cannula permitted atrial injection of microspheres. Arterial pressure and ECG were monitored throughout the experiment and recorded on a Gould chart recorder.
2. Blood Flow Determination

The following species of radioisotope labeled microspheres (3M Co, New England Nuclear) were used: Ce-141, Nb-95, Sr-85, and Ru-103. These microspheres $(14.5 \pm 0.6 \mu m)$ were suspended in 10% dextran with 0.05% polyoxyethelene-20 sorbitan mono-oleate (Tween 80) to deter the inherent microsphere aggregation. Vials containing the microspheres were sonicated for at least 20 minutes before use and were vigorously agitated in a vortex mixer immediately prior to injection. For each blood flow measurement approximately 1 x 10⁶ microspheres were injected so a minimum of 400 spheres were trapped in each myocardial sample. Microspheres were injected through the atrial cannula over a 20-30 second period then the cannula was flushed with 0.5 ml warm saline. A reference blood sample was withdrawn from the femoral artery at a rate of 3-4 ml/min. Blood withdrawal began 30 seconds before the injection of microspheres and continued for 30-40 seconds post-injection. Withdrawal pump rate was calibrated at the end of each experiment. The reference blood sample was put into plastic counting tubes. The syringes which contained blood were rinsed and the rinse added to respective blood sample counting tubes. At the termination of the experiment, the heart was removed. The atria, right ventricular free wall and left ventricle were isolated and fixed for 24-48 hours in 10% formalin. The atria and right ventricular free wall were weighed and placed in counting tubes. The left ventricle was cut into 5-6 rings. Each ring was separated into endocardial and epicardial halves via a circumferential cut at a point midway between the epicardial and endocardial surfaces. Endocardial and epicardial samples were weighed

and placed in separate plastic counting tubes. The radioactivity of the heart and reference blood tissue samples were counted by a three inch NaI crystal within a TM Analytic gamma counter (Model 1185). Radioactivity counts were sent directly to a computer and stored on floppy disc for later analysis.

Blood flow was calculated using the theoretical organ technique. Using radioactivity counts, calculated withdrawal rate of reference blood sample and tissue weights, a Compaq 286 computer calculated blood flow in ml/min/ 100 g tissue. Standard equations with appropriate corrections and interference coefficients were used. The following equation was used to calculate blood flow: MBF = (Ct/TW) x (RBW/Cb), where MBF = myocardial blood flow in ml/min/100 g, Ct = tissue radioactivity in counts/min, TW = weight of tissue sample in grams, RBW = reference blood withdrawal rate in ml/min, and Cb = total radioactivity in reference blood sample.

F. HISTOLOGY

After termination of several LV function experiments, hearts were removed from the perfusion apparatus and weighed. The atria and right ventricular free wall were dissected from the left ventricle. A midlevel transverse section of LV and septum was taken from each heart and placed in a plastic tissue capsule. Tissue was fixed in 10% buffered formalin solution and further processed with an Autotechnicon Mono Model 2A (Technicon Corporation) tissue processor. Tissue processing included 6 hour tissue alcohol dehydration, 3 hour xylene clearing and 2 hour impregnation with paraffin. The processing cycle occurred over 12 hours and was followed by embedding in paraffin. Tissue specimens were cut in 10 μ sections (820 Microtome, American Optical Spenser) and placed on microscope slides. Each slide was warmed slightly so the section would adhere to the glass slide during the staining procedure. After a series of xylene and alcohol washes, tissue sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (2). Staining was followed by another series of alcohol and xylene washes. The microscope slides were dried and the coverslips permanently mounted. LV sections were viewed to verify the presence or absence of myocardial injury. This injury was noted by edema, loss of nuclei, focal myofibrillar destruction, and the presence of cellular infiltration.

G. DATA ANALYSIS

All data was expressed as mean \pm SEM. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used to test for differences over time in heart rate and blood pressure during saline or NE infusion. A two way ANOVA was used to test for differences between groups at each time point or drug concentration. The Student-Newman Keuls test was used to isolate differences. In the myocardial blood flow studies, an ANOVA with repeated measures was used to test for changes in heart rate, mean arterial pressure, rate-pressure product, blood flow and vascular resistance during and after NE or saline infusion. A t-test with a Bonferroni correction was used to isolate differences. A two way ANOVA was used to test for differences between groups. Values of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Glantz Primer of Biostatistics Program or SAS (Statistical Analysis System) was used for all statistical tests.

.

H. REFERENCES

- 1. ABEL, F.L. Maximal negative dP/dt as an indicator of end systole. Am. J. Physiol. 240:H676-H679, 1981.
- 2. ARMED FORCES INSTITUTE OF PATHOLOGY Manual of histological and special staining technics. New York:Blakeston Division, McGraw-Hill Book Co., 1960,
- 3. FRY, D.L. Physiological recording by modern instruments with particular reference to pressure recordings. *Physiol. Rev.* 40:754-788, 1960.
- 4. GAASCH, W.H., M.R. ZILE, A.S. BLAUSTEIN, and O.H.L. BING. Loading conditions and left ventricular relaxation. In: *Diastolic Relaxation of the Heart*, edited by GROSSMAN, W., and B.H. LORELL. Boston:Martinus Nijhoff Publishing, 1988, p. 133-142.
- 5. GROSSMAN, W. Pressure Measurement. In: Cardiac Catherization and Angiography, (3rd ed.), edited by GROSSMAN, W. Philadelphia:Lea and Febiger, 1986, p. 118-134.
- 6. MIRSKY, I. Assessment of diastolic function: suggested methods and future considerations. *Circulation* 69:836-841, 1984.
- 7. VOGEL, W.M., C.S. APSTEIN, L.L. BRIGGS, W.H. GAASCH, and J. AHN. Acute alterations in left ventricular diastolic chamber stiffness: Role of the "erectile" effect of coronary arterial pressure and flow in normal and damaged hearts. *Circ. Res.* 51:465-478, 1982.
- WEISFELDT, M.L., H.E. SCULLY, J. FREDERIKSEN, J.J. RUBENSTEIN, G.M. POHOST, E. BEIERHOLM, A.G. BELLO, and W.M. DAGGETT. Hemodynamic determinants of maximal negative dP/dt and periods of diastole. Am. J. Physiol. 277:613-621, 1974.

CHAPTER IV

VENTRICULAR DYSFUNCTION IN NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY

A. INTRODUCTION

Myocardial lesions produced by excessive administration (19,23,26) or release of catecholamines from the sympathetic nervous system (7,14,21) have been well characterized. Typical lesions including myofibrillar degeneration, leukocyte infiltration and focal necrosis (10,13,16,20,25) can be induced by a variety of catecholamines (3,9,13) including norepinephrine (NE)(5,23,24,26). The severity and extent of myocardial injury is dependent on the dose and rate of catecholamine administration (13,22). Resultant injury has been termed catecholamine cardiomyopathy (8,21,22).

Cardiac dysfunction also follows prolonged exposure to high circulating levels of catecholamines. Left ventricular systolic function is depressed (2,16) and responsiveness to NE is attenuated (16) *in vivo* two days post NE infusion. Diastolic function, however has not been systematically evaluated. In addition, the time course of ventricular dysfunction has not been fully investigated. The isolated non-ejecting heart preparation was used to eliminate neural and endocrine factors. Thus, the purpose of this study was threefold: (1) to evaluate ventricular systolic and diastolic function in hearts from rabbits infused with 2, 4, or 6 μ g/kg/min NE for 90 minutes, (2) to determine if cardiac performance is impaired immediately after prolonged exposure to high catecholamines and (3) to determine if ventricular function has changed by two days post NE infusion.

B. METHODS

1. Norepinephrine-induced Cardiomyopathy

Forty-nine male, New Zealand white rabbits (1.5 - 2.3 kg) were anesthetized with intravenous sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg). A modification of Downing and Lee's model of norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathy (8) was used in this study. Saline or norepinephrine bitartrate (NE) in saline was infused for 90 minutes via the marginal ear vein. Infusion rate was constant at 0.238 ml/min. Ventricular function was studied in twenty-six hearts isolated immediately after the infusion period and in twenty-three hearts two days post infusion. For acute experiments, rabbits were infused with saline (n=6; SAL-A), 2 μ g/kg/min NE (n=8; NE2-A), 4 μ g/kg/min NE (n=6; NE4-A) or 6 μ g/kg/min NE (n=6; NE6-A). A standard Lead II ECG and arterial pressure were monitored throughout the infusion period. For chronic experiments, rabbits were infused with saline (n=6; NE4-C) or 6 μ g/kg/min NE (n=6; NE6-C). Rabbits used in chronic experiments were allowed to recover from the anesthetic.

2. Isolated Heart Preparation

Following administration of sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg, IV), heparin (500 IU/kg) was administered via the marginal ear vein. The thoracic cavity was opened and the heart was guickly excised and placed in cold heparinized Krebs-Henseleit buffer modified with 11 mM glucose (KHB; pH 7.4). The aorta was cleaned of fat and connective tissue and the heart was weighed. The heart was placed on a nonrecirculating, constant flow Langendorff apparatus. Each heart was perfused with KHB at 10 ml/min/g wet weight. The solution was warmed by Graham condensers and constant temperature circulator to maintain intraventricular temperature at 37 + 0.5°C. A right atrial bipolar electrode was used to pace hearts at 220 beats/min. The pulmonary artery was cannulated to hinder flow of effluent into the left ventricle. A small cannula was inserted through the apex of the left ventricle to prevent fluid accumulation within the chamber. To measure left ventricular pressure (LVP), a fluid-filled latex balloon was inserted into the left ventricle through the mitral valve orifice. The balloon was connected to a Statham pressure transducer with a 9 cm length of polyethylene tubing. A Hamilton syringe positioned between the balloon and pressure transducer allowed for changes in balloon volume. After securing the balloon in the LV, balloon volume was adjusted so LV end-diastolic pressure (LVEDP) was 5 mmHg.

3. Protocol

After a 30 minute equilibration period, LVEDP was varied from 0 to 25 mmHg (5 mmHg steps) then reset to 5 mmHg. Control LVP, LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ and LV $-dP/dt_{max}$ were recorded at each LVEDP. Hearts were exposed to cumulative,

increasing concentrations of NE ($10^{-10} - 10^{-7}$ M). At each NE concentration, LVEDP was varied from 0 to 25 mmHg (5 mmHg increments) then reset to 5 mmHg. Steady state LVP, LV +dP/dt_{max} and LV -dP/dt_{max} were recorded.

4. Data analysis

All values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used to test for differences in heart rate or blood pressure within each group over the 90 minute saline or NE infusion. A two way ANOVA was used to test for differences between groups. The Student-Newman Keuls test was used to isolate differences. Values of p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

C. RESULTS

Heart rates immediately prior to saline $(281 \pm 7.3 \text{ beats/min})$ or NE infusion at 2 µg/kg/min (291.7 ± 3.1 beats/min), 4 µg/kg/min (281.7 ± 8.6 beats/min) or 6 µg/kg/min (293 ± 3.0 beats/min) were not different. Over the 90 minute infusion period, heart rates decreased slightly (10-20 beats/min), though insignificantly, in all groups. Mean arterial pressure (Figure 4-1) increased 25 to 35 mmHg above baseline within two minutes of NE infusion (all doses) and remained elevated significantly during the entire infusion period. Arterial pressure did not change during saline infusion.

Baseline ventricular function is summarized in Tables 4-1 and 4-2. There was no difference between SAL-A and SAL-C in any measure of ventricular function so these groups were combined (SAL). At the end of the infusion period, LVP developed by NE2-A, NE4-A, and NE6-A was less than SAL (Figure 4-2, panel A). The peak LVP developed in the NE treated groups was inversely related to the infused dose of NE. However, peak LVP was not significantly different between groups except at LVEDP of 0 and 5 mmHg. At these LVEDP's, NE6-A peak LVP was significantly lower than SAL, $76.0 \pm 6.6 \text{ vs } 99.4 \pm 3.7 \text{ mmHg}$ at EDP = 0 mmHg and $90.3 \pm 4.7 \text{ vs } 105.8 \pm 3.8 \text{ at EDP} = 5 \text{ mmHg}$. Two days post infusion, the peak LVP developed by NE6-C was depressed compared to SAL, NE2-C and NE4-C (Figure 4-2, panel B). NE2 and NE4 were not different from SAL. As demonstrated in figure 4-2, changes in LVP with increasing LVEDP (0-25 mmHg) were similar in NE treated hearts and SAL acutely and at 48 hours post infusion.

Immediately after infusion, LV +dP/dt_{max} and LV -dP/dt_{max} were depressed (LVEDP 0-25 mmHg) significantly in NE2-A, NE4-A, and NE6-A as compared to SAL (Table 4-1, Figure 4-4, panel A and Figure 4-5, panel A). At 48 hours, LV +dP/dt_{max} of all NE injured hearts remained lower than SAL at each LVEDP but only NE6-C LV +dP/dt_{max} was significantly less than SAL (Table 4-2 and Figure 4-4, panel B). Negative LV dP/dt_{max} also was depressed significantly at all LVEDP's in NE2-C, NE4-C, and NE6-C (Table 4-2). At LVEDP of 5 mmHg (Figure 4-5, panel B), LV -dP/dt_{max} was -1235.7 \pm 32.2 mmHg/sec for SAL, compared to -1066.9 \pm 72.3, -1028.7 \pm 333.7 and -926.3 \pm 58.8 mmHg/sec for NE2-C, NE4-C and NE6-C, respectively.

FIGURE 4-1

CHANGE IN MEAN ARTERIAL PRESSURE DURING SALINE OR NOREPINEPHRINE INFUSION



Mean \pm SEM for changes from baseline (B) in mean arterial pressure (MAP) during 90 minute infusion of saline (SAL) or norepinephrine at 2 (NE2), 4 (NE4), and 6 (NE6) μ g/kg/min. Norepinephrine (all concentrations) significantly increased MAP above baseline (p < 0.05). MAP was elevated significantly during NE infusion compared to SAL.

TABLE 4-1

LVEDP (1	LVEDP (mmHg) 0		20
Peak LVP (mmH	(g)		
SAL	99.4 + 3.7	114.6 + 3.3	126.8 + 3.3
NE2	87.6 ± 5.7	107.4 ± 4.3	115.3 ± 4.0
NE4	83.3 ± 5.6	97.8 ± 5.3	109.7 ± 5.7
NE6	$76.0 \pm 6.6*$	97.0 ± 9.0	109.7 ± 7.8
LV +dP/dt (mm	Hg/sec)		
SAL	1762.0 ± 74.8	1809.9 ± 85.6	1885.3 + 84.1
NE2	$1400.3 \pm 135.4*$	1567.9 ± 119.5	1535.2 + 119.8*
NE4	$1293.3 \pm 66.8*$	$1367.4 \pm 58.9*$	$1400.6 \pm 67.8*$
NE6	$1205.2 \pm 122.7*$	$1390.9 \pm 158.2*$	$1429.0 \pm 144.0^*$
LV -dP/dt (mmH	(g/sec)		
SAL	-1272.5 + 39.3	-1279.2 + 38.7	-1273.9 + 38.6
NE2	-962.0 + 58.9*	-1028.3 + 57.6*	-980.2 + 55.0*
NE4	-925.1 + 45.9*	-929.5 + 39.1*	-925.0 + 35.1*
NE6	-922.8 ± 87.1*	$-986.4 \pm 81.6*$	$-944.9 \pm 63.7*$

BASELINE VENTRICULAR FUNCTION IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING HIGH DOSE NOREPINEPHRINE INFUSION

Hearts from rabbits infused with saline (SAL) or norepinephrine at 2 (NE2), 4 (NE4), and 6 (NE6) μ g/kg/min for 90 min. LVP, left ventricular pressure; dP/dt, first derivative of LVP. Values are mean \pm SEM. * Significantly different from SAL (p < 0.05).

TABLE 4-2

BASELINE VENTRICULAR	FUNCTION 48 HOURS	AFTER	EXPOSURE	TO
HIGH	DOSE NOREPINEPHRI	NE		

LVEDP (mmHg) O	10	20
Peak LVP (mmH	(g)		
SAL	99.4 ± 3.7	114.6 ± 3.3	126.8 ± 3.3
NE2	90.7 ± 4.9	113.5 ± 2.0	126.1 ± 5.1
NE4	101.5 ± 3.3	111.9 ± 3.6	120.9 ± 3.0
NE6	82.3 ± 6.0*†	95.3 ± 5.3 *†‡	$105.3 \pm 5.5*\dagger \ddagger$
LV +dP/dt (mm	Hg/sec)		
SAL	1762.0 ± 74.8	1809.9 ± 85.6	1885.3 ± 84.1
NE2	$1393.5 \pm 116.7*$	1589.3 ± 105.6	1731.7 ± 199.1
NE4	1624.2 ± 69.8	1650.2 ± 79.6	1679.4 ± 55.2
NE6	1304.6 ± 66.1*	$1348.9 \pm 43.1^*$	$1361.6 \pm 48.5*$
LV -dP/dt (mmH	Ig/sec)		
SAL	-1272.5 ± 39.3	-1279.2 ± 38.7	-1273.9 ± 38.6
NE2	$-986.4 \pm 75.1*$	$-1085.2 \pm 68.3*$	$-1046.9 \pm 90.3*$
NE4	$-1047.2 \pm 35.5*$	$-1008.3 \pm 36.4*$	$-960.1 \pm 21.7*$
NE6	-952.1 ± 48.4*	$-910.7 \pm 39.7*$	-877.4 <u>+</u> 10.6*

Values are mean \pm SEM. Abbreviations as in table 4-1. * Significantly different from SAL (p < 0.05), † Significantly different from NE2, \ddagger Significantly different from NE4.

104

FIGURE 4-2

PRESSURE FUNCTION CURVES FOR NORMAL AND CARDIOMYOPATHIC HEARTS



Pressure function curves generated hearts from rabbits infused with saline (SAL) or norepinephrine at 2 (NE2), 4(NE4), and 6 (NE6) μ g/kg/min for 90 min. Panel A: ventricular function assessed immediately following the infusion period. Panel B: ventricular function at 48 hours post infusion. Data presented as mean \pm SEM. * Significantly different from SAL (p < 0.05), # Significantly different from NE2, ^o Significantly different from NE4.

FIGURE 4-3

NOREPINEPHRINE LV PRESSURE DOSE-RESPONSE CURVES



Effect of norepinephrine on left ventricular pressure (LVP) development acutely (panel A) and at 48 hours (panel B) post infusion. End diastolic pressure is constant at 5 mmHg. Abbreviations as in Figure 4-2. * p < 0.05 compared to SAL, # p < 0.05 compared to NE2, ° p < 0.05 compared to NE4.

NOREPINEPHRINE LV +dP/dt_{max} DOSE-RESPONSE CURVES



Norepinephrine dose-response curve generated immediately post infusion (panel A) or at two days (panel B). End diastolic pressure is 5 mmHg. LV +dP/dt, first derivative of LVP; other abbreviations as in Figure 4-2. * Significantly different from SAL (p < 0.05).

FIGURE 4-5

NOREPINEPHRINE LV -dP/dt_{max} DOSE-RESPONSE CURVES



Effect of increasing concentrations of norepinephrine on maximal rate of pressure decline (LV -dP/dt) in hearts isolated immediately after (panel A) or two days post (panel B) saline or norepinephrine infusion. Diastolic pressure = 5 mmHg. Abbreviations as in Figure 4-2. * p < 0.05 compared to SAL.

LV systolic function, LVP and LV $+dP/dt_{max}$, of NE2 and NE4 showed improvement within 48 hours after NE infusion. Peak LVP increased slightly in all NE treated groups, however, the increase (LVEDP of 0 and 5 mmHg) was significant only in NE4-C. Positive LV dP/dt_{max} also improved significantly in NE4, but not in NE2 and NE6. Diastolic function, as indicated by LV $-dP/dt_{max}$, did not recover within two days post NE treatment.

Changes in cardiac function in response to increasing concentrations of NE are presented in Figures 4-3, 4-4 and 4-5. LVEDP shown in these figures is 5 mmHg and is representative of ventricular responses to NE at other diastolic pressures. In response to 10^{-7} M NE, LVP increased 37.0 ± 4.4 , 24.6 ± 3.4 , 33.2 ± 5.8 and 30.8 ± 7.9 mmHg above baseline in SAL, NE2-A, NE4-A, and NE6-A respectively. Increase in LVP with 10^{-7} M NE was similar in hearts studied two days post infusion. Although baseline function was depressed, myopathic hearts increased LV +dP/dt_{max} and LV -dP/dt_{max} the same amount as SAL at 10^{-7} M NE. In addition, there was no difference in percent increase in LVP, LV +dP/dt_{max} and LV -dP/dt_{max} of SAL, NE2, NE4, or NE6 in response to increasing concentration of NE in acute and chronic experiments.

E. DISCUSSION

Pressure function curves presented in our study for saline treated animals are consistent with those previously reported for the isolated, non-ejecting rabbit heart (15). We also show a downward shift of the function curve with NE injury acutely with some functional improvement by 48 hours. Increases in LVP with changing LVEDP was similar in our SAL and NE groups. Using the open-chest rabbits, Werner and associates (27) reported in control animals very small increases in LVEDP with aortic constriction until LVP exceeds 150 mmHg. Hearts in rabbits treated with NE two days before assessment of LV function showed greater increases in LVEDP for a given change in LVP. The apparent difference between results published by Werner, et al. (27) and those reported here may be an inherent property of differences in the experimental models. Pressure function curves are afterload dependent. Afterload in the isolated, non-ejecting heart preparation is infinite whereas it is measurable in the whole animal. The conclusion however is the same. Ventricular function as measured by pressure function curves is depressed with NE-induced injury. In addition, cardiac output index, minute work index (2) and the ability to perform stroke work (4) are attenuated in catecholamine cardiomyopathy.

Cardiac function studies in vivo showed no difference in resting LV +dP/dt_{max} two days post NE infusion between control and NE-treated rabbits (2,12). The result of the present series of experiments are consistent with this data. Positive LV dP/dt_{max} is depressed acutely with infusion of 2, 4, or 6 μ g/kg/min NE. Two days post infusion NE2 and NE4 have returned toward control. However, systolic dysfunction (LV +dP/dt_{max}) does not improve within 48 hours after exposure to very high concentrations of NE (6 μ g/kg/min). Prolonged NE infusion may have acutely depressed cross-bridge formation or actin-myosin ATPase activity resulting in decreased systolic function. Additionally, a greater number of cardiac myocytes may have been permanently damaged by the 6 μ g/kg/min NE infusion thereby hindering the recovery of systolic function by 48 hours post infusion.

In contrast to our results, Lee and Downing (12,16) have reported a decreased ability to improve myocardial contractility in rabbits two days after NE infusion (2 $\mu g/kg/min$ for 90 min). In their studies (12,16), myopathic hearts in vivo did not increase LV +dP/dt_{max} the same percent as control in response to increasing concentrations of NE. In the isolated heart preparation used in the current study, NE injured hearts increased LVP, LV +dP/dt_{max}, and LV -dP/dt_{max} the same amount as SAL both acutely and at two days. It may be that extra-cardiac factors influenced LV response in situ.

During the pathogenesis of catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy, elevated circulating catecholamines augment the flux of calcium into myocardial cells (1,11,22). Initially higher intracellular calcium levels are buffered by increased microsomal and mitochondrial transport (18). Later, microsomal calcium pump activity (18), sarcolemmal Na-Ca exchange and Ca pump activities (6,17) become depressed. These changes in calcium transport coupled with functional deterioration of mitochondria (11) result in elevated intracellular calcium (11,22). Higher levels of intracellular calcium and impaired removal of calcium during diastole may contribute to the decreased rate of ventricular relaxation. Cellular degeneration and intracellular and extracellular edema increase myocardial stiffness and may also contribute to diastolic dysfunction. The diastolic injury in norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathy was not transient. Diastolic function was not improved 48 hours after

injury although systolic function showed improvement in NE2 and NE4. The time course and degree of recovery of diastolic function in cardiomyopathic rabbits was not assessed beyond two days post injury.

In summary, these experiments indicate that left ventricular diastolic function, in addition to systolic function is impaired acutely after exposure to high levels of catecholamines. Systolic function improved within 48 hours of injury whereas diastolic function remained depressed.

E. REFERENCES

- 1. BLOOM, S., and D.L. DAVIS. Calcium as mediator of isoproterenol-induced myocardial necrosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 69:459-470, 1972.
- 2. BROWN, M.D., and O. HUDLICKA. Protective effects of long-term bradycardial pacing against catecholamine-induced myocardial damage in rabbit hearts. *Circ. Res.* 62:965-974, 1988.
- 3. CHAPPEL, C.I., G. RONA, T. BALAZS, and R. GAUDRY. Comparison of cardiotoxic actions of certain sympathomimetic amines. *Can. J. Biochem. Physiol.* 37:35-42, 1959.
- 4. CHEN, V., and S.E. DOWNING. Preservation of cardiac metabolic capacity after acute catecholamine injury. *Am. J. Physiol.* 258:H101-H106, 1990.
- 5. CONNOR, R.C.R. Focal myocytolysis and fuchsinophilic degeneration of the myocardium of patients dying with various brain lesions. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 156:261-270, 1969.
- 6. DHALLA, N.S., V. PANAGIA, N. MAKINO, and R.E. BEAMISH. Sarcolemmal Na-Ca exchange and Ca-pump activities in cardiomyopathies due to intracellular Ca-overload. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* 82:75-79, 1988.
- 7. DOWNING, S.E., and V. CHEN. Myocardial injury following endogenous catecholamine release in rabbits. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:377-387, 1985.
- 8. DOWNING, S.E., and J.C. LEE. Effects of insulin on experimental catecholamine cardiomyopathy. Am. J. Pathol. 93:339-352, 1978.
- 9. FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, J.J. WALSH, and G.E. BURCH. Histochemical and electron microscopical studies on the cardiac necroses produced by sympathomimetic agents. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 156:309-332, 1969.
- FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, H.S. WEILY, D.G. WEILBAECHER, J.J. WALSH, and G.E. BURCH. A histochemical and electron microscopic study of epinephrine-induced myocardial necrosis. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1:11-22, 1970.

- 11. FLECKENSTEIN, A., J. JANKE, H.J. DORING, and O. PACHINGER. Calcium overload as the determinant factor in the production of catecholamine-induced myocardial lesions. In: *Recent Advances in Studies on Cardiac Structure and Metabolism, Volume 2. Cardiomyopathies*, edited by BAJASZ, E., and G. RONA. Baltimore:University Park Press, 1971, p. 455-466.
- 12. FRIPP, R.R., J.C. LEE, and S.E. DOWNING. Inotropic responsiveness of the heart in catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart J.* 101:17-21, 1981.
- 13. HAFT, J.I. Cardiovascular injury induced by sympathetic catecholamines. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 17:73-86, 1974.
- 14. KLOUDA, M.A., and G. BRYNJOLFSSON. Cardiotoxic effects of electrical stimulation of the stellate ganglia. *Ann. NY Acad. Sci.* 156:271-280, 1969.
- 15. LAGERSTROM, C.F., W.E. WALKER, and H. TAEGTMEYER. Failure of Glycogen Depletion to Improve Left Ventricular Function of the Rabbit Heart After Hypothermic Ischemic Arrest. *Circ. Res.* 63:81-86, 1988.
- 16. LEE, J.C., and S.E. DOWNING. Ventricular function in norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathic rabbits. Am. J. Physiol. 242(11):H191-H196, 1982.
- 17. MAKINO, N., R. DHRUVARAJAN, V. ELIMBAN, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Alterations of sarcolemmal Na-Ca exchange in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Can. J. Cardiol.* 1:225-232, 1985.
- PANAGIA, V., G.N. PIERCE, K.S. DHALLA, P.K. GANGULY, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Adaptive changes in subcellular calcium transport during catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:411-420, 1985.
- 19. PEARCE, R.M. Experimental myocarditis: a study of the histological changes following intravenous injections of adrenalin. J. Exp. Med. 8:400-409, 1906.
- 20. RAAB, W. Key position of catecholamines in functional and degenerative cardiovascular pathology. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 5:571-627, 1960.
- 21. REICHENBACH, D.D., and E.P. BENDITT. Catecholamines and cardiomyopathy: The pathogenesis and potential importance of myofibrillar degeneration. *Hum. Pathol.* 1:125-150, 1970.

- 22. RONA, G. Catecholamine cardiotoxicity. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:291-306, 1985.
- 23. SCHENK, E.A., and A.J. MOSS. Cardiovascular effects of sustained norepinephrine infusion. II. Morphology. Circ. Res. 18:605-615, 1966.
- 24. SZAKACS, J.E., and B. MEHLMAN. Pathologic changes induced by l-norepinephrine. Am. J. Cardiol. 10:619-627, 1960.
- TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. II. Temporal development of isoproterenol-induced contraction band lesions correlated with ECG, hemodynamic and biochemical changes. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:647-656, 1985.
- TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. I. Morphology, quantification and regional distribution of acute contraction band lesions. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:317-338, 1985.
- 27. WERNER, J.C., J.C. LEE, and S.E. DOWNING. Preservation of left ventricular function by insulin in experimental catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Physiol.* 238:H257-H262, 1980.

CHAPTER V

ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR MEDIATED CHANGES IN VENTRICULAR FUNCTION IN NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOMYOPATHY

A. INTRODUCTION

Prolonged exposure to catecholamines reduces responsiveness to adrenergic receptor stimulation in many organ systems and cell lines (3,6,13,19,24). This desensitization may result from the uncoupling of receptors from their effector enzyme systems or the removal of receptors from the plasma membrane (13-15). Both desensitizing mechanisms have been demonstrated for cardiac β -adrenergic receptors (11,12,16). In fact, uncoupling of rat cardiac β -receptors and a decrease in β -receptor density has been reported following prolonged norepinephrine (NE) infusion while cardiac α_1 -receptors were not desensitized (5).

Exposure of cardiac tissue to high concentrations of catecholamines may induce myocardial damage. Characteristic histological lesions include contraction bands, myofibrillar degeneration and focal necrosis (8,9,21). A defect in the cardiac β adrenergic receptor-adenylate cyclase system has also been identified. The guanine nucleotide regulatory (G) protein and/or adenylate cyclase enzyme were altered by high dose catecholamines so direct stimulation of the G protein by NaF or Gpp(NH)p

116

elicited a reduced response of adenylate cyclase (7,22).

If high levels of circulating catecholamines uncouple the β -receptor from its G protein (13,14) or alter the function of the G protein or adenylate cyclase enzyme (7,22), β -receptor mediated increases in ventricular function should be depressed. In this case, the α -adrenergic receptor system may be more important in increasing cardiac performance after catecholamine injury. The purpose of this study was (1) to evaluate α - and β -adrenergic receptor mediated changes in left ventricular function immediately after a 90 minute norepinephrine infusion and at 2 days post infusion and (2) to determine if the α -receptor system has a greater role in increasing cardiac function after NE induced injury.

B. METHODS

1. Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy

NE cardiomyopathy was induced in sixty-six male, New Zealand white rabbits (1.5 - 2.3 kg). Following the administration of intravenous sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg), saline or NE bitartrate in saline was infused for 90 minutes via the marginal ear vein.

Ventricular responsiveness to β_1 -adrenoceptor agonist dobutamine was studied in twenty-six hearts isolated immediately after the infusion period and in twenty-three hearts two days post infusion. For acute experiments, rabbits were infused with saline (n=6; SAL-A), 2 µg/kg/min NE (n=8; NE2-A), 4 µg/kg/min NE (n=5; NE4-A) or 6 µg/kg/min NE (n=6; NE6-A). A standard Lead II ECG and arterial pressure were monitored throughout the infusion period. In chronic experiments, rabbits were infused with saline (n=5; SAL-C), 2 μ g/kg/min NE (n=6; NE2-C), 4 μ g/kg/min NE (n=6; NE4-C) or 6 μ g/kg/min NE (n=6; NE6-C) then returned to their cages.

In a second series of experiments, myocardial responsiveness to α -adrenergic receptor stimulation was investigated immediately after $4\mu g/kg/min$ NE infusion (n=5) and at 48 hours post 4 $\mu g/kg/min$ NE (n=6) or saline (n=7) infusion.

2. Isolated Heart Preparation

Following administration of sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg, IV) and heparin (500 IU/kg), the thoracic cavity was opened. The heart was quickly excised and immersed in cold heparinized Krebs-Henseleit buffer (KHB) modified with 11 mM glucose. The aorta was cleaned of fat and connective tissue. The heart was weighed and was placed on a non-recirculating, constant flow Langendorff apparatus. Flow rate was 10 ml/min/g wet weight. The KHB was warmed by Graham condensers and constant temperature circulator to maintain intraventricular temperature at $37 \pm$ 0.5°C. A right atrial bipolar electrode was used to pace hearts at 220 beats/min. The pulmonary artery was cannulated to hinder flow of effluent into the left ventricle. A small cannula was inserted through the apex of the left ventricle to prevent fluid accumulation within the chamber. To measure left ventricular pressure (LVP), a fluid-filled latex balloon was inserted into the left ventricle through the mitral valve orifice. The balloon was connected to a Statham pressure transducer with a 9 cm length of polyethylene tubing. A Hamilton syringe positioned between the balloon and pressure transducer allowed for changes in balloon volume. After securing the

balloon in the LV, LV end-diastolic pressure was maintained at 5 mmHg. Hearts were allowed to equilibrate for 30 minutes

3. Tau

Tau, the time constant for isovolumic relaxation, was measured in experiments assessing responsiveness to α -receptor stimulation. The beginning of isovolumic relaxation was defined as 75% peak systolic pressure (17). Tau was the time required for ventricular pressure at 75% peak systolic pressure to be reduced by 1/e.

4. Protocol

In the first series of experiments, hearts were perfused with KHB plus the α -receptor antagonist phentolamine (Regitine, 10⁻⁶ M). α -Adrenoceptor blockade was tested with 10⁻⁷ M methoxamine. Receptor blockade was considered complete when there was no change in ventricular function or perfusion pressure when the heart was challenged with the appropriate agonist. Hearts were perfused with increasing, cumulative concentrations of dobutamine (10⁻⁹ - 10⁻⁶ M). Steady state LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded at baseline, i.e., in the presence of α -receptor blockade, and at each concentration of dobutamine.

To assess α -adrenoceptor responsiveness, other hearts were subjected to decreasing concentrations of NE (10⁻⁶ - 10⁻⁷ M). After a twenty minute wash, 10⁻⁶ M timolol was added to the perfusate. β -Receptor blockade was tested with isoproterenol (10⁻⁷ M). Hearts were re-exposed to NE (10⁻⁶ - 10⁻⁷ M). LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were measured before exposure to NE and after two minutes at each NE concentration. Control measurements of tau were also recorded.

5. Data Analysis

All values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. An analysis of variance was used to test for differences between groups. The Student-Newman Keuls test was used to isolate differences. Values of p<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

C. RESULTS

Baseline peak LVP for hearts isolated after the 90 minute infusion was 93.4 \pm 2.6 mmHg for SAL compared to 84.8 \pm 3.4, 78.2 \pm 5.7 and 80.8 \pm 8.2 mmHg for NE2-A, NE4-A and NE6-A, respectively. Although peak LVP's were slightly lower in hearts from NE treated rabbits, there were no significant differences between the groups. At 48 hours post infusion, NE6-C peak LVP of 80.5 \pm 4.4 mmHg was significantly lower than SAL (93.4 \pm 2.6 mmHg), NE2-C (97.5 \pm 5.1 mmHg) and NE4-C (95.8 \pm 4.7 mmHg).

NE treated hearts increased LVP in response to increasing concentrations of dobutamine (Figure 5-1, panels A and B). Peak LVP generated by hearts acutely treated with NE was lower than SAL at each concentration, but the difference was significant only at 10⁻⁷ M dobutamine (panel A). Forty-eight hours post infusion, there were no differences in LVP for NE2-C, NE4-C and SAL at any concentration of dobutamine (panel B). NE6-C peak LVP was lower than SAL, NE2-C and NE4-C in the presence of dobutamine but NE6-C was significantly lower than SAL and NE2-C only at 10⁻⁷ M. Changes in LVP with exposure to dobutamine were less than SAL in NE2-A at 10⁻⁷ M and in NE4-C at 10⁻⁷ M and 10⁻⁶ M (Table 5-1). Changes in LVP

in other groups were not significantly different from SAL at any dobutamine concentration.

Baseline LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ of NE treated hearts were not different than SAL immediately after or at 48 hours post infusion (Figure 5-2, panels A and B). All hearts increased LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ in response to dobutamine yet LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ of NE2-A, NE4-A and NE6-A were significantly lower than SAL at 10⁻⁸ M, 10⁻⁷ M and 10⁻⁶ M dobutamine (Figure 5-2, panel A). Similarly, the change in LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ was significantly less than SAL for all NE-A groups at 10⁻⁷ and 10⁻⁶ M dobutamine (Table 5-1). In chronic experiments, NE4-C and NE6-C LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ were significantly lower than SAL at 10⁻⁶ M dobutamine (Figure 5-2, panel B) but the mmHg/sec increase in LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ was significantly less than SAL only in NE4-C (Table 5-1).

In acute experiments, LV -dP/dt_{max} was depressed in NE2-A, NE4-A and NE6-A at baseline and 10^{-8} M through 10^{-6} M dobutamine compared to SAL (Figure 5-3, panel A). Two days post infusion (Figure 5-3, panel B), NE6-C LV -dP/dt_{max} was reduced at baseline and at 10^{-6} M dobutamine while NE4-C LV -dP/dt_{max} was lower than SAL at 10^{-6} M dobutamine. However, changes from baseline LV -dP/dt_{max} when hearts were perfused with dobutamine were similar in SAL and NE treated hearts (Table 5-1).

Left ventricular pressure developed by NE2 at baseline and in the presence of dobutamine showed improvement within 48 hours of NE infusion. NE4-C LVP was significantly greater than NE4-A at baseline and at 10^{-8} M dobutamine (Figure 5-1). NE2-C LV +dP/dt_{max} was greater than NE2-A at 10^{-7} and 10^{-6} M dobutamine. NE4-C



Effect of increasing dobutamine concentrations on left ventricular pressure (LVP) development in hearts from rabbits infused with saline (SAL) or norepinephrine at 2 (NE2), 4 (NE4), and 6 (NE6) μ g/kg/min. Panel A: LVP generated by hearts isolated immediately after infusion (-A). Panel B: LVP developed in hearts isolated 48 hours post infusion (-C). End diastolic pressure is 5 mmHg. Values are presented as mean \pm SEM. B: baseline function. * p<0.05 compared to SAL, # p<0.05 compared to NE2-C, and ° p<0.05 compared to NE4-C.

FIGURE 5-2





Effect of dobutamine on LV +dP/dt generated by hearts isolated immediately post infusion (panel A) or at two days (panel B). End diastolic pressure is 5 mmHg. LV +dP/dt, first derivative of LVP; other abbreviations as in Figure 5-1. * Significantly different from SAL (p < 0.05).

DOBUTAMINE LV -dP/dt DOSE-RESPONSE CURVES



Effect of increasing concentrations of dobutamine on the first derivative of left ventricular pressure decline (LV -dP/dt) in hearts isolated immediately after (panel A) or two days post (panel B) saline or norepinephrine infusion. Diastolic pressure = 5 mmHg. Abbreviations as in Figure 5-1. * p < 0.05 compared to SAL.

TABLE 5-1

CHANGE IN LEFT VENTRICULAR FUNCTION WITH DOBUTAMINE

LVP (mmHg)	10 ⁻⁷ M DOB	10 ⁻⁶ M DOB
SAL NE2-A NE4-A	13.4 ± 1.3 $5.8 \pm 1.3*$ 9.0 ± 0.6 0.8 ± 2.2	$\begin{array}{r} 35.5 \pm 2.7 \\ 27.9 \pm 3.9 \\ 37.0 \pm 2.0 \\ 25.6 \pm 7.2 \end{array}$
NEO-A NE2-C NE4-C NE6-C	9.8 ± 3.3 12.5 ± 1.5 $6.4 \pm 1.1*$ 12.8 ± 1.4	$33.6 \pm 7.2 \\32.1 \pm 3.1 \\24.8 \pm 1.5* \\34.5 \pm 3.3$
LV +dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	10 ⁻⁷ M DOB	10 ⁻⁶ M DOB
SAL NE2-A NE4-A NE6-A NE2-C NE4-C NE6-C	$454.7 \pm 66.3 \\ 136.6 \pm 27.0* \\ 220.9 \pm 32.0* \\ 220.7 \pm 61.7* \\ 431.8 \pm 23.2 \\ 219.0 \pm 34.7* \\ 358.7 \pm 45.4$	1734.0 ± 165.6 $1064.7 \pm 99.7*$ $1242.9 \pm 95.8*$ $1043.2 \pm 160.5*$ 1330.3 ± 51.9 $1139.5 \pm 24.0*$ 1312.4 ± 63.4
LV -dP/dt (mmHg/sec)	10 ⁻⁷ M DOB	10 ⁻⁶ M DOB
SAL NE2-A NE4-A NE6-A NE2-C NE4-C NE6-C	$\begin{array}{r} -205.7 \pm 26.8 \\ -112.0 \pm 36.2 \\ -111.4 \pm 15.3 \\ -176.8 \pm 51.3 \\ -172.2 \pm 42.4 \\ -114.4 \pm 14.2 \\ -180.1 \pm 10.0 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{r} -745.9 \pm 69.8 \\ -549.4 \pm 72.5 \\ -559.9 \pm 51.2 \\ -587.0 \pm 108.9 \\ -623.4 \pm 50.2 \\ -460.1 \pm 24.2* \\ -658.8 \pm 15.5 \end{array}$

Listed values are means \pm SEM for the increase in ventricular function above baseline values. DOB: dobutamine; other abbreviations as in Figure 5-1. *p<0.05 compared to SAL.

generated a higher LV +dP/dt_{max} than NE4-A at baseline and concentrations of dobutamine to 10^{-7} M (Figure 5-2). Diastolic function of NE2 and NE4, as measured by LV -dP/dt_{max}, was improved at baseline and in the presence of dobutamine by the second day after the infusion (Figure 5-3). Systolic and diastolic function did not improve over the 48 hour period in NE6.

In the second series of experiments, LVP was depressed in NE4-A (73.7 \pm 3.4 mmHg) and NE4-C (75.8 \pm 2.7 mmHg) under control conditions when compared to SAL (91.7 \pm 4.9 mmHg) (Figure 5-4). LVP increased significantly in all groups in response to 10⁻⁶ M NE, although, pressures developed by NE4-A and NE4-C were still lower than SAL. Perfusing hearts with KHB + timolol did not change LVP's. In the presence of timolol, 10⁻⁶ M NE increased LVP slightly, but insignificantly, in all groups.

There were no differences in control LV +dP/dt_{max} between the groups (Figure 5-5) but control LV -dP/dt_{max} of NE4-A and NE4-C was significantly lower than SAL (Figure 5-6). NE (10⁻⁶ M) increased LV +dP/dt_{max} and LV -dP/dt_{max} significantly in all groups. In the presence of timolol, NE4-A LV +dP/dt_{max} was 1057.4 \pm 38.2 mmHg/sec and was significantly lower than SAL (1342 \pm 60.7 mmHg/sec) and NE4-C (1306.7 \pm 58.4). LV -dP/dt_{max} generated in the presence of timolol was not different from control values. With the β -adrenoceptors blocked, NE increased LV +dP/dt_{max} slightly but insignificantly in all groups. Similarly, LV -dP/dt_{max} generated by α -receptor stimulation was not significant except in NE4-A in presence of 10⁻⁶ M NE.

FIGURE 5-4

NOREPINEPHRINE INDUCED CHANGES IN VENTRICULAR PRESSURE BEFORE AND AFTER β -ADRENERGIC RECEPTOR BLOCKADE



Left ventricular pressure (LVP) developed in the presence of norepinephrine (NE) before and after β adrenergic receptor blockade by timolol (TIM). Hearts were isolated immediately after 4 μ g/kg/min NE infusion (NE4-A) or 48 hours after saline (SAL) or 4 μ g/kg/min infusion (NE4-C). * p<0.05 as compared to SAL, # p<0.05 as compared to corresponding control pressure.
FIGURE 5-5

CHANGES IN LV +dP/dt INDUCED BY NOREPINEPHRINE BEFORE AND AFTER β -RECEPTOR BLOCKADE



Effect of norepinephrine on the first derivative of LVP (LV +dP/dt) before and after the addition of TIM. Refer to Figure 5-4 for additional abbreviations. * Significantly different than SAL (p < 0.05), # Significantly different from control value, ° Significantly different from NE4-C.

128

FIGURE 5-6

CHANGES IN LV -dP/dt INDUCED BY NOREPINEPHRINE BEFORE AND AFTER β -RECEPTOR BLOCKADE



Effect of norepinephrine on the first derivative of LVP decline (LV -dP/dt) before and after β -receptor blockade by timolol. Abbreviations as in Figure 5-4. * p < 0.05 when compared to SAL, # p < 0.05 compared to NE4-A, ° p < 0.05 compared to control value.

TABLE 5-2

CHANGE IN VENTRICULAR FUNCTION DUE TO α -RECEPTOR STIMULATION

	NE 10 ⁻⁷ M	NE 5 X 10 ⁻⁷ M	NE 10 ⁻⁶ M
LVP			
SAL	7.3 ± 2.2	10.6 ± 2.0	10.9 ± 2.2
NE4-A	8.4 ± 1.4	13.0 ± 0.8	10.0 ± 2.3
NE4-C	6.2 ± 1.6	6.3 ± 1.6	$3.5 \pm 1.6^*$
LV +dP/dt			
SAL	175.9 ± 46.1	280.6 ± 46.6	275.9 ± 42.6
NE4-A	161.5 ± 28.8	236.2 <u>+</u> 7.9	182.4 ± 34.3
NE4-C	169.0 ± 53.9	293.9 ± 52.8	288.5 ± 48.2
LV -dP/dt			
SAL	-124.6 ± 38.6	-157.5 ± 22.4	-157.1 ± 24.8
NE4-A	-149.1 ± 27.1	-210.5 ± 23.8	$-397.5 \pm 29.8*$
NE4-C	-34.7 ± 25.5	$-61.1 \pm 26.1*#$	-75.4 ± 18.7*#

Hearts were perfused with norepinephrine (NE) in the presence of timolol. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. Abbreviations as in Figure 5-4. * p<0.05 compared to SAL. # p<0.05 compared to NE4-A.

Changes in LVP and LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ due to α -adrenoceptor stimulation were similar among the groups however, the LVP generated by NE4-C was significantly less than SAL at 10⁻⁶ M NE (Table 5-2). Changes in diastolic function, as measured by LV $-dP/dt_{max}$, were lower in NE4-C at all NE concentrations compared to SAL and NE4-A. The increase in NE4-C LV $-dP/dt_{max}$ was significantly less than SAL and NE4-A at both 5 x 10⁻⁷ M and at 10⁻⁶ M NE. The change in NE4-A LV $-dP/dt_{max}$ was significantly greater than SAL and NE4-C at the highest NE concentration.

Tau, an additional measure of diastolic function, was significantly depressed in NE treated hearts under control conditions. Tau was 22.0 \pm 0.9 msec for SAL hearts and 24.9 \pm 0.7 msec and 24.9 \pm 0.6 msec for NE4-A and NE4-C, respectively.

D. DISCUSSION

Exposure of tissue to an adrenergic agonist results in a rapid desensitization of adrenergic receptor mediated events. Hayes et al. (10) reported that isoproterenol (ISO) infusion attenuated subsequent myocardial inotropic responses to ISO, a β adrenergic agonist, but not to phenylephrine, an α -receptor agonist. Chang et al. (5) have also shown a selective desensitization of rat β -adrenergic receptors following a NE infusion with no change in the responsiveness of α -adrenergic receptors. In contrast, Corder et al. (7) reported a decrease in β -receptors and α -receptors after ISO injection. This difference in the results reported by these investigators may be related to the dose of catecholamines administered. Schulze et al. (18) reported that adenylate cyclase isolated from necrotic areas of the rat left ventricle previously damaged by an injection of high dose ISO, was unable to increase enzyme activity to the same degree as the cyclase from normal tissue with subsequent ISO stimulation. The decline in the ability to stimulate adenylate cyclase activity by ISO may have been due to receptor uncoupling and internalization (5,16). However, several investigators have suggested that high dose catecholamines or prolonged exposure to catecholamines may induce a defect in the G protein or adenylate cyclase enzyme (7,22).

In our study, it was hypothesized that desensitization of β -adrenergic receptoradenylate cyclase system or alteration in effector proteins with catecholamine administration would result in a depressed ability of dobutamine, a β -receptor agonist, to increase ventricular function after NE infusion. Our data demonstrated that hearts isolated from rabbits immediately after or 48 hours post NE administration, increased LVP and LV -dP/dt_{max} the same amount as SAL hearts in response to β -receptor stimulation. These data suggest that the β -receptor was not functionally uncoupled from adenylate cyclase.

The ability of β -receptor stimulation to increase LV +dP/dt_{max} in hearts acutely injured by NE was impaired. The findings of this study suggest that NE treatment acutely altered the formation of cross-bridges between actin and myosin, cross-bridge motion, rephosphorylation of the myosin head by ATP or the dissociation of the actomyosin complex. Conceivably, the maximal number of cross-bridges formed was not changed since the increase in LVP of NE treated hearts was not different than SAL. Brown and Hudlicka have reported that hearts of NE treated rabbits increased $+dP/dt_{max}$ to the same degree as saline controls when challenged with intravenous NE 48 hours after treatment (4). Similarly, in our study the increase in LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ 48 hours after the infusion was not different among the groups.

Increase in cardiac function mediated by α_1 -adrenoceptors in the presence of β -receptor blockade has been demonstrated in various mammals (1,2,20,23). In this study we also reported a slight, but insignificant, increase in left ventricular systolic and diastolic function with α_1 -receptor stimulation. At the onset of these experiments it was proposed that α -receptor mediated changes in ventricular function would be greater after NE administration. However, changes in ventricular systolic performance with α_1 -receptor stimulation were not altered either acutely or chronically after NE treatment. These results are in agreement with data reported by Hayes et al. (10) which showed that responsiveness of the rat myocardium to α -adrenergic agonists was not changed following a prolonged ISO infusion.

In summary, the results presented in this chapter indicate that (1) the responsiveness of the NE cardiomyopathic heart to β -adrenergic receptor stimulation was not impaired during these experiments and (2) the α_1 -adrenergic receptor system was not more important in increasing left ventricular function in the rabbit after NE-induced injury. Furthermore the results suggest that NE treatment acutely altered a step in cross-bridges formation or cycling.

E. **REFERENCES**

- 1. BENFEY, B.G. Characterization of alpha-receptors in the myocardium. Br. J. Pharmacol. 48:132-138, 1973.
- 2. BENFEY, B.G. Function of myocardial alpha-adrenoceptors. Life Sci. 31:101-112, 1982.
- 3. BOUVIER, M., W.P. HAUSDORFF, A. DEBLASI, B.F. O'DOWD, B.K. KOBILKA, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Removal of phosphorylation sites from the β 2-adrenergic receptor delays onset of agonist-promoted desensitization. *Nature* 333:370-373, 1988.
- 4. BROWN, M.D., and O. HUDLICKA. Protective effects of long-term bradycardial pacing against catecholamine-induced myocardial damage in rabbit hearts. *Circ. Res.* 62:965-974, 1988.
- 5. CHANG, H.Y., R.M. KLEIN, and G. KUNOS. Selective desensitization of cardiac beta adrenoceptors by prolonged in vivo infusion of catecholamines in rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 221:784-789, 1982.
- 6. CHUANG, D., and E. COSTA. Evidence for internalization of the recognition site of β -adrenergic receptors during receptor subsensitivity induced by (-)isoproterenol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:3024-3028, 1979.
- 7. CORDER, D.W., C.E. HEYLIGER, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Defect in the adrenergic receptor-adenylate cyclase system during development of catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart J.* 107:537-542, 1984.
- 8. FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, H.S. WEILY, D.G. WEILBAECHER, J.J. WALSH, and G.E. BURCH. A histochemical and electron microscopic study of epinephrine-induced myocardial necrosis. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 1:11-22, 1970.
- 9. HAFT, J.I. Cardiovascular injury induced by sympathetic catecholamines. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 17:73-86, 1974.
- 10. HAYES, J.S., V.L. WYSS, K.S. SCHENCK, and M.L. COHEN. Effects of prolonged isoproterenol infusion on cardiac and vascular responses to adrenoceptor agonist. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 237:757-763, 1986.
- 11. KAUMANN, A.J., and L. BIRNBAUMER. Desensitization of kitten atria to chronotropic, inotropic and adenylyl cyclase stimulating effects of (-)isoprenaline. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 293:199-202, 1976.

- 12. KIRKENDOL, P.L., and R.A. WOODBURY. Hemodynamic effects of infused norepinephrine in dogs on cardiopulmonary bypass. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 181:369-376, 1972.
- 13. LEEB-LUNDBERG, L.M.F., S. COTECCHIA, A. DEBLASI, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Regulation of adrenergic function by phosphorylation. I. Agonist promoted desensitization and phosphorylation of α -adrenergic receptors coupled to inositol phospholipid metabolism in DDT MF-2 smooth muscle cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262:3098-3105, 1987.
- 14. LEFKOWITZ, R.J., and M.G. CARON. Adrenergic receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 263:4993-4996, 1988.
- 15. LOHSE, M.J., J.L. BENOVIC, M.G. CARON, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Multiple pathways of rapid β -adrenergic receptor desensitization. J. Biol. Chem. 265:3202-3209, 1990.
- 16. MARSH, J.D., W.H. BARRY, E.J. NEER, R.W. ALEXANDER, and T.W. SMITH. Desensitization of chick embryo ventricle to the physiological and biochemical effects of isoproterenol. *Circ. Res.* 47:493-501, 1980.
- 17. O'TOOLE, M.F., P.A. SOBOTKA, D. RADZIALOWSKI, R. NEMICKAS, P.J. SCANLON, and J.X. THOMAS, Jr.. Heart rate and volume dependency of isovolumic relaxation in the isolated rat heart. *FASEB. J.* 3:A1172, 1989.
- 18. SCHULZE, W., B. OSTADAL, and V. PELOUCH. Adenylate cyclase activity and localization in necrotic and non-necrotic areas of rat myocardium after injection of high doses of isoproterenol. *Biomed. Biochim. Acta* 43:67-75, 1984.
- 19. SIBLEY, D.R., R.H. STRASSER, J.L. BENOVIC, K. DANIEL, and R.J. LEFKOWITZ. Phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of the β -adrenergic receptor regulates its functional coupling to adenylate cyclase and subcellular distribution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83:9408-9412, 1986.
- 20. SKOMEDAL, T., I.G. SCHIANDER, and J.B. OSNES. Both alpha and beta adrenoceptor-mediated components contribute to final inotropic response to norepinephrine in rat heart. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 247:1204-1210, 1988.

- TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. II. Temporal development of isoproterenol-induced contraction band lesions correlated with ECG, hemodynamic and biochemical changes. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 17:647-656, 1985.
- 22. TSE, J., J.R. POWELL, C.A. BASTE, R.E. PRIEST, and J.F. KUO. Isoproterenol-induced cardiac hypertrophy: Modifications in characteristics of β -adrenergic receptor, adenylate cyclase, and ventricular contraction. *Endocrinology* 105:246-255, 1979.
- 23. WAGNER, J., and O.E. BRODDE. On the presence and distribution of alpha-adrenoceptors in the heart of various mammalian species. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol.* 302:239-254, 1978.
- 24. WALDO, G.L., J.K. NORTHRUP, J.P. PERKINS, and T.K. HARDEN. Characterization of an altered membrane form of the β -adrenergic receptor produced during agonist-induced desensitization. J. Biol. Chem. 258:13900-13908, 1983.

CHAPTER VI

EFFECT OF α -TOCOPHEROL AND SELENIUM PRETREATMENT ON NOREPINEPHRINE-INDUCED CARDIOTOXICITY

A. INTRODUCTION

Excessive endogenous or exogenous catecholamines produce multifocal lesions within the myocardium (65). Characteristic damage includes edema, contraction band formation, myofibrillar disintegration, cellular infiltration and necrosis (18,64,65,67). The etiology of this injury has not been fully elucidated but multiple mechanisms have been suggested (50). Several investigators have proposed that products of catecholamine autoxidation are involved in the cardiotoxicity of catecholamines (27,43,45,53).

The autoxidation of catecholamines generates free radicals and unstable, cytotoxic metabolites (5,24,53,58). Free radicals cause tissue damage by reacting with polyunsaturated lipids within membranes (10,35,48), nucleotides in DNA (35), or sulfhydryl bonds in proteins (35,40). The peroxidation of cellular membranes initiated by free radicals (35,52) alters membrane structure, integrity and function (32,34,37,60). Oxidative metabolites induce ultrastructural damage similar to that produced by high dose catecholamines (14,71,72,74). Enzyme activity (57,58),

mitochondrial function (14,59) and ventricular function (14,71-73) are also impaired by the metabolites of catecholamine oxidation.

 α -Tocopherol, a constituent of vitamin E, is an antioxidant (7) which scavenges free radicals and terminates peroxidation of lipids within biological membranes (9,19,21,61). Singal et al. have shown that vitamin E protected against the deleterious effects of isoproterenol in the rat (53). These investigators have also demonstrated increased lipoperoxidation in the rat myocardium with ISO that is prevented by α tocopherol pretreatment (52). Selenium is an essential trace element and integral component of glutathione peroxidase (28,62). Selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase is an enzyme that reduces oxidized lipids. The administration of selenium has been shown to increase glutathione peroxidase activity and afford protection against lipid peroxidation (2,12,17,26).

Adequate amounts of selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase and α tocopherol are essential for normal cellular physiology particularly if tissues are exposed to substances which directly or indirectly promote lipid peroxidation. If catecholamine cardiotoxicity is mediated by lipid peroxidation, the administration of α -tocopherol and selenium should protect the myocardium from injury. The purpose of this study was to determine if a two week pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium would protect the rabbit myocardium from norepinephrine induced injury.

B. METHODS

1. Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy

Thirteen male, New Zealand white rabbits (2.2 kg) were treated subcutaneously with α -tocopherol (25.0 mg; BO-SE, Schering Co., U.S.A.) and selenium (0.5 mg) every other day for two weeks. Twenty-four hours after the last treatment rabbits were anesthetized with intravenous sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg). Saline (SAL-E; n=6) or 4 μ g/kg/min norepinephrine bitartrate (NE4-E; n=7) was infused for 90 minutes via the marginal ear vein. Infusion rate was constant at 0.238 ml/min. Seventeen rabbits not receiving vitamin pretreatment were infused with saline (SAL; n=11) or NE (NE4; n=6). Ventricular function was studied two days post infusion.

When the rabbits were deeply anesthetized (sodium pentobarbital, 30 mg/kg, IV), heparin (500 IU/kg) was administered and the thoracic cavity was opened. The heart was quickly excised and placed in cold heparinized Krebs-Henseleit buffer modified with 11 mM glucose (KHB; pH 7.4). The aorta was cleaned of fat and connective tissue and the heart was weighed. The heart was placed on a non-recirculating, constant flow Langendorff apparatus and perfused with KHB at 10 ml/min/g wet weight. KHB was warmed by Graham condensers and constant temperature circulator to maintain intraventricular temperature at $37 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C. A right atrial bipolar electrode was used to pace hearts at 220 beats/min. The pulmonary artery was cannulated to hinder flow of effluent into the left ventricle. A small cannula was inserted through the apex of the left ventricle to prevent fluid accumulation within the chamber. To measure left ventricular pressure (LVP), a fluid-filled latex balloon was inserted into the left ventricle through the mitral valve

orifice. The balloon was connected to a Statham pressure transducer with polyethylene tubing. A Hamilton syringe positioned between the balloon and pressure transducer allowed for changes in balloon volume. After securing the balloon in the LV, balloon volume was adjusted so LV end-diastolic pressure (LVEDP) was 5 mmHg.

2. Protocol

After a 30 minute equilibration period, LVEDP was varied from 0 to 25 mmHg (5 mmHg steps) then reset to 5 mmHg. Baseline LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded at each LVEDP. Hearts were exposed to cumulative, increasing concentrations of NE ($10^{-10} - 10^{-6}$ M). At each NE concentration, LVEDP was varied from 0 to 25 mmHg (5 mmHg increments) then reset to 5 mmHg. Steady state LVP and LV dP/dt_{max} were recorded.

3. Histology

At the end of several experiments, the atria and right ventricular free wall were dissected from the left ventricle. A midlevel transverse section of LV and septum was fixed in 10% buffered formalin and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. LV sections were viewed (blindly) to verify the presence or absence of myocardial injury. This injury was characterized by edema, loss of nuclei, focal myofiber destruction, and the presence of cellular infiltration. Sections were assessed by a pathologist who had no knowledge of experimental design.

4. Data analysis

All values are expressed as mean \pm SEM. An analysis of variance (ANOVA)

was used to test for differences between groups. The Student-Newman Keuls test was used to isolate differences. Values of p < 0.5 were considered statistically significant.

C. RESULTS

1. Heart Weights

Body weights were similar in α -tocopherol and selenium treated and untreated rabbits. The weights of cardiomyopathic hearts (NE4 5.0 ± 0.1 g; NE4-E 5.5 ± 0.2 g) were not different than normal hearts (SAL 4.9 ± 0.2 g; SAL-E 5.1 ± 0.2 g).

2. Left Ventricular Function

There was no difference in baseline LVP for LVEDP's of 5 to 25 mmHg among the groups (Figure 6-1). At EDP of 0 mmHg, LVP developed by NE4-E was significantly lower than SAL and NE4. Increases in LVP with changing LVEDP were similar in all groups.

Positive LV dP/dt_{max} was reduced significantly in hearts from rabbits treated with α -tocopherol and selenium (Figure 6-2) as compared to SAL at all EDP's. At 5 mmHg EDP, LV +dP/dt_{max} was 1498.0 ± 67.7 and 1348.6 ± 97.5 mmHg/sec for SAL-E and NE4-E respectively, compared to 1762.4 ± 95.9 mmHg/sec for SAL and 1635.6 ± 82.6 mmHg/sec for NE4. Negative LV dP/dt_{max} also was depressed significantly in NE4, SAL-E and NE4-E compared to SAL (Figure 6-3).

Left ventricular systolic function improved in all groups in response to increasing concentrations of NE (Figure 6-4). NE4-E LV $+dP/dt_{max}$ was lower than





Mean \pm SEM for left ventricular systolic pressure (LVP) as a function of end diastolic pressure. SAL: hearts isolated from rabbits infused with saline. NE4: hearts from rabbits infused with 4 μ g/kg/min norepinephrine. SAL-E: hearts from rabbits infused with saline after pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium. NE4-E: rabbits infused with 4 μ g/kg/min norepinephrine after pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium. NE4-E: rabbits infused with 4 μ g/kg/min norepinephrine after pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium. * indicates a significant difference compared to SAL. # indicates a significant difference compared to NE4.

BASELINE LEFT VENTRICULAR +dP/dt_{max} AS A FUNCTION OF END-DIASTOLIC PRESSURE



Mean \pm SEM for the first derivative of increasing left ventricular pressure, LV +dP/dt_{max}, as a function of end-diastolic pressure. Abbreviations as in Figure 6-1. * indicates a significant difference from SAL. # indicates a significant difference from NE4.

BASELINE LV -dP/dt_{max} AS A FUNCTION OF END-DIASTOLIC PRESSURE



Mean \pm SEM for the first derivative of decreasing left ventricular pressure, LV -dP/dt_{max}, as a function of end-diastolic pressure. Abbreviations as in Figure 6-1. * p<0.05 compared to SAL.

EFFECTS OF NOREPINEPHRINE ON LEFT VENTRICULAR SYSTOLIC FUNCTION



Mean \pm SEM values for the first derivative of increasing left ventricular pressure (LV +dP/dt_{max}) at baseline (B) and in response to increasing concentrations of norepinephrine. Measurements recorded at 5 mmHg end diastolic pressure. Other abbreviations as in Figure 6-1. * indicates a significant difference from SAL.

CHANGES IN DIASTOLIC FUNCTION IN RESPONSE TO NOREPINPHRINE



Mean \pm SEM values for the first derivative of decreasing left ventricular pressure (LV -dP/dt_{max}) in response to increasing norepinephrine concentrations. Measurements recorded at 5 mmHg end diastolic pressure. Refer to Figure 6-1 for other abbreviations. * indicates a significant difference from SAL. ° indicates significant difference from SAL-E.

SAL at baseline and at NE concentrations to 10^{-7} M. At 10^{-6} M NE, LV +dP/dt_{max} was virtually the same in all groups. Increased diastolic function was also observed during perfusion with NE (Figure 6-5). At baseline and NE concentrations to 10^{-7} M, LV -dP/dt_{max} was significantly lower in NE4 and NE4-E compared to SAL. There was no difference in LV -dP/dt_{max} among the groups at 10^{-6} M NE.

3. Histology

Histological sections showed no abnormalities in the left ventricles of SAL and SAL-E. Edema, contraction bands, loss of myofibrillar material and nuclei and cellular infiltrates were observed in NE treated hearts. This histological injury was not quantified.

D. DISCUSSION

The results of the present study show that LV diastolic function is depressed two days post NE infusion. Treating rabbits for two weeks with α -tocopherol and selenium did not protect the myocardium from NE-induced injury. Surprisingly, treatment significantly decreased baseline LV function. However, all groups increased ventricular function similarly in response to increasing concentrations of NE. At the highest concentration of NE, there was no difference in LV diastolic and systolic function among the groups.

Circulating NE is normally inactivated by tissue uptake with subsequent storage and metabolism, conjugation, or urinary excretion of the free catecholamine. During prolonged infusion of high dose NE, these mechanism may be saturated leaving more free catecholamine to undergo autoxidation. Spontaneously oxidized isoproterenol (14,72), adrenochrome (54,57-59,74) and free radicals (29,47) damage the myocardium and decrease left ventricular function. Free radicals attack unsaturated bonds of membrane phospholipids, abstract an hydrogen ion and initiation lipid peroxidation (11,35,46,62). Membrane permeability (6,30,37) and fluidity (16,20) are altered by lipoperoxidation. Additionally, mitochondrial and microsomal enzymes (46,60,70) and membrane ATPases (49) are inactivated. Alterations in enzyme function may be due to protein damage and subsequent polymerization or due to changes in the phospholipid microenvironment (23,25). Noronha-Dutra et al. (43) have shown that incubation of isolated heart cells with plasma from rats given high dose epinephrine induced the formation of membrane microblebs and microvilli. Sarcolemmal permeability was also increased. These changes in membrane characteristics are evidence of lipid peroxidation.

 α -Tocopherol, an effective chain-breaking antioxidant (8,61), terminates lipid peroxidation in sarcolemmal and intracellular membranes (22,63) and preserves membrane structure and function (34). Glutathione peroxidase reduces lipid hydroperoxides formed by peroxidation to hydroxy acids (38,51,61,62) preventing these peroxides from altering membrane structure and function (26). Tappel has reported that selenium-dependent glutathione peroxidase activity increased with lipid peroxidation (62). Additionally, selenium administration was reported to increase glutathione peroxidase activity (2,12,17,26). Pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium should protect myocardial membranes from peroxidative damage. Singal et al. (53) reported that pretreating rats with vitamin E (10 mg/kg/day) for two weeks protected the myocardium from isoproterenol induced damage and reduced high energy phosphate levels. A water-soluble analogue of vitamin E, Trolox C, has also been shown to be effective in preventing deleterious effects of isoproterenol in neonatal rat heart cultures (45). In contrast, the administration of selenium and vitamin E to pigs did not protect against myocardial damage with isoproterenol but did prolong survival (66). In the present study we have shown that pretreatment with α tocopherol and selenium did not protect the rabbit heart exposed to high dose norepinephrine. In fact, treatment with these agents tended to decrease baseline ventricular function (Figures 1, 2, and 3).

The cause of depressed baseline ventricular function in pretreated animals (SAL-E) compared to SAL is unclear. The incidence of α -tocopherol toxicity is very low (4,39,44,68). Rabbits, cats, dogs and monkeys can tolerate 200 mg/kg body weight without toxic effects (4). When dosage exceeded 1 g/kg body weight per day, coagulation problems developed possibly due to vitamin E inhibition of platelet aggregation or increased requirement for vitamin K (1,4,41,55,56). Vitamin K supplementation has been reported to alleviate the coagulation problems in the rat (68). Megadose vitamin E has been associated with skeletal muscle degeneration (15) and a necrotizing, nonprogressive skeletal myopathy with unusual paracrystalline inclusion bodies in humans (3). Cardiac toxicity has not been reported. In our study, 25 mg α -tocopherol acetate administered every other day for two weeks was significantly below toxic levels. Left ventricular sections from α -tocopherol and

selenium pretreated, saline infused rabbits (SAL-E) had no pathology.

In contrast to α -tocopherol, selenium has been shown to be toxic in experimental animals. Characteristic signs of acute selenosis include "garlic breath", lethargy, excessive salivation, vomiting, dyspnea, muscle tremors and respiratory failure (13,69). Endocarditis and myocarditis have also been observed. In rabbits, Levine and Flaherty (36) reported an LD₇₅ of 1.8 mg selenium/kg body weight for subcutaneous administration. Chronic selenosis is characterized by dermatitic lesions, anorexia with weight loss, and increased serum transaminases and alkaline phosphatase (13,33). Rabbits used in this study did not exhibit signs of acute or chronic selenium toxicity. Body and heart weights were not different between treated and untreated animals. Histological sections of the left ventricle from rabbits treated with α -tocopherol and selenium (SAL-E) had no signs of endocarditis or myocarditis. Serum levels of transaminase and alkaline phosphatase were not measured.

Vitamin E administered to rabbits in conjunction with selenium increased the LD_{50} from 2.53 mg/kg body weight to 2.73 mg/kg (69). This reduction in selenium toxicity (31,42,69) may be the result of vitamin E decreasing tissue selenium concentrations (42). In the present study, the administration of α -tocopherol may have decreased any overt toxic signs of selenium so they were not observed by the investigators. Alternatively, myocardial selenium or α -tocopherol concentrations elevated above some optimum may intrinsically depress myocardial function.

The data presented in this study shows that the administration of α -tocopherol and selenium every other day for two weeks does not protect the rabbit myocardium from NE induced injury. In fact, pretreatment depressed baseline function. However, it should be noted that this pretreatment did not significantly exacerbate the functional injury created with high dose NE.

Further investigation is needed to separate the effects of α -tocopherol and selenium on cardiac function and to determine if the protective effect of these agents against catecholamine injury is species specific. The role of oxidized metabolites and lipid peroxidation in the etiology of catecholamine cardiomyopathy remains to be elucidated.

E. **REFERENCES**

- 1. ABDO, K.M., G. RAO, C.A. MONTGOMERY, M. DINOWITZ, and K. KANAGALINGAM. Thirteen-week toxicity study of d-α-tocopherol acetate (vitamin E) in Fischer 344 rats. *Chem. Toxic.* 24:1043-1050, 1986.
- ADKINS, R.S., and R.C. EWAN. Effect of selenium on performance, serum selenium concentration and glutathione peroxidase activity in pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 58:346-350, 1984.
- 3. BARDOSI, A., and U. DICKMAN. Necrotizing myopathy with paracrystalline inclusion bodies in hypervitaminosis E. Acta Neuropathol. (Berl) 75:166-172, 1987.
- 4. BENDICH, A., and L.J. MACHLIN. Safety of oral intake of vitamin E. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 48:612-619, 1988.
- 5. BORS, W., C. MICHEL, M. SARAN, and E. LENGFELDER. The involvement of oxygen radicals during the autoxidation of adrenaline. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 540:162-172, 1978.
- 6. BRAUGHLER, J.M. Calcium and lipid peroxidation. In: Oxygen Radicals and Tissue Injury, edited by HALLIWELL, B. Bethesda:FASEB, 1988, p. 99-104.
- 7. BURTON, G.W., and K.U. INGOLD. Autoxidation of biological molecules. 1. The antioxidant activity of vitamin E and related chain-breaking phenolic antioxidants in vitro. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103:6472-6477, 1981.
- 8. BURTON, G.W., and K.U. INGOLD. Vitamin E: Application of the principles of physical organic chemistry to the exploration of its structure and function. Acc. Chem. Res. 19:194-201, 1986.
- 9. BURTON, G.W., A. JOYCE, and K.U. INGOLD. Is vitamin E the only lipid-soluble, chain-breaking antioxidant in human blood plasma and erythrocyte membranes?. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 221:281-290, 1983.
- CALDARERA, C.M., P. DAVALLI, and C. GUARNIERI. Effect of α-Tocopherol and sodium selenite on post-anoxic re-oxygenated rat hearts. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 10 (S):16, 1978.
- 11. CHANCE, B., H. SIES, and A. BOVERIS. Hydroperoxide metabolism in mammalian organs. *Physiol. Rev.* 59:527-605, 1979.

- 12. CHAVEZ, E.R. Effect of dietary selenium on glutathione peroxidase activity in piglets. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 59:67-75, 1979.
- 13. COMBS, G.F., and S.B. COMBS. Effects of selenium excess. In: *The Role of Selenium in Nutrition*, New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1986, p. 463-525.
- 14. DHALLA, N.S., J.C. YATES, S.L. LEE, and A. SINGH. Functional and subcellular changes in the isolated rat heart perfused with oxidized isoproterenol. *J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol.* 10:31-41, 1978.
- 15. DICKSON, J., D.L. HOPKINS, and G.H. DONCON. Muscle damage associated with injection of vitamin E in sheep. Aust. Vet. J. 63:231-233, 1986.
- 16. DOBRETSOV, G.E., T.A. BORSCHEVSKAYA, V.A. PETROV, and Y.A. VLADIMIROV. The increase of phospholipid bilayer rigidity after lipid peroxidation. *FEBS Letters* 84:125-128, 1977.
- 17. DONI, M.G., A. FALANGA, F. DELAINI, E. VICENZI, M. TOMASIAK, and M.B. DONATI. The effect of vitamin E or selenium on the oxidant-antioxidant balance in rats. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 65:75-80, 1984.
- 18. FERRANS, V.J., R.G. HIBBS, H.S. WEILY, D.G. WEILBAECHER, J.J. WALSH, and G.E. BURCH. A histochemical and electron microscopic study of epinephrine-induced myocardial necrosis. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 1:11-22, 1970.
- 19. FRAGATA, M., and F. BELLEMARE. Model of singlet oxygen scavenging by α -tocopherol in biomembranes. *Chem. Phys. Lipids* 27:93-99, 1980.
- FUKUZAWA, K., H. CHIDA, A. TOKUMURA, and H. TSUKATANI. Antioxidative effect of α-tocopherol incorporation into lecithin liposomes on ascorbic acid-Fe2+-induced lipid peroxidation. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 206:173-180, 1981.
- 21. FUKUZAWA, K., K. KISHIKAWA, T. TADOKORO, A. TOKUMURA, H. TSUKATANI, and J.M. GEBICKI. The effects of α -tocopherol on site-specific lipid peroxidation induced by iron in charged micelles. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 260:153-160, 1988.
- 22. FUKUZAWA, K., S. TAKASE, and H. TSUKATANI. The effect of concentration on the antioxidant effectiveness of α -tocopherol in lipid peroxidation induced by superoxide free radicals. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 240:117-120, 1985.

- 23. GOLDSTEIN, B.D., G.W. FALK, L.J. BENJAMIN, and E.M. MCDONAGH. Alterations in the chloroform quenching of red cell membrane native protein fluorescence following incubation with malonaldehyde and other crosslinking agents. *Blood Cells* 2:535-540, 1976.
- 24. GRAHAM, D.G., S.M. TIFFNAY, JR., W.R. BELL, and W.F. GUTKNECHT. Autoxidation versus covalent binding of quinones as the mechanism of toxicity of dopamine, 6-hydroxydopamine, and related compounds toward C1300 neuroblastoma cells in vitro. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 14:644-653, 1978.
- 25. GUARNIERI, C., F. FLAMIGNI, C. ROSSONI-CALDARERA, and R. FERRARI. Myocardial Mitochondrial Functions in Alpha-Tocopherol-Deficient and -Refed Rabbits. *Adv. Myocardiol.* 3:621-627, 1982.
- 26. HAFEMAN, D.G., R.A. SUNDE, and W.G. HOEKSTRA. Effect of dietary selenium on erythrocyte and liver glutathione peroxidase in the rat. J. Nutr. 104:580-587, 1974.
- 27. HAGGENDAL, J., L. JONSSON, G. JOHANSSON, S. BJURSTROM, J. CARLSTEN, and K. THOREN TOLLING. Catecholamine-induced free radicals in myocardial cell necrosis on experimental stress in pigs. *Acta Physiol. Scand.* 131:447-452, 1987.
- 28. HENNING, R.J., J. CHENG, and M.N. LEVY. Vagal stimulation decreases rate of left ventricular relaxation. *Am. J. Physiol.* 256:H428-H433, 1989.
- 29. HESS, M.L., E. OKABE, and H.A. KONTOS. Proton and Free Oxygen Radical Interaction with the Calcium Transport System of Cardiac Sarcoplasmic Reticulum. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 13:767-772, 1981.
- 30. HICKS, M., and J.M. GEBICKI. A quantitative relationship between permeability and the degree of peroxidation in ufasome membranes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 80:704-708, 1978.
- 31. HORWITT, M.K., and K.E. MASON. Tocopherols. XII. Pharmacology and toxicology. In: *Vitamins Vol.5*, (2nd ed.), edited by SEBRELL, JR., W.H., and R.S. HARRIS. New York: Academic Press, 1972, p. 309-312.
- HUNTER, F.E., A. SCOTT, P.E. HOFFSTEN, F. GUERRA, J. WEINSTEN, A. SCHNEIDER, B. SCHUTZ, J. FINK, L. FORD, and E. SMITH. Studies on the mechanism of ascorbate-induced swelling and lysis of isolated liver mitochondria. J. Biol. Chem. 239:604-613, 1964.

- 33. JACOBS, M., and C. FORST. Toxicological effects of sodium selenite in Sprague-Dawley rats. J. Toxicol. Environ. Hlth. 8:575-583, 1981.
- 34. KAGAN, V.E., V.M. SAVOV, V.V. DIDENKO, Y.V. ARKHIPENKO, and F.Z. MEERSON. Calcium and lipid peroxidation in mitochondrial and microsomal membranes of the heart. *Biochem. Biophys.* 95:458-461, 1983.
- 35. KAPPUS, H., and H. SIES. Toxic drug effects associated with oxygen metabolism: Redox cycling and lipid peroxidation. *Experientia* 37:1233-1241, 1981.
- 36. LEVINE, V.E., and R.A. FLAHERTY. Hypoglycemia induced by sodium selenite. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 24:251, 1926.
- LEVITSKY, D.O., A.V. LEBEDEV, V.A. LOGINOV, L.I. NIKOLAEVA, and V.N. SMIRNOV. Effect of compounds inducing Ca transport on model and biological membranes and on cardiac muscle. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 15 (S1):265-271, 1983.
- 38. LITTLE, C., and P.J. O'BRIEN. An intracellular GSH-peroxidase with a lipid peroxide substrate. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 31:145-150, 1968.
- 39. MACHLIN, L.J. Use and safety of elevated dosages of vitamin E in adults. Internat. J. Vit. Nutr. Res. 30:56-68, 1989.
- 40. MACHLIN, L.J., and A. BENDICH. Free radical tissue damage: protective role of antioxidant nutrients. *FASEB. J.* 1:441-445, 1987.
- 41. MACHLIN, L.J., R. FILIPSKI, A.L. WILLIS, D.C. KUHN, and M. BRIN. Influence of vitamin E on platelet aggregation and thrombocythemia in the rat (38787). Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 149:275-277, 1975.
- 42. MEYER, W.R., D.C. MAHAN, and A.L. MOXON. Value of dietary selenium and vitamin E for weanling swine as measured by performance and tissue selenium and glutathione peroxidase activities. J. Anim. Sci. 52:302-311, 1981.
- 43. NORONHA, A.A., E.M. STEEN-DUTRA, and N. WOOLF. Epinephrine-induced cytotoxicity of rat plasma. *Lab. Invest.* 59:817-823, 1988.
- 44. OMAYA, S.T. Safety of megavitamin therapy. In: Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology Vol. 177, edited by FRIEDMAN, M. New York:Plenum Press, 1984, p. 169-203.

- 45. PERSOON-ROTHERT, M., E.J.M. VAN DER VALK-KOKSHOORN, J.M. EGAS-KENNIPHAAS, I. MAUVE, and A. VAN DER LAARSE. Isoproterenol-induced cytotoxicity in neonatal rat heart cell cultures is mediated by free radical formation. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 21:1285-1291, 1989.
- 46. PLAA, G.L., and H. WITSCHI. Chemicals, drugs, and lipid peroxidation. Ann. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 16:125-141, 1976.
- 47. PRASAD, K., and J. KALRA. Oxygen free radicals and heart failure. *Angiology*. 39:417-420, 1988.
- 48. RALEIGH, J.A., W. KREMERS, and B. GABOURY. Dose-rate and oxygen effects in models of lipid membranes: linoleic acid. Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 31:203-213, 1977.
- 49. RICE-EVANS, C., and P. HOCHSTEIN. Alterations in erythrocyte membrane fluidity by phenylhydrazine-induced peroxidation of lipids. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 100:1537-1542, 1981.
- 50. RONA, G. Catecholamine cardiotoxicity. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:291-306, 1985.
- 51. ROTRUCK, J.T., A.L. POPE, H.E. GANTHER, A.B. SWANSON, D.G. HAFEMAN, and W.G. HOEKSTRA. Selenium: Biochemical role as a component of glutathione peroxidase. *Science* 179:588-590, 1973.
- 52. SINGAL, P.K., R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Potential oxidative pathways of catecholamines in the formation of lipid peroxides and genesis of heart disease. In: *Myocardial Injury Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology*, (161st ed.), edited by SPITZER, J.J. :, 1991, p. 391-401.
- 53. SINGAL, P.K., N. KAPUR, K.S. DHILLON, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Role of free radicals in catecholamine-induced cardiomyopathy. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 60:1390-1397, 1982.
- 54. SINGAL, P.K., J.C. YATES, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Influence of reducing agents on adrenochrome-induced changes in the heart. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 105:664-669, 1981.
- 54. STEINER, M., and J. ANASTASI. Vitamin E. An inhibitor of the platelet release reaction. J. Clin. Invest. 57:732-737, 1976.
- 56. TAKAHASHI, O., H. ICHIKAWA, and M. SASAKI. Hemorrhagic toxicity of d-α-tocopherol in the rat. *Toxicology* 63:157-165, 1990.

- 57. TAKEO, S., L. FLIEGEL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Effects of adrenochrome on rat heart sarcolemmal ATPase activities. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 29:559-564, 1980.
- 58. TAKEO, S., G.M.L. TAAM, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Effects of adrenochrome on calcium accumulating and adenosine triphosphatase activities of the rat heart microsomes. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 214:688-693, 1980.
- 59. TAKEO, S., G.M.L. TAAM, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Effect of adrenochrome on calcium accumulation by heart mitochondria. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 30:157-163, 1981.
- 60. TAPPEL, A.L. Free-radical lipid peroxidation damage and its inhibition by vitamin E and selenium. *Fed. Proc.* 24:73-78, 1965.
- 61. TAPPEL, A.L. Vitamin E and free radical peroxidation of lipids. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 203:12-28, 1972.
- 62. TAPPEL, A.L. Vitamin E and selenium protection from in vivo lipid peroxidation. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 18-31, 1980.
- 63. TAPPEL, A.L. Measurement of and protection from in vivo lipid peroxidation. In: *Free Radicals in Biology, Vol.IV*, edited by PRYOR, W.A. New York: Academic Press, Inc., 1980, p. 1-47.
- 64. TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. I. Morphology, quantification and regional distribution of acute contraction band lesions. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 17:317-338, 1985.
- 65. TODD, G.L., G. BAROLDI, G.M. PIEPER, F.C. CLAYTON, and R.S. ELIOT. Experimental catecholamine-induced myocardial necrosis. II. Temporal development of isoproterenol-induced contraction band lesions correlated with ECG, hemodynamic and biochemical changes. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 17:647-656, 1985.
- 66. VAN VLEET, J.F., A.H. REBAR, and V.J. FERRANS. Acute cobalt and isoproterenol cardiotoxicity in swine: Protection by selenium-vitamin E supplementation and potentiation by stress-susceptible phenotype. Am. J. Vet. Res. 38:991-1002, 1977.
- 67. WERNER, J.C., J.C. LEE, and S.E. DOWNING. Preservation of left ventricular function by insulin in experimental catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. J. Physiol.* 238:H257-H262, 1980.

- 68. WHELDON, G.H., A. BHATT, P. KELLER, and H. HUMMLER. Tocopherol acetate (Vitamin E): A long term toxicity and carcinogenicity study in rats. *Internat. J. Vit. Nutr. Res.* 53:287-296, 1983.
- 69. WILBER, C.G. Toxicology of selenium: A review. *Clin. Toxicol.* 17:171-230, 1980.
- 70. WILLS, E.D. Lipid peroxide formation in microsomes. *Biochem. J.* 113:333-341, 1969.
- 71. YATES, J.C., R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Ventricular dysfunction and necrosis produced by adrenochrome metabolite of epinephrine: relation to pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart. J.* 102:210-221, 1981.
- 72. YATES, J.C., and N.S. DHALLA. Induction of necrosis and failure in the isolated perfused rat heart with oxidized isoproterenol. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 7:807-816, 1975.
- 73. YATES, J.C., G.M. TAAM, P.K. SINGAL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Protection against adrenochrome-induced myocardial damage by various pharmacological interventions. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 61:242-255, 1980.
- 74. YATES, J.C., G.M. TAAM, P.K. SINGAL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Modification of adrenochrome-induced cardiac contractile failure and cell damage by changes in cation concentrations. *Lab. Invest.* 43:316-321, 1980.

- 68. WHELDON, G.H., A. BHATT, P. KELLER, and H. HUMMLER. Tocopherol acetate (Vitamin E): A long term toxicity and carcinogenicity study in rats. *Internat. J. Vit. Nutr. Res.* 53:287-296, 1983.
- 69. WILBER, C.G. Toxicology of selenium: A review. Clin. Toxicol. 17:171-230, 1980.
- 70. WILLS, E.D. Lipid peroxide formation in microsomes. *Biochem. J.* 113:333-341, 1969.
- 71. YATES, J.C., R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Ventricular dysfunction and necrosis produced by adrenochrome metabolite of epinephrine: relation to pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart. J.* 102:210-221, 1981.
- 72. YATES, J.C., and N.S. DHALLA. Induction of necrosis and failure in the isolated perfused rat heart with oxidized isoproterenol. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 7:807-816, 1975.
- 73. YATES, J.C., G.M. TAAM, P.K. SINGAL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Protection against adrenochrome-induced myocardial damage by various pharmacological interventions. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 61:242-255, 1980.
- 74. YATES, J.C., G.M. TAAM, P.K. SINGAL, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Modification of adrenochrome-induced cardiac contractile failure and cell damage by changes in cation concentrations. *Lab. Invest.* 43:316-321, 1980.

CHAPTER VII

MYOCARDIAL BLOOD FLOW DURING AND AFTER A HIGH DOSE NOREPINEPHRINE INFUSION

A. INTRODUCTION

Catecholamines can modulate myocardial blood flow directly by the activation of adrenergic receptors within the coronary vasculature (3,6,9,10,20) or indirectly by stimulating myocardial function and metabolism (3,15,16,24). Stimulation of the β adrenergic receptor produces dilation of coronary vessels (14,23,24). Similarly, intracoronary infusion of isoproterenol (ISO) has been shown to increase blood flow to the canine myocardium in a dose dependent manner (9). Blockade of the β_1 and β_2 -adrenergic receptors eliminated this response.

Under resting conditions, the α -adrenergic receptors mediate a tonic vasoconstrictor tone in the coronary vasculature. Further vasoconstriction of coronary vessels with the administration of catecholamines, particularly in the presence of β receptor blockade, has been demonstrated in several laboratories (1,16,18,22,25,26). In experiments where the dosage of a catecholamine was excessive, total myocardial blood flow was reduced below control with significantly less flow reaching the endocardium (4,8,9,21,27). Simons and Downing (21) reported decreased myocardial blood flow during an infusion of norepinephrine (NE) at a dose known to induce myocardial injury. It was suggested that coronary vasoconstriction and localized ischemia mediated by α -adrenergic receptor stimulation contributed to catecholamine-induced cardiac injury.

If the cardiac injury induced by high dose catecholamines is the result of ischemia, perfusion abnormalities may develop. Kloner et al. (11,12) have shown abnormal myocardial perfusion following a temporary coronary artery occlusion. This defect, the no-reflow phenomenon, is characterized by poor perfusion or possibly regions of no perfusion in the myocardium after an ischemic insult (5,11).

The purpose of this study was to determine if the myocardium was perfused normally after a 40 minute NE infusion (4 μ g/kg/min). Simons and Downing have reported that coronary blood flow was decreased at 40 minutes with the administration of NE (3 μ g/kg/min) (21). Flow changes for a longer time course have not been investigated. In the present study, a NE concentration higher than that used by Simons and Downing was chosen in attempt to exacerbate the ischemic response. Coronary blood flow was measured at control, 40 minutes of NE infusion and at one hour and two days post infusion to further characterize the response.

B. METHODS

1. Norepinephrine-Induced Cardiomyopathy

Nineteen New Zealand white rabbits were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (30 mg/kg IV) and infused with saline or norepinephrine (NE;

 $4\mu g/kg/min$) for 40 minutes. Coronary blood flow was measured at 0 and 40 minutes infusion and at one hour post-infusion in seven NE treated rabbits (NE4-A) and seven saline controls (SAL-A). Five NE treated rabbits (NE4-C) were returned to their cages post-infusion and myocardial blood flow was measured 48 hours after infusion.

2. Myocardial Blood Flow

After sodium pentobarbital anesthesia (30 mg/kg IV), the trachea was cannulated and the rabbit was ventilated with room air. Body temperature was monitored and maintained at $38 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C with a heat exchanger and heating pad. Femoral arteries were cannulated with polyethylene catheters. One arterial cannula was connected to a Statham pressure transducer for continuous monitoring of arterial blood pressure. The second arterial cannula allowed for withdrawal of reference blood samples during microsphere injection. In acute experiments, a femoral vein was cannulated for infusion of NE or saline. After a left thoracotomy, the left atrial appendage was cannulated. Standard lead II ECG was recorded.

Radiolabeled 15 μ m spheres (Ce-141, Nb-95, Ru-103, and Sr-46 3M Co, New England Nuclear) were suspended in 10% dextran with 0.05% Tween 80. Microsphere vials were sonicated for 20 minutes before use and were vigorously agitated immediately prior to injection. For each flow measurement, approximately 1 x 10⁶ microspheres were injected into the left atrium over 20-30 seconds. Reference blood sample was withdrawn from the femoral artery at a rate of 3-4 ml/min. Blood withdrawal began 30 seconds before injection of microspheres and continued for 30-40 seconds post-injection. The reference blood sample was put into labeled counting

tubes. The withdrawal syringe was rinsed and the rinse was added to respective blood sample counting tubes. At the termination of the experiment, the heart was removed. The right ventricular (RV) free wall and left ventricle (LV) were isolated and fixed for 24-48 hours in a 10% formalin solution. The RV was weighed and placed in counting tubes. The LV was cut into 5-6 rings. Each ring was separated into endocardial and epicardial halves via a circumferential cut at a point midway between the epicardial and endocardial surfaces. Endocardial and epicardial samples were weighed and placed in separate plastic counting tubes. Radioactivity of the myocardium and reference blood tissue samples was counted by a NaI crystal (3) inches) in a TM Analytic gamma counter (Model 1185). Blood flows were calculated by computer using standard equations with appropriate corrections and interference coefficients, previously used in this laboratory (2,7,19). The following equation was used to calculate blood flow: $MBF = (Ct/TW) \times (RBW/Cb)$, where MBF =myocardial blood flow in ml/min/g, Ct = tissue radioactivity in counts/min, TW =weight of tissue sample in grams, RBW = reference blood withdrawal rate in ml/min, and Cb = total radioactivity in reference blood sample.

3. Data Analysis

Flows were expressed in ml/min/100 g tissue. Rate-pressure product was calculated from heart rate and mean arterial pressure measurements taken immediately prior to the injection of the radiolabeled microspheres. Coronary vascular resistance was calculated from arterial blood pressure and myocardial blood flow. An analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures was used to test for changes in heart
rate, arterial pressure, the double product, coronary blood flow and coronary vascular resistance during norepinephrine or saline infusion. A t-test with a Bonferroni correction was used to isolate differences. A two-way ANOVA was used to test for differences between groups. Values of p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

C. RESULTS

There were no differences in control measurements between SAL-A and NE4-A for LV blood flow, coronary vascular resistance, mean arterial pressure, heart rate and rate-pressure product (Tables 7-1 and 7-2). Control RV flows of 161.1 ± 13.2 ml/min/100 g for SAL-A and 146.8 \pm 33.2 ml/min/100 g for NE4-A were not different.

During saline infusion, there were no significant changes in blood flow to the LV (Table 7-1) or RV. Additionally, coronary vascular resistance, mean arterial pressure and heart rate were not different (Table 7-2). Epicardial, endocardial and total LV blood flows were significantly increased at 40 minutes of NE infusion compared to control and SAL-A. Right ventricular flow was also increased to 240.9 \pm 35.5 ml/min/100 g (p<0.05). Coronary vascular resistance was decreased slightly, but insignificantly at 40 minutes infusion. Mean arterial pressure in NE4-A was elevated at 40 minutes infusion compared to control and SAL-A while heart rate was depressed. Rate pressure product increased slightly, but insignificantly, in NE4-A by 40 minutes. By one hour post infusion, myocardial blood flows, arterial

TABLE 7-1

		· • · • •		
	LV	LV-ENDO	LV-EPI	CVR
CONTROL	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		·	
SAL-A	223.6	216.1	231.0	0.36
	± 16.8	± 25.6	± 19.1	± .O3
NE4-A	242.3	256.0	228.5	0.39
	± 47.0	± 49.1	± 45.0	± .09
40 MINUTES				
SAL-A	243.0	270.5	215.5	0.38
	± 35.7	± 45.3	± 31.1	± .06
NE4-A	395.1*#°	450.0*#°	340.6*#°	0.27
	± 37.0	± 37.3	± 39.9	± .02
1 HOUR POST INFUSIO	N			
SAL-A	263.5	290.8	241.9	0.30
	± 25.0	± 26.8	± 24.0	± .03
NE4-A	228.5	248.4	208.4	0.32
	± 13.9	± 14.6	± 14.6	± .03
2 DAYS POST INFUSIO	N			
NE4-C	240.2	232.0	248.4	0.35
	± 29.5	± 29.0	± 33.2	± .04

REGIONAL BLOOD FLOW VALUES (ML/MIN/100 G) AND CORONARY VASCULAR RESISTANCE (mmHg*ML/MIN/100 G)

Myocardial blood flow (ml/min/100g) for the left ventricle (LV) during a 40 minute infusion of saline (SAL-A) or 4 μ g/kg/min norepinephrine (NE4-A). Blood flow was measured in a third group (NE4-C) two days after norepinephrine infusion. Left ventricular blood flow was separated into endocardial (LV-ENDO) and epicardial (LV-EPI) flows. CVR, coronary vascular resistance in mmHg*ml/min/100 g. Data is presented as means \pm SEM. * p<0.05 compared to SAL-A, # p<0.05 compared to control, and ° p<0.05 compared to 1 hour post.

TABLE 7-2

ARTERIAL PRESSURE, HEART RATE AND RATE-PRESSURE PRODUCT DURING SALINE OR NOREPINEPHRINE INFUSION AND AT TWO DAYS POST INFUSION

	МАР	HR	RPP	
CONTROL				
SAL-A	77.7	285.2	22059.6	
	± 3.9	±14.6	±1265.4	
NE4-A	80.8	293.3	23635.8	
	± 2.4	±11.9	± 853.1	
40 MINUTES				
SAL-A	79.1	278.9	22063.2	
	± 5.5	±13.4	±1795.5	
NE4-A	104.5***	245.8* [#] °	25626.7	
	± 2.9	±16.9	±1682.9	
1 HOUR POST INFUSION	•			
SAL-A	75.9	284.5	21761.1	
	± 4.5	±17.9	±2035.0	
NE4-A	72.0	279.6	20180.7	
	± 5.1	±11.7	±1754.7	
2 DAYS POST INFUSION				
NE4-C	78.8	305.0	24055.0	
	± 1.2	± 6.4	± 796.5	

Values for mean arterial pressure (MAP, mmHg), heart rate (HR, beats/min) and rate pressure product (RPP, mmHg*beats/min) are expressed as means \pm SEM. Abbreviations as in Table 7-1. * p<0.05 compared to SAL-A, # p<0.05 compared to control, and ° p<0.05 compared to 1 hour post infusion.

pressures, heart rates and the rate-pressure products were not different than control values. Similarly, LV myocardial blood flow and coronary vascular resistance at two days post NE infusion were not different than NE4-A at one hour post infusion.

D. DISCUSSION

Several investigators have observed a biphasic response in coronary vascular resistance and blood flow after the administration of NE in the conscious dog (13,22). Initially, there was a brief coronary vasodilation with increased myocardial flow. This was followed by a sustained increase in coronary resistance and decrease in coronary blood flow (9,22).

A decrease in myocardial blood flow, particularly to the subendocardium, with a prolonged infusion of catecholamines or the administration of high dose catecholamines has been reported (4,21,27). Simons and Downing (21) showed an initial increase in coronary blood flow in the rabbit during a NE infusion (3 μ g/kg/min) followed by a significant reduction in flow at 40 minutes. Collins and Billings (4) reported that ISO injection decreased blood flow to the LV subendocardium of the rat. Similar results were reported in the dog after ISO administration (8). In the isolated, supported canine heart, an intracoronary infusion of NE reduced blood flow to the endocardium (27). The decreased flows were attributed to α -receptor mediated coronary vasoconstriction (21) or the underperfusion of the endocardium due to mechanical forces (4). It has been further hypothesized that the depressed myocardial flow was a mechanism of catecholamine-induced cardiac injury.

In contrast, Moir and DeBra (17) have shown a 64% increase in total coronary blood flow with a slightly greater increase in endocardial flow with NE administration in the dog. The result presented in this chapter demonstrate a significant increase in myocardial blood flow with a 40 minute NE infusion. The discrepancy in the findings may be due to the catecholamine used, dose administered in each study or an undetermined factor. Collins and Billing (4) and Fortuin et al. (8) administered ISO, a potent β -agonist, while Moir and DeBra administered NE, a mixed α/β agonist. The effects of ISO on coronary blood flow were prevented by β -receptor blockade (4). When Fortuin et al. (8) administered NE in the presence of propranolol, endocardial flow was significantly augmented.

In the present study, endocardial, epicardial and total LV flows were increased and coronary vascular resistance was decreased at 40 minutes NE infusion in the rabbit (4 μ g/kg/min). These results provided no evidence to support the hypothesis that a 40 minute NE infusion induced coronary vasoconstriction. A relatively unchanged rate-pressure product, an index of myocardial oxygen demand, coupled with a 63% increase in LV blood flow, also suggested the myocardium was not hypoxic during NE infusion. Further study is needed to determined if NE infusion of a longer duration or higher dosage results in ischemic injury and a defective reperfusion of the myocardium.

E. **REFERENCES**

- 1. ALABASTER, V., and M. DAVEY. Precapillary vessels: Effects of the sympathetic nervous system and of catecholamines. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 6:S365-S376, 1984.
- 2. BARBER, M.J., D.E. EULER, J.X., JR. THOMAS, and W.C. RANDALL. Changes in blood flow and S-T segment during coronary arterial occlusion in denervated and nondenervated canine hearts. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 45:973-978, 1980.
- 3. BERNE, R.M. Effect of epinephrine and norepinephrine on coronary circulation. Circ. Res. 6:644-655, 1958.
- 4. COLLINS, P., and C.G. BILLINGS. Isoprenaline-induced changes in regional myocardial perfusion in the pathogenesis of myocardial necrosis. *Br. J. Exp. Pathol.* 57:637-644, 1976.
- 5. DARSEE, J.R., and R.A. KLONER. The no reflow phenomenon: a time-limiting factor for reperfusion after coronary occlusion?. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 46:800-806, 1980.
- 6. FEIGL, E.O. Sympathetic control of coronary circulation. Circ. Res. 20:262-271, 1967.
- 7. FLATLEY, K.A., D.V. DEFILY, and J.X., JR. THOMAS. Effects of cardiac sympathetic nerve stimulation during adrenergic blockade on infarct size in anesthetized dogs. J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 7:673-679, 1985.
- 8. FORTUIN, N.J., S. KAIHARA, L.C. BECKER, and B. PITT. Regional myocardial blood flow in the dog studied with radioactive microspheres. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 5:331-336, 1971.
- 9. GWIRTZ, P.A., and H.L. STONE. Coronary blood flow changes following activation of adrenergic receptors in the conscious dog. Am. J. Physiol. 243:H13-H19, 1982.
- 10. HARDIN, R.A., J.B. SCOTT, and F.J. HADDY. Effect of epinephrine and norepinephrine on coronary vascular resistance in dogs. *Am. J. Physiol.* 201:276-280, 1961.
- 11. KLONER, R.A., C.E. GANOTE, and R.B. JENNINGS. The no-reflow phenomenon after temporary coronary occlusion in the dog. J. Clin. Invest. 54:1496-1508, 1974.

- 12. KLONER, R.A., C.E. GANOTE, R.B. JENNINGS, and K.A. REIMER. Demonstration of the no-reflow phenomenon in the dog heart after temporary ischemia. *Rec. Adv. Stud. Card. Struct. Metab.* 100:463-474, 1975.
- 13. LURIE, K.G., M.E. BILLINGHAM, S.W. JAMIESON, D.C. HARRISON, and B.A. REITZ. Pathogenesis and prevention of graft arteriosclerosis in an experimental transplant model. *Transplant.* 31:41-47, 1981.
- 14. MARK, A.L., F.M. ABBOUD, P.G. SCHMID, D.D. HEISTAD, and H.E. MAYER. Differences in direct effects of adrenergic stimuli on coronary, cutaneous, and muscular vessels. J. Clin. Invest. 51:279-287, 1972.
- 15. MCRAVEN, D.R., A.L. MARK, F.M. ABBOUD, and H.E. MAYER. Responses of coronary vessels to adrenergic stimuli. J. Clin. Invest. 50:773-778, 1971.
- 16. MOHRMAN, D.E., and E.O. FEIGL. Competition between sympathetic vasoconstriction and metabolic vasodilation in the canine coronary circulation. *Circ. Res.* 42:79-86, 1978.
- 17. MOIR, T.W., and D.W. DEBRA. Effect of left ventricular hypertension, ischemia and vasoactive drugs on the myocardial distribution of coronary flow. *Circ. Res.* 21:65-74, 1967.
- MURRAY, P.A., M. LAVALLEE, and S.F. VATNER. Alpha-adrenergic-mediated reduction in coronary blood flow secondary to carotid chemoreceptor reflex activation in conscious dogs. *Circ. Res.* 54:96-106, 1984.
- 19. RINKEMA, L.E., J.X., JR. THOMAS, and W.C. RANDALL. Regional coronary vasoconstriction in response to stimulation of stellate ganglia. Am. J. Physiol. 243:H410-H415, 1982.
- 20. ROSS, G. Adrenergic responses of the coronary vessels. Circ. Res. 39:461-465, 1976.
- 21. SIMONS, M., and S.E. DOWNING. Coronary vasoconstriction and catecholamine cardiomyopathy. Am. Heart J. 109:297-304, 1985.

- 22. VATNER, S.F., C.B. HIGGINS, and E. BRAUNWALD. Effects of norepinephrine on coronary circulation and left ventricular dynamics in conscious dog. *Circ. Res.* 34:812-823, 1974.
- 23. VATNER, S.F., and T.H. HINTZE. Mechanism of constriction of large coronary arteries by beta-adrenergic receptor blockade. *Circ. Res.* 53:389-400, 1983.
- 24. VATNER, S.F., T.H. HINTZE, and P. MACHO. Regulation of large coronary arteries by beta-adrenergic mechanisms in the conscious dog. *Circ. Res.* 51:56-66, 1982.
- 25. VATNER, S.F., M. PAGANI, and W.T. MANDERS. α-adrenergic constriction of coronary arteries in conscious dogs. Assoc. Am. Phys. 42:229-238, 1979.
- 26. VATNER, S.F., M. PAGANI, W.T. MANDERS, and A.D. PASIPOULARIDES. Alpha adrenergic vasoconstriction and nitroglycerin vasodilation of large coronary arteries in the conscious dog. J. Clin. Invest. 65:5-14, 1980.
- 27. WARLTIER, D.C., H.F. HARDMAN, A.R. LADDU, P. SOMANI, and G.J. GROSS. Myocardial distribution of coronary blood flow in the isolated supported heart preparation. *Cardiovasc. Res.* 9:634-639, 1975.

CHAPTER VIII

SUMMARY

- 1. A 90 minute infusion of high dose norepinephrine in the rabbit acutely impairs left ventricular diastolic and systolic function.
- 2. Systolic function improved within 48 hours after norepinephrine infusion whereas diastolic function remained depressed.
- 3. Myocardial responsiveness to α or β -adrenergic receptor activation was not altered acutely or chronically after norepinephrine administration.
- 4. The administration of α -tocopherol and selenium every other day for two weeks did not protect the rabbit myocardium from norepinephrine-induced injury.
- 5. Coronary blood flow was significantly increased in the left and right ventricular myocardium at the end of a 40 minute, high dose norepinephrine infusion. Myocardial blood flow returned to control levels by one hour post infusion.

171

CHAPTER IX

CONCLUSIONS

The myocardial lesions produced when the heart was exposed to excessive catecholamines have been intensely studied and characterized by numerous investigators. Alterations in cardiac function following catecholamine-induced injury, however, have not been fully investigated.

Ventricular function studies utilizing rat and rabbit models of catecholamineinduced cardiac injury indicated that systolic function was depressed forty-eight hours after catecholamine administration. In the first study of this dissertation, it was hypothesized that cardiac function was impaired acutely after catecholamine injury and some functional recovery occurred by 48 hours. To test this hypothesis, left ventricular function was measured immediately after a 90 minute norepinephrine (NE) infusion and at two days post infusion. To further characterize functional alterations, myocardial function was assessed at three levels of norepinephrine-induced injury.

This study is the first to demonstrate impairment in left ventricular systolic function of rabbit hearts acutely after norepinephrine injury with significant improvement by 48 hours, except in hearts with the most severe injury. Additionally,

172

this study is the first to report diastolic function in norepinephrine cardiomyopathy. Diastolic function, as measured by LV -dP/dt and tau, was impaired but unlike systolic function, the dysfunction observed immediately after the 90 minute NE infusion were still present at two days.

Depression in systolic function observed in norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathy may be due to a loss of functional myocytes. Histological examination of the myocardium reveals the hypercontraction of sarcomeres and the loss of myofilament structure in some myocytes. The loss of normal structure of contractile elements reduces contractile function in those cells. Damage of a critical number of cardiac myocytes could depress systolic function of the entire myocardium. To date, there is no direct evidence that the myofilaments in cells with normal histology are injured. If the contractile elements are defective and function abnormally, even normal appearing cells would contribute to the impairment in systolic and possibly diastolic function observed in catecholamine cardiomyopathy.

Multiple factors may contribute to diastolic dysfunction. In the initiation of contraction, calcium moves into a myocyte through ion channels and is released by the sarcoplasmic reticulum so intracellular calcium concentration increases. If the cell is functioning normally, the calcium is later extruded via the sodium-calcium exchange and calcium pump or transported into the sarcoplasmic reticulum. The decrease in cytosolic calcium levels allows the muscle to relax. In catecholamine injury, removal of calcium from the cytosol is impaired. The sodium-calcium exchange and calcium pump activities are depressed so calcium is not extruded from the cell. Additionally,

the uptake of calcium by the sarcoplasmic reticulum is impaired. These defects allow intracellular calcium levels to rise. High cytosolic calcium concentrations coupled with impaired removal of calcium may contribute to the decreased rate of ventricular relaxation. Cellular degeneration and myocardial edema, characteristic signs of catecholamine injury, increase myocardial stiffness and may augment the diastolic dysfunction seen in norepinephrine-induced cardiomyopathy.

Exposure of the myocardium to catecholamines decreases the responsiveness of the adrenergic receptor system to subsequent stimulation (4,6). This process is known as desensitization. In the second study (Chapter V), it was hypothesized that the β -adrenergic receptor would be desensitized during the NE infusion. Stimulation of the isolated heart by a β -receptor agonist would then elicit smaller changes in ventricular function. It was also proposed that the changes in ventricular function with α -adrenergic receptor activation would be more important after NE induced injury.

Although adenylate cyclase activity was not measured directly, the results presented in Chapter V indicate the β -receptor was not uncoupled from adenylate cyclase. Beta-receptor stimulation by dobutamine increased function in NE pretreated hearts the same amount as hearts from saline treated rabbits with one interesting exception. In acute experiments, the ability of β -receptor stimulation to increase LV +dP/dt in hearts injured by NE was impaired. It was hypothesized that the NE infusion acutely altered a step in cross-bridge formation or cycling. The ability of NE injured hearts to increase LV +dP/dt with β -receptor activation was slightly improved

at 48 hours. The responsiveness of the α -adrenergic receptor to agonist stimulation was not changed following NE administration.

The pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy involves multiple mechanisms. Several investigators have reported that toxic metabolites of catecholamine autoxidation induce myocardial injury (3,9,11). These metabolites, particularly the free radicals may initiate lipid peroxidation which alters membrane permeability and function.

The third study (Chapter VI) was designed to test whether pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium protected hearts from norepinephrine-induced injury. α -Tocopherol is an antioxidant located in cellular membranes. Selenium is an essential component of glutathione peroxidase, an enzyme which removes lipid peroxides from membranes before the peroxides damage the membrane. It was hypothesized that if metabolites of NE autoxidation are acting as membrane oxidants, increasing the anti-oxidant capacity of the heart would protect the myocardium from NE injury. The results of this study suggest however, that NE injury in the rabbit heart is not produced by oxidative damage. Pretreatment with α -tocopherol and selenium did not reduce the diastolic or systolic dysfunction which occurred with the administration of high dose NE.

One alternative explanation is that the oxidative capacity of the heart was exceeded by the dose of NE administered eventhough rabbits were pretreated with α -tocopherol and selenium. The oxidants produced by NE oxidation would then damage the myocardium unhindered. Another explanation is that α -tocopherol administered

with selenium is not the most effective combination of anti-oxidants. The protective effects of α -tocopherol and selenium may be species specific. Further investigation is needed to determine if α -tocopherol administered alone or in combination with another antioxidant protects the rabbit myocardium from NE-induced injury.

Alpha-receptor mediated coronary vasoconstriction with the administration of catecholamines is well documented (1,2,7). It has been proposed that high levels of circulating catecholamines produce coronary vasoconstriction with localized ischemia with the ischemic insult injuring the myocardium (8). If the cardiomyopathy induced by high dose catecholamines is the result of ischemia, perfusion abnormalities similar to those observed in models of temporary ischemia, may develop.

In the final study of this dissertation (Chapter VII), catecholamine induced coronary vasoconstriction or ischemia was not observed at 40 minutes of NE infusion. In fact, endocardial, epicardial and total left ventricular blood flows were elevated significantly while coronary vascular resistance was reduced slightly. Perfusion abnormalities were not apparent. This data does not support the hypothesis that NE injury is secondary to coronary vasoconstriction and/or ischemia. The increase in blood flow coupled with only a small change in rate-pressure product also suggest that the myocardium was not hypoxic during the NE infusion.

The administration of catecholamines initially increases myocardial blood flow and is quickly followed by an α -receptor mediated coronary vasoconstriction and a decrease in coronary blood flow (5,10). The effects of administering catecholamines for longer periods on myocardial blood flow has not been thoroughly investigated. The data presented in Chapter VII suggests that myocardial blood flow increases again with prolonged exposure to a catecholamine. With time, metabolic factors may override α -vasoconstriction and induce coronary vasodilation.

In summary, it is clear that a few questions regarding ventricular dysfunction which occurs following the administration of high dose NE have been answered. Left ventricular function of rabbit hearts is depressed acutely after norepinephrine injury with significant improvement by 48 hours, except in hearts with the most severe injury. Diastolic function was impaired but unlike systolic function, the dysfunction observed immediately after the 90 minute NE infusion was still present at two days. Further investigation is needed into the time course of recovery of diastolic function, if indeed it does completely recover. Similarly, it would be interesting to determine if hearts damaged by the highest NE dose (6 μ g/kg/min) gradually recovered ventricular systolic and diastolic function. Mechanisms of catecholamine-induced myocardial injury also need further study. The exact role of metabolites of catecholamine autoxidation in the pathogenesis of catecholamine cardiomyopathy remains to be elucidated. Likewise, the time course of changes in myocardial blood flow during a prolong catecholamine infusion needs to be determined.

A. **REFERENCES**

- 1. BERNE, R.M. Effect of epinephrine and norepinephrine on coronary circulation. Circ. Res. 6:644-655, 1958.
- 2. FEIGL, E.O. Sympathetic control of coronary circulation. Circ. Res. 20:262-271, 1967.
- 3. JANATOVA, T., V. PELOUCH, and B. OSTADAL. The effect of oxidized isoprenaline on the chick embryonic heart. *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 64:897-903, 1986.
- 4. KAUMANN, A.J., and L. BIRNBAUMER. Desensitization of kitten atria to chronotropic, inotropic and adenylyl cyclase stimulating effects of (-)isoprenaline. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch. Pharmacol. 293:199-202, 1976.
- 5. LURIE, K.G., M.E. BILLINGHAM, S.W. JAMIESON, D.C. HARRISON, and B.A. REITZ. Pathogenesis and prevention of graft arteriosclerosis in an experimental transplant model. *Transplant*. 31:41-47, 1981.
- 6. MARSH, J.D., W.H. BARRY, E.J. NEER, R.W. ALEXANDER, and T.W. SMITH. Desensitization of Chick Embryo Ventricle to the Physiological and Biochemical Effects of Isoproterenol. *Circ. Res.* 47:493-501, 1980.
- 7. ROSS, G. Adrenergic responses of the coronary vessels. Circ. Res. 39:461-465, 1976.
- 8. SIMONS, M., and S.E. DOWNING. Coronary vasoconstriction and catecholamine cardiomyopathy. *Am. Heart J.* 109:297-304, 1985.
- 9. SINGAL, P.K., J.C. YATES, R.E. BEAMISH, and N.S. DHALLA. Influence of reducing agents on adrenochrome-induced changes in the heart. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 105:664-669, 1981.
- 10. VATNER, S.F., C.B. HIGGINS, and E. BRAUNWALD. Effects of norepinephrine on coronary circulation and left ventricular dynamics in conscious dog. *Circ. Res.* 34:812-823, 1974.
- 11. YATES, J.C., and N.S. DHALLA. Induction of necrosis and failure in the isolated perfused rat heart with oxidized isoproterenol. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 7:807-816, 1975.

APPROVAL SHEET

The dissertation submitted by Frances M. Powers has been read and approved by the following committee:

Dr. John X. Thomas, Director Associate Professor, Physiology, Loyola

Dr. Walter C. Randall Professor, Physiology, Loyola

Dr. Stephen B. Jones Associate Professor, Physiology, Loyola

Dr. Gayle Winters Assistant Professor, Pathology, Loyola

Dr. John C. Lee Associate Dean, Graduate School, Virginia Polytechnic Institute

The final copies have been examined by the director of the dissertation and the signature which appears below verifies the fact that any necessary changes have been incorporated and that the dissertation is now given final approval by the Committee with reference to content and form.

The dissertation is therefore accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Physiology.

homas tor's Signature

Date /